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FINAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Our financial highlights for the year ended 31 December 2019 are:
•

Total revenues and other income rose 15% year-on-year, to US$1,976 million

•

Profit before tax was US$775 million and net profit after tax was US$702 million, each an
increase of 13% over 2018

•

Earnings per Share of US$1.01 and net assets per Share of US$6.60

•

Total assets increased 8% year-on-year, to US$19.8 billion at 31 December 2019

•

Maintained strong liquidity with US$287 million in total cash and short-term deposits, and
US$4.4 billion in undrawn committed credit facilities at 31 December 2019

•

Board recommended a final dividend for 2019 of US$0.2153 per Share, pending approval
at the AGM to be held on 27 May 2020. The final dividend will be payable to Shareholders
registered at the close of business on the record date, being 4 June 2020, bringing the total
dividend for the financial year 2019 to US$0.35411 per Share, an increase of 13% year-onyear

Capitalised terms used but not defined in this announcement are found in pages 93 to 95.
Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this announcement may not add up precisely to
the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute figures.
1

Includes interim dividend of US$0.1388 per Share paid to Shareholders registered at the close of
business on 3 October 2019.

*

For identification purposes only.
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Exhibit 2: Total assets, US$’b

Exhibit 1: Net profit after tax, US$’m
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Exhibit 3: Financial highlights
Year ended 31 December
2019
2018
US$ ’m
US$ ’m
Statement of Profit or Loss
Revenues and other income
Costs and expenses
Profit before income tax
Net profit after income tax

1,976
(1,201)
775
702

1,726
(1,040)
685
620

Change1
%
14.5
15.4
13.1
13.2

As at
31 Dec 2019
US$ ’m

As at
31 Dec 2018
US$ ’m

Change1
%

Statement of Financial Position
Cash and short-term deposits
Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

287
739
19,025
19,764

243
257
17,999
18,256

18.2
188.0
5.7
8.3

Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

2,141
13,043
15,184

1,709
12,349
14,057

25.3
5.6
8.0

4,581

4,199

9.1

1.01
6.60
2.9

0.89
6.05
3.0

13.2
9.1

Net assets
Financial Ratios
Earnings per share (US$) 2
Net assets per share (US$)3
Gearing (times)4

1

2

3

4

Percentage change is calculated based on numbers in US$ thousands as shown in the financial
statements.
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit after tax by total number of shares
outstanding at 31 December 2019, and 31 December 2018, in the respective columns. Number of
shares outstanding at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 was 694,010,334.
Net assets per share is calculated by dividing net assets by total number of shares outstanding at 31
December 2019, and 31 December 2018, in the respective columns. Number of shares outstanding at
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 was 694,010,334.
Gearing is calculated by dividing gross debt by total equity at 31 December 2019, and 31 December
2018, in the respective columns.
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PORTFOLIO AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
As at 31 December 2019, BOC Aviation:
•

Had a total fleet of 523 aircraft owned, managed and on order1, with an average aircraft age
of 3.1 years and an average remaining lease term of 8.4 years for the 317 owned aircraft
fleet, weighted by net book value

•

Leased aircraft to 93 airlines in 41 countries and regions

•

Had taken delivery of 54 aircraft (including 12 acquired by airline customers on delivery)
in 2019

•

Signed 87 lease commitments in 2019

•

Sold 28 owned and two managed aircraft in 2019

•

Had an order book of 166 aircraft1

•

Recorded aircraft utilisation of 99.6%, and cash collections of 96.9%, for the year ended 31
December 2019

1

Includes all commitments to purchase aircraft including those where an airline customer has the
right to acquire the relevant aircraft on delivery.
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Exhibit 4: Aircraft portfolio at 31 December 2019, by number of aircraft
Owned
Aircraft

Managed
Aircraft

Aircraft on
Order1

Total

Airbus A320CEO family
Airbus A320NEO family
Airbus A330CEO family
Airbus A330NEO family
Airbus A350 family
Boeing 737NG family
Boeing 737 MAX family
Boeing 777-300ER
Boeing 777-300
Boeing 787 family
Freighters

116
50
12
2
9
88
6
18
0
11
5

15
0
3
0
0
15
0
4
1
1
1

0
67
0
6
0
0
87
3
0
3
0

131
117
15
8
9
103
93
25
1
15
6

Total

317

40

166

523

Aircraft Type

Subsequent to 31 December 2019, the Company announced an additional order for 20 Airbus
A320NEO family aircraft and an agreement to purchase 22 Boeing 787 aircraft.
Exhibit 5: Net book value of aircraft by region2

Americas
6.9%

Chinese Mainland,
Hong Kong SAR,
Macau SAR
and Taiwan
30.6%

Middle East
and Africa
12.4%

Europe
27.1%

1

2

Asia Pacific
(excluding
Chinese Mainland,
Hong Kong SAR,
Macau SAR
and Taiwan)
23.0%

Includes all commitments to purchase aircraft including those where an airline customer has the
right to acquire the relevant aircraft on delivery.
Based on the jurisdiction of the primary obligor under the relevant operating leases.

–4–

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Our Company reported another record result in 2019, with a profit before tax of US$775 million
and a net profit after tax of US$702 million, both increasing by 13% year-on-year.
Total revenues and other income rose in 2019 to nearly US$2 billion, up 15% year-on-year,
and our total assets rose to US$19.8 billion as at 31 December 2019, 8% higher than 2018. We
have achieved a record net profit after tax in each successive year since acquisition by Bank
of China, thus demonstrating success in achieving our goal of long-term, sustainable earnings
growth. Earnings per share and net profits after tax are up 68% since 2016 following our initial
public offering.
Our dividend policy remains to pay up to 35% of our full year net profit after tax to our
Shareholders, and our Board has recommended a final dividend of US$0.2153 per Share. This
will bring the total dividend for 2019 to US$0.3541 per Share, a 13% increase from 2018, in
line with the growth in our net profit after tax.
Both the Board and the senior management team featured changes in 2019. Mr. Wang Jian
retired from his roles as an Executive Director, the Vice Chairman of the Board, a Deputy
Managing Director and a member of the Strategy and Budget Committee at the end of the year.
We thank Mr. Wang for his service and we welcome Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu, who commenced
her new roles as an Executive Director, the Vice Chairman of the Board, a Deputy Managing
Director and a member of the Strategy and Budget Committee on 1 January 2020.
During the year, we retained our position as a top-five global aircraft operating leasing company
and the largest aircraft leasing company based in Asia-Pacific, by value of owned fleet. In 2019
our owned, managed and on-order fleet grew to 523, with the owned and managed fleet leased
to 93 airlines in 41 countries and regions. During the year we added eight new customers and
extended our portfolio to cover four new countries and regions. The Belt and Road Initiative
is reflected in the growth and development of our fleet: 68% of our owned fleet, by net book
value, is currently leased to airlines domiciled in Belt and Road Initiative countries and regions.
Reflecting our strong balance sheet and sound business fundamentals, we maintained our
investment grade credit ratings of A- from both S&P Global Ratings and Fitch Ratings.
We received a number of accolades during the year, including “Asia Pacific Lessor of the
Year” and “Capital Markets Deal of the Year” for our US$500 million 10 year note issue, both
from Airline Economics . We were again rated a “Most Honoured Company” in Institutional
Investor ’s 2019 APAC ex-Japan Executive Team Leader survey.
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2019 was a year in which our growth targets were challenged by significant delays from
aircraft manufacturers. We overcame these challenges without sacrificing the disciplined
approach to growth that has characterised our Company for the past 26 years, and which has
generated US$4.4 billion in accumulated profits since inception of the Company. These results
demonstrate the Board’s active oversight of the Company’s strong risk management culture and
long-term perspective on the business.
As I reflect on my first year as BOC Aviation’s Chairman, I would like to personally thank
you – our stakeholders – for your continued support as we grow our Company. We remain
committed to upholding the highest governance standards and achieving the best outcome for
our stakeholders, and look forward to capitalizing on new opportunities in the year ahead.

Sun Yu
Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS
BOC Aviation continued to record robust earnings growth in 2019. Our return on equity of
16.0% exceeded last year’s performance, as well as exceeding our average return on equity of
15.1% since 2007.
Our Company achieved record net profit after tax in 2019, despite a challenging supply-side
environment and delays to new-generation single-aisle aircraft programmes throughout the
year. Our earnings per share of US$1.01 rose 13% compared with 2018. We have achieved
stable earnings growth through a portfolio approach to the business, anchored by recurring core
leasing rental contributions, and in 2019 we successfully grew all major components of our
revenue base.
Airline load factors were strong, averaging 82.6% in 2019, and passenger demand growth
rose 4.2%, slowed compared to 2018 due to supply side constraints and to moderating global
economic growth. Overall, the airline industry ended 2019 in good shape. The International Air
Transport Association (IATA) projects that airline earnings will have totalled almost US$26
billion in 2019. However, the COVID-19 virus will cause reductions in passenger demand
during at least the first half of 2020 that could be felt globally.
We delivered 54 aircraft to our airline customers in 2019, including 12 aircraft acquired by
airlines upon delivery, taking our owned, managed and on-order fleet to a new high of 523. Net
deliveries were lower than anticipated, with delays pushing delivery of 23 Boeing 737 MAX
aircraft out of 2019 and five Airbus A320NEO aircraft into 2020. During 2019 we placed all of
our remaining Airbus A320NEO family delivery positions, and then after the end of the year
we announced an additional order for 20 more Airbus A320NEO family aircraft delivering from
2023.
A key contributor to our second half earnings was the successful portfolio sale of 17 aircraft
with leases attached into the asset-backed securitisation market. In total, we sold 28 aircraft
from our owned fleet in 2019, ending the year with 317 owned aircraft. Our owned fleet
continues to be one of the youngest of the world’s major aircraft operating lessors, with a
weighted average age of 3.1 years and our weighted average remaining lease term of 8.4 years
remains one of the longest in the aircraft operating lease industry.
We accelerated our activity in the loan and bond markets in 2019, raising US$3.9 billion,
including US$2.1 billion in the debt capital markets. As at 31 December 2019, our cash and
undrawn lines of credit totalled US$4.6 billion. We continued to protect our spread, maintaining
a stable net lease yield1 of 8.4% in 2019.

1

Net lease yield is calculated as lease rental income less finance expenses apportioned to lease rental
income, divided by average net book value of aircraft.
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We enhanced our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) programmes throughout the
year, with staff volunteering activities in Singapore, London and Dublin. We also supported
disaster relief in the Bahamas following the ravages of Hurricane Dorian, both pledging
funds directly to rapid-response humanitarian relief organisation, Airlink, and leveraging
our significant aviation network to raise awareness and generate additional support from the
aviation community. In early 2020 we have again supported Airlink’s aid programme, this time
supporting the fight against the COVID-19 virus. On the environmental front, we are supportive
of IATA’s commitments to reduce global carbon emissions. In 2019, we invested more than
US$3 billion in fuel efficient aircraft and maintained one of the youngest aircraft fleets in the
industry. Our entire orderbook consists of the most efficient, latest technology aircraft.
In November 2019, Mr. Gao Jinyue retired from his role as Chief Commercial Officer (Asia
Pacific and the Middle East). We thank Mr. Gao for his service, and for his long association
with the Company that dates back to his debut on the Board in 2006. We welcomed Mr.
Deng Lei, who joined us as Chief Commercial Officer (Asia Pacific and the Middle East), in
November 2019. We also announced that Mr. Phang Thim Fatt, our Deputy Managing Director
and Chief Financial Officer will step down from his role on 30 September 2020 and will retire
at the end of 2020. Mr. Steven Townend, currently serving as the Company ’s Chief Commercial
Officer (Europe, Americas and Africa), has been appointed Deputy Managing Director and
Chief Financial Officer with effect from 1 October 2020.
We achieved a strong result in 2019 and ended the year with a solid balance sheet and US$4.6
billion in available liquidity. As we look ahead to 2020 we see new challenges, with continuing
manufacturing delays from our major suppliers and disruptions to traffic flows from the
COVID-19 outbreak for some of our customers in early 2020. We are well positioned to meet
new challenges in the year ahead.

Robert Martin
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
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BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
BOC Aviation is one of the largest aircraft operating leasing companies in the world. Our
primary source of revenue is from long term, USD-denominated leases contracted with our
globally diversified commercial airline customer base.
From our inception to 31 December 2019, we have:
•

Purchased and committed to purchase more than 840 aircraft with an aggregate purchase
price of more than US$46 billion

•

Executed more than 950 leases with more than 160 airlines in 57 countries and regions

•

Sold 360 owned and managed aircraft

We benefit from a low average cost of debt, which was 3.6% in 2019, supported by our strong
investment grade corporate credit ratings of A- from both S&P Global Ratings and Fitch Ratings
and by our access to diverse debt funding sources. Our primary sources of debt funding are
unsecured notes issued in the debt capital markets and commercial bank debt from our group of
over 70 banks and we have raised nearly US$29 billion in debt financing since 1 January 2007.
We have strong liquidity including access to US$4.4 billion in undrawn committed lines of
credit as at 31 December 2019.
Our Senior Management team is highly experienced, international and stable, with extensive
experience working in the aircraft leasing and banking industries.
Revenue
Lease rental income continues to provide the majority of our total revenue, supplemented by
gains on sale of aircraft and fee income. The rise in lease rental income was primarily due to
portfolio growth.
Exhibit 7: Revenue breakdown, US$’m

Exhibit 6: Revenue breakdown, % 2019
Interest, fee income
and others
6.9%
Net gain on sale
of aircraft
6.8%

1,976
1,726

1,091
70 46
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91

134

We maintained a stable net lease yield1, which was in line with the range achieved over the last
five years.
Exhibit 8: Net lease yield1, %
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Our lease rental revenue is contracted on a long term basis. Scheduled lease expiries on more
than 80% of our owned portfolio occur in 2025 or beyond, with none scheduled to expire in
2020.
Exhibit 9: Lease expiries as % of portfolio2 as at 31 December 2019
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Percentage of aircraft NBV with leases expiring (RHS)

1

2

Net lease yield is calculated as lease rental income less finance expenses apportioned to lease rental
income, divided by average net book value of aircraft.
Owned aircraft with lease expiring in each calendar year, weighted by net book value, excluding any
aircraft for which BOC Aviation has sale or lease commitments.
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Operating expenses
Aircraft costs1 and finance expenses remain the largest components of our costs and have
consistently represented around 85% of our total operating costs. Depreciation increased,
reflecting growth in the fleet, with no aircraft impairment charges recorded for 2019.
Exhibit 11:
Operating cost breakdown, US$’m

Exhibit 10:
Operating cost breakdown, % 2019
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Our average cost of debt in 2019 rose to 3.6% from 3.3% in 2018. This reflected a continued
increase in the proportion and amount of our fixed rate debt and interest rate hedging as at 31
December 2019 compared with 31 December 2018.
Net Profit After Tax
In 2019, our net profit after tax rose to US$702 million, continuing our pattern of producing
consistent year on year improvements and marking 26 years of unbroken profitability. Our
strong results in 2019 generated a return on equity of 16%.
Our effective tax rate for 2019 was stable at 9.4%, with Singapore accounting for the largest
proportion of income tax expense.
Exhibit 12: Effective tax rate, %

Exhibit 13:
Income tax expense by jurisdiction, % 2019
UK
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2017 excludes the one-off adjustment for net deferred tax liabilities in the USA.

1

Aircraft costs comprise depreciation and impairment charges.
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Assets and Equity
Our total assets increased by US$1.5 billion to US$19.8 billion as at 31 December 2019, with
aircraft representing the largest component. The full life, current market appraised value of our
owned fleet based on the average of five independent appraisers was around US$1.3 billion over
its book value, representing a premium of 8%.
Our total equity increased by US$0.4 billion to US$4.6 billion as at end of 31 December 2019.
Exhibit 15: Aircraft NBV vs.
appraised value1, US$’b

Exhibit 14:
Total assets vs. Fleet NBV, US$’b
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The net book value of our fleet rose 12% to US$16.8 billion. Retained earnings increased our
equity base by US$478 million to US$4.6 billion as at 31 December 2019.
Exhibit 17: Total equity, US$’b

Exhibit 16: 2019 aircraft
NBV evolution, US$’b
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Our balance sheet growth is driven by our capital expenditure programme, the majority of which
comprises investment in aircraft and pre-delivery payments. Our orderbook of 166 aircraft as
at 31 December 2019 accounted for US$7.5 billion of future capital expenditure commitments.
This includes all commitments to purchase aircraft including those where an airline customer
has the right to acquire the relevant aircraft on delivery.

1

Percentages refer to premium of appraised current market value over aircraft net book value.
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Liabilities
Total liabilities rose more than US$1.1 billion in 2019, as we took on additional debt to fund
investment in new aircraft.
Exhibit 18: Total liabilities, US$’b

Exhibit 19: Sources of debt, %
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Notes
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ECA1

The proportion of both our leases and our debt financing that is contracted on a fixed rate
basis rose in 2019 as more of our airline customers entered into fixed rate leases with us. We
have reflected this fixed rate lease preference in our own funding mix, as we move to a greater
proportion of fixed rate debt. We actively manage our interest rate exposure through interest
rate hedges2 and issuance of fixed rate debt, which limits the impact of interest rate movements
on our earnings3.
Exhibit 20: Fixed vs. floating rate leases4, %
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Exhibit 21: Fixed vs. floating rate debt, %

17%
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80%
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83%
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1

2
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Floating rate

Fixed rate
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Floating rate

ECA refers to debt guaranteed by the export credit agencies of France, Germany, the United
Kingdom or the United States.
Hedged approximately 90% of mismatched interest rate exposure as at 31 December 2019.
A 25 basis points increase in interest rates on our floating rate leases, deposits and debt, holding
all other variables constant, would have minimal impact on our annual net profit after tax of less
than US$0.1 million based on lease portfolio, short-term deposits and debt composition as at 31
December 2019.
By net book value excluding aircraft off lease.
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Significant Events after 31 December 2019
On 6 January 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Airbus pursuant to which
it agreed to purchase 20 Airbus A320NEO family aircraft from Airbus. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 7 January 2020 on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company for more information.
On 9 March 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase 22 Boeing 787-8 aircraft.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 March 2020 on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company for more information.
Business Environment
Our revenues derive largely from two sources: leasing aircraft and selling aircraft, generally
with leases attached.
Airline demand for leased aircraft is the primary driver of lease rental income. Demand for
leased aircraft by airlines, in turn, is driven by growth in air travel. While airline load factors
achieved a record level in 2019, averaging 82.6%, passenger demand grew only 4.2%, which
was slower than anticipated due to supply side constraints and to slower global economic
growth and increased trade tension. Airline cashflows and profitability, however remained
strong in 2019, with a global net profit of US$25.9 billion anticipated according to IATA. 2019
was the fifth year of strong earnings in the airline sector’s history, with the performance not
being evenly distributed.
It is important to note that passenger travel demand can be sensitive to external shocks, through
terrorism, pandemic or restrictions on travel or trade flows. The outbreak of COVID-19 in early
2020 reminds us of the potentially significant effect on travel demand associated with such
pandemics. This affects airlines earnings and their ability to pay lease rentals, which could have
a short term impact on our operating cashflow. IATA in February 2020 estimated that the effect
of COVID-19 could reduce revenues for airlines globally.
We mitigate these risks by maintaining a young, in-demand portfolio of aircraft and an
orderbook comprising the most popular single-aisle aircraft, and by focusing on our customer
selection process. We also mitigate these risks by building a global business with a diverse
customer base, enabling us to redeploy assets to areas of greater demand if necessary.
Investor demand for purchasing leased aircraft is a primary driver of our aircraft sales
programme and our ability to generate gains on sale. The availability and cost of financing is,
in turn, one of the key drivers for investor demand for leased aircraft. 2019 was characterised
by stable interest rates, with incremental borrowing costs trending downwards at both ends of
the yield curve. US liquidity remained ample with all financing markets – including bank, debt
and the asset backed securities (ABS) markets – functioning well. This in turn contributed to
our low cost of funds and drove investor appetite for aircraft with leases attached. Our mix of
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floating rate and fixed rate leases, combined with our interest rate hedges, have protected our
net spread from interest rate volatility. External shocks that might result in reduced availability
of financing generally could adversely affect our cost of funds and limit debt financing
availability. Such events, including shocks from pandemics and restriction on trade flows or
travel, could also affect financing for potential purchasers of aircraft and impact the gains we
generate by selling aircraft with leases attached.
The aircraft operating lease industry remains highly competitive. Both mature and new-entrant
aircraft operating leasing companies continue to compete for PLB transactions where barriers to
entry are low, especially in a market environment in which debt financing for leased aircraft is
available on relatively attractive terms. Under our business model, we build our balance sheet
and grow our lease rental income through direct orders from the manufacturers as well as PLB
transactions. With strong competition and multiple new entrants, we may find it more difficult
to grow our balance sheet and our revenue base by winning PLB transactions and, for the
PLB transactions that we win, we may find that our margins and our returns will come under
pressure. However, a competitive environment characterised by high demand for aircraft with
leases attached should also provide good opportunities for selling aircraft.
Competition remains elevated in the market for operating lessors placing aircraft ordered direct
from the manufacturers on lease to airline customers. The number of aircraft operating leasing
companies with aircraft on order has increased 22% over the past five years to 22 lessors, and
the share of the annual Airbus and Boeing delivery stream that is committed for delivery to
lessors has increased during this period from 25% to 28%. This has increased the competition
amongst lessors in the market for placing ordered aircraft on lease. Failure to resolve
geopolitical issues could result in downward pressure on lease rates and aircraft values, which
could in turn have an adverse impact on our ability to grow our lease rental income and sell
aircraft.
Supply growth in our addressable market, being aircraft with 100 or more seats, has been
constrained due to the grounding of the Boeing MAX and delays associated with Airbus
products. Future production growth rates in the single-aisle market are difficult to predict given
the uncertain timing of return to service of the Boeing MAX, which has been grounded since
March 2019. Airbus has experienced issues with its Hamburg A320NEO family production line.
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Environmental Policy and Performance
BOC Aviation commits to use resources efficiently and reduce unnecessary waste. Our efforts
are reflected in our sustainable business model and our electronic communications efforts.
While we do not operate the aircraft that we own and cannot directly control the greenhouse
gas emissions of aircraft operated by our airline customers, our business model centered on
a portfolio of latest technology, fuel efficient aircraft contributes to reductions in carbon
emission. In addition, we promote a sustainable environment by using electronic communication
(where possible) to distribute corporate communications to those of our Shareholders who have
consented not to receive printed materials. For more information, please refer to pages 69 to 90
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this announcement.
Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements contained in this announcement may be viewed as forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual performance, financial condition or
results of operations of the Company to be materially different from any future performance,
financial condition or results of operations implied by such forward-looking statements. In
addition, we assume no obligation and do not intend to update these forward-looking statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS ANALYSIS
Our net profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2019 was US$702 million, representing
an increase of 13.2% compared with the year ended 31 December 2018. The profit before
income tax rose 13.1% to US$775 million in 2019 compared with 2018. Earnings growth was
mainly driven by the increase in lease rental income. Total costs and expenses were largely in
line with the growth in total revenues and other income.
Our selected financial data and changes of our consolidated statement of profit or loss are set
out below:
Year ended 31 December
2019
2018
’
’
US$ 000
US$ 000

Change
US$ ’ 000

Change
%

Lease rental income
Interest and fee income
Other income:
Net gain on sale of aircraft
Others

1,704,280
99,225

1,542,539
80,753

161,741
18,472

10.5
22.9

134,287
38,160

90,822
11,485

43,465
26,675

47.9
232.3

Total revenues and other income

1,975,952

1,725,599

250,353

14.5

609,664
427,991
79,824
24,748
58,799

542,834
353,035
91,543
–
52,962

66,830
74,956
(11,719)
24,748
5,837

12.3
21.2
(12.8)
nm
11.0

160,652

15.4

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Finance expenses
Staff costs
Impairment losses on financial assets
Other operating costs and expenses
Total costs and expenses

(1,201,026) (1,040,374)

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

774,926
(72,667)

685,225
(64,786)

89,701
7,881

13.1
12.2

Profit for the year

702,259

620,439

81,820

13.2

nm: Not meaningful
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Revenues and other income
Our revenues and other income increased 14.5% to US$2.0 billion from US$1.7 billion in 2018,
primarily due to an increase in lease rental income and net gain on sale of aircraft as described
below.

Lease rental income
Our lease rental income increased by 10.5% to US$1.7 billion compared with US$1.5 billion in
2018. The rise in lease rental income was mainly due to the full year impact from lease rental
income of aircraft assets added in 2018, the lease rental income from additions in aircraft assets
in 2019 which saw 12.1% growth in net book value to US$16.8 billion as at 31 December 2019
from the end of 2018, which were partially offset by forgone lease rental income from sale of
aircraft in 2018 and 2019. All lease rental income was derived from operating leases, with no
finance lease income.

Interest and fee income
Our interest and fee income increased to US$99 million in 2019 from US$81 million in 2018.
The increase was primarily due to an increase in fees from pre-delivery payment transactions.

Net gain on sale of aircraft
Net gain on sale of aircraft increased by 47.9% to US$134 million in 2019 from US$91 million
in 2018 mainly due to higher profit achieved per aircraft from the sale of 28 aircraft compared
with 33 aircraft sold in 2018.
Costs and expenses
The increase in costs and expenses of 15.4% to US$1.2 billion in 2019 from US$1.0 billion
in 2018 was largely in line with the increase in revenues and other income. The increase was
primarily due to an increase in depreciation of property, plant and equipment and the increase in
finance expenses which are described below.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment increased by 12.3% to US$610 million in 2019
compared with US$543 million in 2018, mainly due to a 12.1% increase in the net book value
of aircraft assets which increased to US$16.8 billion as at 31 December 2019 from US$15.0
billion as at 31 December 2018.
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Finance expenses
Finance expenses increased by 21.2% to US$428 million in 2019 from US$353 million in 2018.
This was primarily due to the combined effect of (i) an increase in our total indebtedness from
US$12.5 billion as at 31 December 2018 to US$13.5 billion as at 31 December 2019 and (ii)
an increase in our average cost of debt to 3.6% in 2019 from 3.3% in 2018. The increase in the
average cost of debt was due to an increase in the proportion and amount of our fixed rate debt
and interest rate hedging added in 2018 and 2019.

Staff costs
Staff costs decreased by 12.8% to US$80 million in 2019 from US$92 million in 2018 mainly
due to the lower provisions for variable bonuses in 2019 compared with 2018.

Impairment losses on financial assets
Impairment losses on financial assets of US$25 million were recognised in 2019 in respect of
trade receivables comprising amounts due under aircraft leases that were past due and in excess
of the security deposits held by us under those leases. Of the past due amount of US$43 million
as at 31 December 2019, an amount of US$33 million has since been collected or secured by
additional collateral as at 11 March 2020.

Other operating costs and expenses
Other operating costs and expenses mainly comprise amortisation of deferred debt issue costs,
repossession and transition costs, marketing and travelling costs, general and administration
costs, and taxes (other than income tax expense). The increase in these costs of 11.0% to US$59
million in 2019 from US$53 million in 2018 was mainly due to technical services expenses
relating to repossessions and transitions of aircraft.
Profit before income tax and pre-tax profit margin
Profit before income tax increased by 13.1% to US$775 million in 2019 from US$685 million
in 2018. Our pre-tax profit margin decreased to 39.2% in 2019 from 39.7% in 2018.
Income tax expense
Income tax expense increased by 12.2% to US$73 million in 2019 from US$65 million in 2018,
mainly in line with the increase in profit before income tax. The effective tax rate for 2019 was
reduced to 9.4% from 9.5% in 2018.
Profit for the year
As a result of the foregoing, our profit after tax for the year increased by 13.2% to US$702
million in 2019 from US$620 million in 2018.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ANALYSIS
Our total assets increased by 8.3% to US$19.8 billion as at 31 December 2019 from US$18.3
billion as at 31 December 2018. Our total equity increased by 9.1% to US$4.6 billion as at 31
December 2019 compared with 31 December 2018.
Our selected financial data and changes of our consolidated statement of financial position are
set out below:
31 December 31 December
2019
2018
US$ ’ 000
US$ ’ 000

Change
US$ ’ 000

Change
%

Property, plant and equipment and
assets held for sale
Cash and short-term deposits
Derivative financial instruments
Trade receivables
Other assets

19,327,401
287,126
2,373
18,232
129,296

17,973,481
242,983
16,972
7,984
14,803

1,353,920
44,143
(14,599)
10,248
114,493

7.5
18.2
(86.0)
128.4
773.4

Total assets

19,764,428

18,256,223

1,508,205

8.3

Loans and borrowings
Maintenance reserves
Security deposits and non-current
deferred income
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities

13,305,935
592,549

12,278,727
732,133

1,027,208
(139,584)

8.4
(19.1)

340,775
222,495
206,298
515,462

329,597
123,748
156,923
436,069

11,178
98,747
49,375
79,393

3.4
79.8
31.5
18.2

Total liabilities

15,183,514

14,057,197

1,126,317

8.0

Net assets

4,580,914

4,199,026

381,888

9.1

Share capital
Retained earnings
Statutory reserves
Share-based compensation reserves
Hedging reserves

1,157,791
3,515,584
262
8,021
(100,744)

1,157,791
3,037,898
63
1,931
1,343

–
477,686
199
6,090
(102,087)

–
15.7
315.9
315.4
nm

Total equity

4,580,914

4,199,026

381,888

9.1

nm: Not meaningful
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Property, plant and equipment and assets held for sale
We had property, plant and equipment and assets held for sale of US$19.3 billion as at 31
December 2019, which increased by 7.5% from US$18.0 billion as at 31 December 2018 due to
net addition of 14 aircraft in 2019.
Aircraft constituted the largest component, amounting to US$16.8 billion and US$15.0 billion
as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, respectively, representing 86.7% and 83.2%
of our total property, plant and equipment and assets held for sale as at the same dates. Aircraft
pre-delivery payments constituted 13.2% and 16.8% of our total property, plant and equipment
and assets held for sale as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, respectively.
Trade receivables
Trade receivables, net of allowance for impairment losses of US$25 million, increased to
US$18 million as at 31 December 2019 from US$8 million as at 31 December 2018. The gross
trade receivables past due amounted to US$43 million as at 31 December 2019 and these were
mainly due to the delay in payments by certain airline customers. The amount of US$25 million,
representing the overdue amounts in excess of the security deposits of each of these lessees, was
provided for as impairment losses in the profit or loss statement. Subsequent to 31 December
2019, an amount of US$33 million of the past due receivables was collected or secured by
additional collateral.
Other assets
Other assets increased to US$129 million as at 31 December 2019 from US$15 million as at 31
December 2018 mainly due to an amount of US$103 million receivable from a manufacturer
which was contractually deferred by mutual agreement in return for a fee. Subsequent to 31
December 2019, this amount was further deferred for another year in return for a fee.
Cash and short-term deposits
Our cash and short-term deposits, which were mainly denominated in US Dollar, increased to
US$287 million as at 31 December 2019 from US$243 million as at 31 December 2018. The
increase in cash and short-term deposits was mainly due to the total net cash inflows from
operating activities, financing activities and proceeds from sales of aircraft, having been greater
than the cash outflows from capital expenditure during 2019.
Derivative financial instruments
Our assets and liabilities with respect to derivative financial instruments represent unrealised
gains and losses, respectively, which were recognised in the hedging reserve in equity or
profit or loss, on the cross-currency interest rate swap and interest rate swap contracts that
we contracted as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 respectively. Under assets, our
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derivative financial instruments decreased to US$2 million as at 31 December 2019 from US$17
million as at 31 December 2018. Under liabilities, our derivative financial instruments increased
to US$222 million as at 31 December 2019 from US$124 million as at 31 December 2018.
The movements in derivative financial assets and liabilities were primarily due to changes in
marked-to-market values of the derivative financial instruments as a result of changes in interest
rates and an increase in interest rate swap contracts entered into by the Group in 2019. Due to
the downward movement in interest rates in 2019, the hedging reserves as at 31 December 2019
showed an unrealised loss of US$101 million compared with an unrealised gain of US$1 million
as at 31 December 2018.
Maintenance reserves
Our maintenance reserves declined by 19.1% to US$593 million as at 31 December 2019
from US$732 million as at 31 December 2018 primarily due to the sale of older aircraft with
maintenance reserves balances and the payment of maintenance reserve reimbursements to our
customers in 2019.
Trade and other payables
Our trade and other payables increased by 31.5% to US$206 million as at 31 December 2019
compared with US$157 million as at 31 December 2018, primarily due to an increase in accrued
maintenance reserve payables and accrued interest expenses mainly as a result of additional
loans raised to finance capital expenditure in 2019.
Loans and borrowings
Our loans and borrowings increased by 8.4% to US$13.3 billion as at 31 December 2019 from
US$12.3 billion as at 31 December 2018 to finance the increase in capital expenditure. The
increase in loans and borrowings included the issuance of US$2.1 billion of notes under our
Global Medium Term Note Program and the drawing down of US$970 million in term loans.
An amount of US$2.0 billion in term loans, revolving credit facilities and medium term notes
was repaid as part of regular loan repayment and loan prepayments in 2019.
Total equity
Total equity increased by 9.1% to US$4.6 billion as at 31 December 2019 compared with
US$4.2 billion as at 31 December 2018, primarily due to profit for the year partially offset by
payment of dividends amounting to US$224 million and unrealised losses in hedging reflected
in the hedging reserve as explained above under “Derivative financial instruments”.
Contingent liabilities
Other than corporate guarantees for certain loans extended to the Company’s subsidiary
companies and for obligations under certain lease agreements entered into by the subsidiary
companies as set out in Note 37 to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, the Company had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019.
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OTHER INFORMATION
Liquidity and capital resources
Our primary sources of liquidity comprise cash generated from aircraft leasing operations,
proceeds from aircraft sales and borrowings. Our business is capital intensive, requiring
significant investments and borrowings in order to grow and to maintain a young aircraft fleet.
The cash flows from our operations, particularly our revenues from operating leases of aircraft,
have historically provided a significant portion of the liquidity for these investments.
In 2019 we issued US$2.1 billion of notes under our Global Medium Term Note Program.
We have also utilised US$640 million under our committed revolving credit facilities as at 31
December 2019.
There was no significant change in our gearing as at 31 December 2019 compared with 31
December 2018 as demonstrated in the table below.
31 December 31 December
2019
2018
US$ ’m
US$ ’m
Gross debt
Total equity
Gearing (times)

13,513

12,476

4,581

4,199

2.9

3.0

Gross debt comprises our loans and borrowings before adjustments for deferred debt issue costs,
fair values, revaluations and discounts/premiums to medium term notes. Total equity refers to
the equity attributable to Shareholders. Gearing is calculated by dividing gross debt by total
equity.
Our liquidity remains strong, with cash and short-term deposits of US$287 million and US$4.4
billion in undrawn committed credit facilities as at 31 December 2019, comprising the unutilised
portion of our revolving credit facilities and US$700 million in term loans that were unutilised
as at 31 December 2019.
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Indebtedness
31 December 31 December
2019
2018
US$ ’m
US$ ’m
Secured
Term loans
Export credit agency supported financing

729
601

879
808

Total secured debt

1,330

1,687

Unsecured
Term loans
Revolving credit facilities
Medium term notes

2,580
640
8,963

2,185
1,439
7,165

Total unsecured debt

12,183

10,789

Total indebtedness

13,513

12,476

Less: debt discount, debt premium, deferred debt issue costs and
fair value and revaluation adjustments
Total debt
Number of aircraft pledged as security
Net book value of aircraft pledged as security

(207)

(197)

13,306

12,279

64
2,915

71
3,259

Indebtedness comprises our loans and borrowings before adjustments for deferred debt issue
costs, fair values, revaluations and discounts/premiums to medium term notes.
Of the total indebtedness, the amount of debt at fixed rates, including floating rate debt swapped
to fixed rate liabilities, amounted to US$10.4 billion as at 31 December 2019 compared with
US$7.6 billion as at 31 December 2018.
Collateral for secured debt will typically include a mortgage over the relevant aircraft, an
assignment of the operating lease of the relevant aircraft and/or a pledge of the shares in the
subsidiary company that holds title to the relevant aircraft. In line with our strategy to reduce
secured debt as a proportion of total assets and of total indebtedness, these proportions have
come down in 2019 as set out in the table below:
31 December 31 December
2019
2018
Secured debt/total assets
Secured debt/total indebtedness

6.7%
9.8%
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9.2%
13.5%

As at 31 December 2019, the debt repayment profile was as follows:
Debt repayment profile
31 December
2019
US$ ’b
1.8
2.0
2.1
2.0
2.7
2.9

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 and beyond
Total

13.5

Pledge of assets
Details of pledges of assets are included in Note 12 and Note 17 to the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019.
Credit ratings
Our credit ratings remain unchanged, at A- for both Fitch Ratings and S&P Global Ratings.
Foreign currency risk
Our transactional currency exposures mainly arise from borrowings that are denominated in a
currency other than US Dollar, our functional currency.
All loans and borrowings that are denominated in Australian Dollar, Chinese Yuan, Hong
Kong Dollar and Singapore Dollar are swapped into US Dollar. To eliminate foreign currency
exposure that may arise, we utilise cross-currency interest rate swap contracts to hedge our
Australian Dollar, Chinese Yuan, Hong Kong Dollar and Singapore Dollar denominated
financial liabilities. Such contracts are entered with counterparties that are rated at least A- by
S&P Global Ratings. Under these agreements, we receive foreign currency amounts sufficient
to meet the obligations in foreign currency borrowings and payment of US Dollar to the
counterparties.
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Future plans for material investments
Our estimated cash outflows based on aircraft capital expenditure commitments as at 31
December 2019 are set out below:
31 December
2019
US$ ’b
2020
2021
2022
2023

4.9
1.1
0.8
0.7

Total

7.5

The table above is based on estimated contractual capital expenditure commitments as at 31
December 2019 and includes all commitments to purchase aircraft, including those where an
airline has a right to acquire the relevant aircraft on delivery. The capital expenditure figures
for each year include anticipated escalation and are net of advance payments made before 31
December 2019.
Taking account of developments between 31 December 2019 and the date hereof including (i)
the most recent notification from Airbus and Boeing of the likely delivery schedule for our
A320NEO and 737 MAX aircraft, (ii) our order for 20 Airbus A320NEO family aircraft and
(iii) our purchase of 22 Boeing 787-8 aircraft, our estimated cash outflows stated above would
change as follows:
11 March
2020
US$ ’b
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

5.0
2.9
1.4
1.3
0.4

Total

11.0

Sources of funding
Our aircraft purchase commitments as at 31 December 2019 are expected to be financed through
a range of funding sources, including (a) cash flows generated from our operating activities,
(b) proceeds from our notes issuance from debt capital markets, (c) amounts made available
and drawn down under our various bank financing facilities, and (d) net proceeds from sales of
owned aircraft.
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We benefit from our strong investment grade corporate credit ratings of A- from both S&P
Global Ratings and Fitch Ratings and from our access to diverse debt funding sources. Our
primary sources of debt funding are unsecured notes and unsecured and secured loan facilities.
We have been an issuer of notes since 2000 and continue to regularly issue notes under our
US$10 billion Global Medium Term Note Program. We also enjoy access to and continued
support from a large group of lenders comprising over 70 financial institutions as at 31
December 2019. We have US$4.4 billion in undrawn committed unsecured credit facilities
including a US$2 billion facility from Bank of China which matures in April 2022.
Employees
As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, we had 176 and 169 employees respectively
who were engaged in the operation and management of our business.
We provide certain benefits to our employees including retirement, health, life, disability and
accident insurance coverage. We enter into individual employment contracts with our employees
to cover matters such as wages, employee benefits, confidentiality and grounds for termination.
We set targets for our employees based on their position and role and periodically assess their
performance. The results of such assessments are used in their salary reviews, bonus awards and
assessing promotions. The employee remuneration package generally comprises a basic salary
and a discretionary bonus element. Our employee bonuses include two employee incentive plans
as follows: (i) our short term incentive plan which is cash-based and payable over a maximum
three year period, under which a bonus is payable to employees when certain key performance
indicator targets for each year are met, and (ii) our long term incentive plan, under which a
bonus is awarded to selected employees based on the achievement of certain key performance
targets at the end of a pre-determined period. From financial year 2017, the long term incentive
plan was changed from a pure cash-based plan to a plan comprising a mix of cash-based and
share-based elements. The share-based long term incentive plan involves the grant of awards
in the form of restricted share units (RSUs), fulfilled through the purchase of Shares in the
secondary market by an independent trustee after the announcement of results for the relevant
financial year in which performance occurred. Upon vesting, RSUs will generally be satisfied
by the transfer of Shares from the independent trustee to the employee. The first two grants
under the RSU Plan were made in May 2018 and May 2019 respectively, and each RSU award
is amortised over the vesting period of approximately three years commencing from the date of
grant.
None of our employees are represented by a union or collective bargaining agreement. We
believe we have good employment relationships with our employees.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, our staff costs was US$80 million, representing
approximately 4.0% of the Group’s total revenues and other income for 2019, and a reduction of
12.8% compared to staff costs of US$92 million in 2018.
Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Company.
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DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Directors

Mr. SUN Yu
Chairman, Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Nomination Committee, aged 47. Mr.
Sun has been serving as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company since February
2019.
Mr. Sun Yu has been the Executive Vice President of BOC since February 2019. He has also
been serving as the General Manager of BOC, Beijing Branch since December 2019 and the
President of BOC’s Shanghai RMB Trading Unit since November 2019. Mr. Sun joined BOC
in 1998. He served as the Chief Overseas Business Officer of BOC from September 2018 to
February 2019. From March 2015 to November 2018, he served as General Manager of BOC,
London Branch, CEO of Bank of China (UK) Limited, and concurrently served as General
Manager of London Trading Center of BOC from December 2015 to November 2018. Mr. Sun
previously served as Director of Global Financial Markets Department, Director of Financial
Markets Unit (Client Business), and Director of Financial Markets Unit (Securities Investment)
of BOC, Deputy General Manager of BOC, Shanghai Branch and General Manager of Global
Markets Department of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Sun has served as Director
of Bank of China (UK) Limited since March 2015, and Chairman of Bank of China (UK)
Limited since December 2018. He graduated from Nankai University with a Master’s degree in
Economics in 1998.

Mdm. ZHANG Xiaolu
Deputy Managing Director, Vice Chairman, Executive Director and a member of the Strategy
and Budget Committee, aged 52. Mdm. Zhang has been serving as Deputy Managing Director,
Vice Chairman, Executive Director and a member of the Strategy and Budget Committee since
January 2020.
Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu joined Bank of China in July 1990. She held various positions, including
serving as Senior Management Executive Assistant, Executive Office at the Head Office from
October 2000 to October 2008 and Deputy CEO and COO at Bank of China (Suisse) S.A. from
November 2008 to September 2012. From October 2012 to April 2014, she was the Executive
Director and Special Advisor of Bank Julius Baer Head Office in Zurich. Prior to joining the
Company, Mdm. Zhang was the Deputy General Manager of Bank of China Luxembourg
Branch and Bank of China (Luxembourg) S.A. from April 2014 to December 2019.
Mdm. Zhang graduated with a Bachelor ’s degree in International Leasing and Foreign
Trade Accounting from Beijing Union University in 1990, a Bachelor ’s degree in English
Language from Beijing Foreign Study University in 2006 and a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in 2000.
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Mr. Robert James MARTIN
Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director and a member of the Strategy
and Budget Committee, aged 55.
Mr. Martin was appointed as a Director and the Managing Director in 1998. Mr. Martin joined
the Company in 1998 and has more than 30 years of experience in the aircraft and leasing
business, with Bank of America, The Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan and HSBC Investment
Bank (Asia) Ltd. Mr. Martin graduated from Cambridge University in the United Kingdom with
a Master of Arts degree in Economics.

Mr. LI Mang
Non-executive Director and a member of the Risk Committee and the Strategy and Budget
Committee, aged 52. Mr. Li was appointed as a Non-Executive Director in December 2015.
Mr. Li joined BOC in July 1990 and he is currently the General Manager of Global Transaction
Banking Department of BOC. Mr. Li is also a director of Bank of China (New Zealand)
Limited. Mr. Li graduated from Central University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in
June 1990 with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics. He received a Master’s degree in Economics
from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in the PRC in July 2002.

Mr. LIU Chenggang
Non-executive Director, Chairman of Strategy and Budget Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee, aged 47. Mr. Liu was appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September
2016.
Mr. Liu joined BOC in July 1994 and is currently the General Manager of Equity Investment
and Comprehensive Operation Management Department of BOC. Mr. Liu is also a director
of BOC International Holdings Limited, Bank of China Group Insurance Company Limited
and BOC Wealth Management Co. Ltd. From January 2017 to December 2018, Mr. Liu was
the General Manager of Financial Management Department of BOC. Mr. Liu graduated from
Renmin University of China in July 1994 with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics. He then
obtained a Master’s degree in Economics from the People’s Bank of China Research Institute
of Finance in April 1999, and was awarded a Master’s degree in Applied Finance by Macquarie
University in November 2003. Mr. Liu is a Chartered Financial Analyst.

Mr. WANG Zhiheng
Non-executive Director, a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, aged 46. Mr. Wang was appointed as a Non-Executive Director in October 2018.
– 29 –

Mr. Wang is currently an Employee Supervisor and the General Manager of the Human
Resources Department of BOC. Mr. Wang joined BOC in 1999. Between April 2002 and
December 2010, he successively served as Deputy Head of Corporate Planning Division of
Corporate Banking Unit, Head of Management of Domestic Executives of Human Resources
Department and the Deputy General Manager of Human Resources Department of BOC. From
December 2010 to September 2018, Mr. Wang successively held the positions as Deputy
General Manager of BOC Guangdong Branch and as General Manager of BOC Qinghai Branch.
Mr. Wang graduated from Nankai University of China with a Bachelor’s degree in Finance in
1996 and a master’s degree in Finance in 1999.

Mdm. ZHU Lin
Non-executive Director, a member of Audit Committee and the Risk Committee, aged 46. Mdm.
Zhu was appointed as a Non-Executive Director in January 2014.
Mdm. Zhu joined BOC in July 1997 and is currently the Deputy General Manager of Credit
Management Department of BOC. Mdm. Zhu is also a director of Bank of China (Mauritius)
Limited. Mdm. Zhu graduated from Peking University in the PRC in July 1994 with a
Bachelor’s degree in Economics and received a Master’s degree in Economics from Guanghua
School of Management, Peking University in July 1997. Mdm. Zhu has been a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 1997.

Dr. DAI Deming
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, aged 57. Dr. Dai was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director in May 2016.
Dr. Dai is an independent non-executive director of China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. which is
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 02016), Qingdao Haier Co. Ltd. which is listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600690), CSC Financial Co. Ltd. which is listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6066), Power Construction Corporation of China, Ltd which
is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601669) and Poly Developments and
Holdings which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600048).
Mr. Dai was an independent non-executive director of CSR Corporation Limited (which merged
with China CNR Corporation Limited in 2015 to form CRRC Corporation Limited and is
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601766) and the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 01766)) and chairman of its audit and risk management committee from August 2008 to
June 2014. Mr. Dai was also an independent director of Shanxi Taigang Stainless Steel Co.,
Ltd. which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000825) from May 2011
to October 2016, Beijing Xinwei Telecom Technology Group Co., Ltd. which is listed on the
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Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600485) from September 2014 to August 2016 and
Beijing Capital Development Co. Ltd. which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600376) from September 2015 to May 2018.
Mr. Dai has served as the dean of the Accounting Department of the School of Business of
Renmin University of China from October 2001 to September 2010, professor of the Accounting
Department at that university since July 1996 and associate professor of the Accounting
Department of that university from July 1993 to June 1996. Mr. Dai graduated from Hunan
College of Finance & Economics in the PRC with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics with a
major in Industrial Financial Accounting in July 1983, graduated with an Accounting major
in July 1986 and obtained a Master’s degree in Economics in October 1986 from Zhongnan
University of Finance & Economics in the PRC, and obtained a Doctorate degree in Economics
with a major in Accounting at Renmin University of China in June 1991.

Mr. FU Shula
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, aged 64. Mr. Fu was appointed as
an independent Director in February 2011 and redesignated as an Independent Non-Executive
Director in March 2016.
From 1984 to 2015, Mr. Fu held various senior positions in Aviation Industry Corporation
of China (AVIC), including President of China National Aero-Technology Import & Export
Corporation, President of AVIC International Holding Corporation, Deputy Chief Economist
of AVIC, Chairman of the Board of AVIC International Holding Corporation, Chairman of
the Board of AVIC Aero-Engine Holding Corporation and Chairman of the Board of AVIC
Economy & Technology Research Institute. Mr. Fu is currently an independent non-executive
director of Besunyen Holdings Company Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00926). Mr. Fu graduated with a Master’s degree in Aero Engine Design from
Northwestern Polytechnical University in the PRC in July 1984.

Mr. Antony Nigel TYLER
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Risk Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and the Strategy and Budget Committee, aged 64. Mr. Tyler was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director in May 2016.
Mr. Tyler had been the Director General and Chief Executive Officer of the International Air
Transport Association (IATA) from 1 July 2011 to September 2016. Prior to joining IATA, Mr.
Tyler was an executive director of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited which is listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 00293) from December 1996 to March 2011 and the Chief Executive
from July 2007 to March 2011. He was a non-executive director of Hong Kong Aircraft
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Engineering Company Limited (stock code: 00044) from December 1996 to September 2008
and an executive director of Swire Pacific Limited (stock code: 00019) from January 2008 to
March 2011, both of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tyler was also a member of
the Board of Governors of IATA and served as its Chairman from June 2009 to June 2010. Mr.
Tyler is currently an independent non-executive director of Bombardier Inc., Trans Maldivian
Airways and Qantas Airways Limited. Mr. Tyler graduated with a degree in Jurisprudence from
Oxford University in the United Kingdom in July 1977.

Dr. YEUNG Yin Bernard
Independent Non-executive Director, a member of the Nomination Committee and the Strategy
and Budget Committee, aged 66. Dr. Yeung was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director in December 2016.
Dr. Yeung is Stephen Riady Distinguished Professor in Finance and Strategic Management at
the National University of Singapore (NUS) Business School. He is also the President of the
Asian Bureau of Finance and Economic Research. He was Dean of the NUS Business School
from June 2008 to May 2019. Before joining NUS, he was the Abraham Krasnoff Professor in
Global Business, Economics, and Management at New York University (NYU) Stern School
of Business and the Director of the NYU China House. From 1988 to 1999, he taught at the
University of Michigan and at the University of Alberta from 1983 to 1988.
Dr. Yeung has published widely in top tier academic journals covering topics in Finance,
Economics, and Strategy; his writing also appears in important media publications such as The
People’s Daily, The Financial Times, Economist, and The Wall Street Journal.
Dr. Yeung has various major public appointments. He was a member of the Economic Strategies
Committee in Singapore (2009), a member of the Social Science Research Council in Singapore
(2016-2018) and a member of the Financial Research Council of the Monetary Authority of
Singapore (2010-2013). Dr. Yeung sits on the 3rd Advisory Board of the Antai College of
Economics and Management at Shanghai Jiao Tong University, the Advisory Council of the
Economics and Management School of Wuhan University and the Advisory Committee of the
Institute of Economics, Academia Sinica.
Dr. Yeung graduated from University of Western Ontario in 1979 with a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics and Mathematics. He then was awarded a Master of Business Administration and a
Doctor of Philosophy by The University of Chicago in December 1981 and 1984 respectively.

– 32 –

Senior Management

Mr. Robert MARTIN
Please refer to his biography on page 29.

Mdm. ZHANG Xiaolu
Please refer to her biography on page 28.

Mr. PHANG Thim Fatt
Deputy Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer, aged 63. Mr. Phang joined the Company
in 1996 as the Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Phang was appointed as the Deputy Managing
Director of the Company in July 2001. His areas of responsibilities include accounting, treasury
and risk management. Mr. Phang has been with the Company for more than 20 years. Mr. Phang
graduated from the University of Malaya in Malaysia with a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics
(First Class Honours). He will step down as Deputy Managing Director and Chief Financial
Officer on 30 September 2020 and will retire in Q4 2020.

Mr. David WALTON
Chief Operating Officer, aged 58. Mr. Walton joined the Company in November 2014 as the
Chief Operating Officer and has responsibility for legal and transaction management, portfolio
planning and management, technical, strategy and market research, compliance and corporate
affairs, investor relations and corporate communications and information technology. Mr.
Walton has more than 30 years of experience in the aircraft leasing and finance industry. Prior
to joining the Company, he served as a general counsel for both privately held and publicly
listed companies, with primary responsibility for structuring and documenting capital raising,
joint venture and leasing activities. Mr. Walton graduated from Stanford University in the
United States with a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree and received a law degree from the
University of California, Berkeley (Boalt Hall) in the United States.

Mr. Steven TOWNEND
Chief Commercial Officer (Europe, Americas and Africa), aged 50. Mr. Townend joined the
Company in January 2001 and was appointed as the Chief Commercial Officer in July 2004.
He was appointed to the additional role of Deputy Managing Director in June 2006. Mr.
Townend has been based in London since 2014 and oversees all revenue activities in Europe,
Americas and Africa. He will relocate back to Singapore before assuming his new role as
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Deputy Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer in October 2020. Mr. Townend has more
than 28 years of banking and leasing experience, having previously worked with DVB Bank
and NatWest Markets. Mr. Townend graduated from Loughborough University in the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor’s Degree in Banking and Finance.

Mr. DENG Lei
Chief Commercial Officer (Asia Pacific and the Middle East), aged 43. Mr. Deng joined the
Company in November 2019. He is responsible for overseeing all revenue activities within
the Asia Pacific and the Middle East. He joined Bank of China in July 1998 and held various
positions, including serving as the General Manager of the Global Markets Department at
the Shanghai Branch and as a Director in the Investment Banking and Asset Management
Department at the Head Office. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Deng was the Assistant
General Manager of Bank of China, Singapore Branch. Mr. Deng graduated with a Bachelor’s
degree in International Finance from Shanghai University in 1998 and a Master’s degree in
Business Administration from The University of Hong Kong in 2005.
Company Secretary

Ms. ZHANG Yanqiu Juliana
Company Secretary, aged 35. Ms. Zhang was appointed Company Secretary and an authorised
representative of the Company on 1 June 2017. Ms. Zhang joined the Company in November
2015 as Legal Counsel. Prior to joining the Company, she worked in international law firms in
Hong Kong and Singapore. Ms. Zhang graduated from University of Nottingham in the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor of Laws degree. She was admitted as a Solicitor of the High Court of
Hong Kong in January 2010.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY
The Company is committed to enhancing shareholder value by achieving high standards of
corporate ethics, conduct, transparency and accountability, and its corporate governance policy
is intended to provide guidance for the Company’s directors, officers and employees to ensure
proper governance, appropriate internal controls and avoidance of conflicts of interests. The
Company abides strictly by the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and in Singapore,
and observes the Constitution, and the rules and guidelines issued by regulatory authorities
including the SFC and the Stock Exchange. The Company from time to time reviews its
corporate governance practices against these laws, regulations, rules and guidelines.
The Company has applied the principles and complied with all applicable code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended 31 December 2019. The Company
will continue to maintain sound corporate governance standards and procedures to ensure the
completeness, transparency and quality of the Company’s information disclosure. This report
sets out a detailed discussion of the corporate governance practices adopted and observed by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2019.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
Corporate governance functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in provision D.3.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code.
The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and Senior Management, the Company ’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance
of the Dealing Policy by the Directors and the employees of the Company, and the Company’s
compliance with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.
Constitutional documents
The Constitution is a document containing important corporate governance related information
relating to, among other things, the rights and responsibilities of the Shareholders, the Board,
the Board Committees, and the Chief Executive Officer. The Constitution also regulates the
process of general meetings and meetings of the Board. Since the adoption of the constitution
of the Company on 12 May 2016 which became effective on the Listing Date, no changes were
made in the Constitution. An up-to-date version of the Constitution is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Shareholders rights
Shareholder(s) representing not less than 10% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders may
request the Board to convene a Shareholders meeting. The objects of the meeting must be stated
in the related requisition deposited at the Company’s registered office. Detailed requirements
and procedures are set out in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website.
Shareholders who would like to make enquiries to the Board or put forward proposals at
a general meeting are requested to follow the requirements and procedures set out in the
Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website.
If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as
Director at a general meeting, he or she should deliver written notice of nomination to the
Company’s registered office within the seven-day period commencing on and including the day
after dispatch of notice of the meeting. The procedures for nominating candidates to stand for
election as Directors are set out in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website.
Shareholders meetings
The Company is required to seek Shareholders’ approval according to the requirements under
the Listing Rules, the Singapore Companies Act (Cap 50), the Constitution and other relevant
and applicable rules and regulations.
The Company is required to hold its annual general meeting every year to transact certain
routine business being (a) declaring a dividend, (b) receiving and adopting the financial
statements, the Directors’ statement, the Auditor’s report and other documents required to be
attached to the financial statements, (c) appointing or re-appointing Directors to fill vacancies
arising at the meeting on retirement by rotation or otherwise, (d) appointing or re-appointing
the Auditor, (e) fixing the remuneration of the Auditor or determining the manner in which such
remuneration is to be fixed, (f) fixing the remuneration of the Directors proposed to be paid in
respect of their office as such under article 81 and/or article 82 of the Constitution, (g) granting
of any mandate or authority to the Directors to allot and issue Shares or grant options over or
issue warrants convertible into or otherwise dispose of Shares representing not more than 20%
(or such percentage as may from time to time be specified in the rules and regulations of the
Designated Stock Exchange) of the total number of the then existing number of issued Shares
and the number of any Shares repurchased pursuant to article 54(h) of the Constitution, and (h)
granting of any mandate or authority to the Directors to repurchase Shares. At its annual general
meeting, the Company may transact business other than routine business.
The Company held its 2019 annual general meeting on 29 May 2019 in Hong Kong.
The Company also held an extraordinary general meeting on 11 June 2019 in Singapore to seek
Shareholders’ approval for annual caps in relation to certain continuing connected transactions.
Please refer to the Circular dated 9 May 2019 for details.
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Roles of the Board and management
The Company is governed by the Board, which is responsible for strategic leadership and
control of the Company. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and
management. The Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and effective oversight
of management, and for, among other things:
•

formulating the Company’s long-term strategy and monitoring its implementation

•

reviewing and approving the Company’s business plan and annual budgets

•

reviewing operational and financial performance

•

reviewing and approving interim and annual results and results announcements

•

setting dividend policy

•

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s risk management and internal controls

•

approving appointments to the Board

•

approving remuneration and benefit programmes

•

formulating ESG strategy and approving the ESG report

•

ensuring good corporate governance and effective compliance

The Board authorises management to implement the strategies as approved by the Board, and
management is responsible for achieving the Company’s objectives. Management is responsible
for the day-to-day operations of the Company and reports to the Board. The Board has
formulated clear written guidelines which stipulate the circumstances in which management
reports to and obtains prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company. The Board conducts a regular review of the
authorisation and guidelines.
The Chairman and the Chief Executive
The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company are held by two
different individuals and their roles are distinct and clearly established.
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Mr. Sun Yu is the Chairman and is responsible for leadership of the Board and for ensuring that
the Board functions effectively and performs its responsibilities and acts in the best interests of
the Company. In particular, the Chairman:
•

sets the Board’s agenda and taking into account any proposal by other Directors to include
items in the Board’s agenda

•

ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings

•

ensures that all Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate information which is
accurate, clear, complete and reliable

•

ensures that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner

•

leads the Board in establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures for the
Company

•

encourages efficient and constructive deliberation of issues within the Board

•

promotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of
non-executive Directors to the Company’s matters and ensures constructive relations
between executive and non-executive directors

Mr. Robert Martin is the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and
is responsible for implementing the strategies set by the Board and for leading the successful
day-to-day operation of the Company and the achievement of its financial and operational
objectives.
Board composition
The Board comprises the Chairman (who is also a Non-executive Director), four other
Non-executive Directors, four Independent Non-executive Directors and two Executive
Directors. Their biographical details are set out on pages 28 to 32 of this announcement. A list
of Directors is set out on page 46 of this announcement.
The Directors do not have financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with one another.
Board diversity
The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy. In order to achieve a diversity of
perspectives among members of the Board, it is the policy of the Company to consider a
number of factors when deciding on appointments to the Board and the continuation of those
appointments. Such factors include gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
geographical locations, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service, regulatory
requirements and the legitimate interests of the Company’s principal Shareholders.
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After annual assessment by the Nomination Committee before the date of this announcement,
the Board considers the current structure, size and composition of the Board to be appropriate in
enabling it to perform a balanced and independent monitoring function on management practices
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
Nomination policy
The Company has adopted a Board nomination policy. The policy sets out the criteria and
process in the nomination and appointment of Directors, so as to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company ’s
business, and that all appointments are fair, considered and transparent, that there is a formal
procedure for appointments and that succession to the Board is orderly.
When deciding on appointments to the Board and the continuation of those appointments, the
Nomination Committee and the Board should consider the integrity, character and other personal
qualities of the candidate, the ability of the candidate to devote sufficient time and attention to
carry out his or her duties and responsibilities effectively, the candidate’s independence, other
factors listed in the Board diversity policy, and any other factors considered to be relevant by
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board.
Each proposed new appointment or re-election of a Director should be evaluated against the
criteria set out in the Board nomination policy by the Nomination Committee, which should
make a recommendation to the Board for consideration and, as the case may be, approval.
Where the appointment is to be approved by the Shareholders, the Board should make a
recommendation to the Shareholders for the Shareholders’ approval at the Company’s general
meeting. Where Shareholders are required to vote on electing or re-electing a Director, the
circular accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting should contain all information
on such candidate as required under the Listing Rules.
Independent non-executive Directors
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board at all times met the requirements of Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules.
Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that each
Independent Non-executive Director fulfils the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

– 39 –

Changes in composition of the Board and Board committees
From 1 January 2019 to the date of this announcement, the changes in composition of the Board
and Board Committees are listed below:
Effective date

Director

Change

27 February 2019

Mr. Sun Yu

appointed as a Non-executive Director,
Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the
Nomination Committee

31 December 2019

Mr. Wang Jian

retired as an Executive Director, Vice Chairman
of the Board, Deputy Managing Director and a
member of the Strategy and Budget Committee

1 January 2020

Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu

Appointed as an Executive Director, Vice
Chairman of the Board, Deputy Managing
Director and a member of the Strategy and
Budget Committee

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes to the composition of the Board and
Board Committees from 1 January 2019 to the date of this announcement.
Change of information in respect of Directors
In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information required
to be disclosed by Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules after the publication of the Company’s 2019 interim report dated 24 September
2019, up to 11 March 2020 (being the approval date of this announcement) are set out below:

Experience including other directorships
Mr. Sun Yu, the Chairman and a non-executive Director of the Company, was appointed as the
General Manager of BOC Beijing Branch with effect from 9 December 2019 and the President
of BOC’s Shanghai RMB Trading Unit with effect from 20 November 2019.
Mr. Li Mang, a non-executive Director of the Company, ceased to be a director and chairman
Bank of China (Mauritius) Limited with effect from 13 January 2020.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors
All the existing Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company have been appointed for a fixed term of approximately three years, with formal letters
of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their appointment. In accordance
with Article 97 of the Constitution and pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, any Director appointed by the Board during the year shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting or the next following annual general meeting of the
Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Accordingly, the term of
office of Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu will expire at the forthcoming AGM. Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu, being
eligible, offers herself for re-election.
Further, pursuant to Article 90 of the Constitution and code provision A.4.2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation and every Director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Li Mang, Mdm. Zhu Lin, Dr. Dai Deming and Mr. Antony Nigel Tyler shall retire
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. Each of Mr. Li Mang, Mdm. Zhu Lin, Dr. Dai Deming
and Mr. Antony Nigel Tyler, being eligible, offers himself or herself for re-election.
Board meeting process and attendance
Four Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 December 2019, in accordance with
the Corporate Governance Code. In general, a regular meeting schedule for the year is prepared
and approved by the Board, and ad hoc Board meetings are convened as appropriate. Formal
notice of regular Board meetings is required to be sent to all Directors at least 14 days before
the date of scheduled meetings and a Board agenda and meeting materials are sent to all Board
members for review at least three days prior to the scheduled meetings.
The Board agenda for each meeting is approved by the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer following consultation with other Board members and Senior Management. In
addition, in order to facilitate open discussion, the Chairman will meet with the Independent
Non-executive Directors, in the absence of other Directors and Senior Management, at least
once annually.
Board meetings are structured so as to encourage open discussion, frank debate and active
participation by Directors in meetings. Board decisions are made by vote at Board meetings and
supplemented by the circulation of written resolutions between Board meetings.

– 41 –

A typical Board meeting would consist of:
•

the presentation of papers to support decisions requiring Board approval

•

the presentation of discussion papers and information papers

•

a report by the chairman of each Board Committee on matters arising since the last Board
meeting

•

a management report by the Chief Executive Officer providing an update on the results
since the last Board meeting and an explanation of changes in the business environment
and their impact on budgets and the longer-term plan

•

the raising of new initiatives and ideas

•

any declarations of interest

The following table provides relevant details concerning attendance at Board and Board
Committee meetings for the year ended 31 December 2019, and other matters:

Board

Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee

Meetings held:

4

Meetings attended:
Non-executive Directors
Sun Yu
Li Mang
Liu Chenggang
Wang Zhiheng
Zhu Lin

4
3
4
3
3

Executive Directors
Robert James Martin
Wang Jian (Note 1)

4
4

Independent Non-executive
Directors
Dai Deming
Fu Shula
Antony Nigel Tyler
Yeung Yin Bernard

4
4
4
3

2
2
2

91%

100%

Average Attendance

2

1

Nomination
Committee

Risk
Committee

Strategy
& Budget
Committee

1

4

4

4

3
4

1
2
1
2

4

1
1

1
0
1
1
1
1
1

4

4
4

1
1
1
0

100%

96%

82%

1
1

100%

1

4
4

1
100%

2019
Annual
General
Meeting

Notes:
1.

Mr. Wang Jian retired on 31 December 2019. Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu was appointed on 1 January 2020
and therefore she is not reflected in this table.

2.

Certain Directors did not attend certain Board or Board Committee meetings due to other business
commitments.
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Training and professional development
All the Directors received training and training materials, including from the Company ’s
external legal advisor, about matters relevant to their duties as directors. They also kept abreast
of matters relevant to their role as Directors by such means as attendance at seminars and
conferences and/or reading materials about financial, commercial, economic, legal, regulatory
and business affairs. The Company makes available continuous professional development for
all Directors at the expense of the Company so as to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Each Director has provided to the Company a record of the training they received.
Board’s oversight over risk management and internal control
The Board is responsible for establishing, maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal controls systems. The Audit Committee oversees the establishment
and maintenance and review the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
on behalf of the Board.
The risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against misstatement or loss.
Good governance begins with the culture of a company, and culture is more important than
any process, policy or procedure. The Company strives to always act ethically and with
integrity, and this culture begins with the Board and Senior Management and is consistently
communicated to all employees, customers, suppliers and partners. The Company has a Code
of Conduct that is provided to all new employees, and all employees are required to review
the Code of Conduct, and affirm their compliance with it at least annually. Regular training in
compliance and ethical standards is provided to all employees.
The Company is also committed to developing and maintaining high professional standards.
Opportunities for career development and training are provided to employees. Each department
has developed, and regularly updates, policies and procedures to ensure that control systems are
in place and are regularly reviewed for effectiveness. Self-reporting of any control deficiencies
is encouraged, and departmental leaders provide monthly reports of any control issues to the
Company’s Internal Control Committee (ICC) for discussion and action.
The Board and management each has responsibility to identify and analyse the risk underlying
the achievement of business objectives and to determine how such risks should be monitored,
evaluated, managed and mitigated. Risk management and internal controls are the day-to-day
responsibility of every employee. However, clear organisational structures have been
established for risk management and internal control. At the Board level, the Audit Committee
and Risk Committee have delegated authority from the Board and these Board Committees
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report regularly to the Board and make recommendations on Board action. At management
level, the Risk Management Committee and ICC have primary oversight of these matters in the
day-to-day management of the Company.
The Company ’s day-to-day control environment is managed primarily by adherence to
its policies and procedures. Each department ’s policies and procedures contain a detailed
description of the key processes for which that department is responsible, and these processes
may include clear approval procedures, verifications and review and segregation of duties.
The Internal Audit Department undertakes audits for compliance with these policies. The
Company has in place effective processes and procedures for the identification, documentation,
verification and reporting of operational, financial and compliance-related information.
Detailed control guidelines have been set and made available to all employees of the Company
about the handling and dissemination of corporate data which is price sensitive. Systems and
procedures are in place to identify, control and report on major risks, including business, safety,
legal, financial, environmental and reputational risks. Exposures to these risks are monitored by
the Board with the assistance of various committees and the Senior Management.
The Company conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of its risk management and
internal control systems covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls as well as risk management. The assessment covers all the major internal
controls and measures, including financial, operational and compliance controls as well as
risk management functions. The review is coordinated by the Company’s Internal Audit
Department which, after management and various business departments have performed their
self-assessment and management has confirmed the effectiveness of the relevant systems, then
carries out an independent examination and other post assessment work on the review process
and results. The review also considers the adequacy of resources, employee qualifications and
experience and training of the Company’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit
functions. The results of the 2019 review, which have been reported to the Audit Committee
and the Board, revealed that the Company’s risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate.
Internal audit
The Company has an Internal Audit Department. The Internal Audit Department performs
regular independent reviews of key risk areas and monitors compliance with the Company’s
accounting, financial and operational procedures.
The Internal Audit Department assists the Audit Committee in carrying out the analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems. The internal audit plan, which is prepared based on risk assessment
methodology, is discussed and approved by Audit Committee every year. In addition to its
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agreed annual schedule of work, the Internal Audit Department conducts other special reviews
as required. The Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the Audit Committee. Audit reports
are sent to the Audit Committee and copied to the Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer, Senior Management in charge and the relevant management of audited departments.
A summary of major audit findings and recommendations as well as the remediation plan
status are reported to the Audit Committee on regular basis. As a key criterion of assessing the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, the
Board and the Audit Committee actively monitor the number and seriousness of findings raised
by the Internal Audit Department and also the corrective actions taken by relevant departments.
Directors’ responsibility statement in relation to financial statements
The following statement should be read in conjunction with the auditor’s statement of their
responsibilities as set out in the auditor ’s report. The statement aims to distinguish the
responsibilities of the Directors and the auditor in relation to the financial statements.
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap.
50, applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, International
Financial Reporting Standards and the Listing Rules. In addition, the Directors are responsible
for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to
permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of
assets.
The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Company has adopted
appropriate accounting policies which have been consistently applied and supported by
reasonable judgements and estimates, and that all accounting standards which they consider to
be applicable have been followed. The Directors are not aware of material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
Board delegation
Responsibility for delivering on the Company’s strategies and objectives, as approved by the
Board, and responsibility for day-to-day management is delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer, who has been given clear guidelines and directions as to his powers and in particular
the circumstances in which the Chief Executive Officer must report back to, or obtain the prior
approval of, the Board before making commitments on behalf of the Company. In addition, the
Company’s Management Committee has clear delegated authority from the Board to approve
new transactions that meet certain criteria, and the Company has a well-established and
developed committee and internal governance framework for managing its day-to-day business.
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Board Committees
The Board has established five standing Board Committees to assist in performing its
responsibilities. They are the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Risk Committee, and the Strategy and Budget Committee. In addition, the Board
will authorise an Independent Board Committee comprising all Independent Non-executive
Directors as and when required to review, approve and monitor connected transactions,
including continuing connected transactions.
Each of the Board Committees has well-defined terms of reference and makes recommendations
to the Board on relevant matters within its scope of responsibilities or makes decisions under
appropriate circumstances in accordance with power delegated to it by the Board. In addition,
the Board and each of the Board Committees evaluates and reviews its process and effectiveness
annually, with a view to identifying areas for further improvement.
Details including the composition of the Board and each of the Board Committees, roles and
functions of each of the Board Committees, terms of reference of each of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee and Procedures for Shareholders to
Propose a Person for Election as a Director are available on the Company’s website.
The table below sets out the chairman and members of each Board Committee as at the date of
this announcement:

Director
Mr. Sun Yu
Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu
Mr. Robert James Martin
Mr. Li Mang
Mr. Liu Chenggang
Mr. Wang Zhiheng
Mdm. Zhu Lin
Dr. Dai Deming
Mr. Fu Shula
Mr. Antony Nigel Tyler
Dr. Yeung Yin Bernard

Audit Remuneration
Committee
Committee

Nomination
Committee

Risk
Committee

Strategy
and Budget
Committee

C

M
M
M
C
M
M

M

M

M
C

M
M

M
M
M
C

M

C
M

Explanatory Notes:
C means committee chairman
M means committee member
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M
M

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises five members, as set out in the table above, a majority of
which are Independent Non-Executive Directors.
The Audit Committee’s main duties include reviewing the following matters:
•

the completeness, accuracy and integrity of the Company ’s financial statements and
financial reporting process

•

the Company’s significant accounting policies and practices

•

the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems

•

the relationship with, engagement of and remuneration of the Company’s external auditors

•

the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2019 and its main
work included its:
•

review, and recommendation to the Board for approval, of the Company’s final results
announcement, including the financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2018

•

review, and recommendation to the Board for approval, of the Company’s interim results
announcement, including the financial statements, for the six-month period ended 30 June
2019

•

recommendation to the Board for approval of the re-appointment and remuneration of
the external auditor of the Company, review and approval of the external audit plan and
any external audit reports, and monitoring of the external auditor ’s independence and
objectivity

•

review and approval of the internal audit budget for 2020, and review of the effectiveness
of the internal audit function of the Company

•

review of the effectiveness of the Company ’s risk management and internal control systems
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises five members, as set out in the table above, a majority of
which are Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Nomination Committee’s main duties include reviewing the following matters:
•

the selection and nomination of Directors, Board Committee members and Senior
Management

•

the structure, size and composition of the Board and Board Committees

•

the effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 December 2019,
supplemented by the circulation of written resolutions, and its main work included its:
•

reviewing and recommendation to the Board of the new Executive Director and other
Senior Management appointments

•

consideration of succession planning for the Company in general

•

evaluation of the Board and Board Committees

•

review of the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Committee’s terms of reference

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, as set out in the table above, a
majority of which are Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee’s main duties include the following matters:
•

reviewing the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and Senior Management
remuneration and making recommendations to the Board with respect to such policy and
structure

•

determining, with delegated responsibility, regarding remuneration of Executive Directors
or Senior Management members

•

ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own
remuneration

•

reviewing and approving management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s goals and objectives
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 December 2019 and
its main work included its:
•

providing input to the Strategy and Budget Committee and the Board with respect to the
Company’s staff costs budget for 2020

•

reviewing and recommending the bonus pool based on the Company’s Incentive Plan to the
Board for approval

•

recommending salary increase and discretionary bonus amounts for Executive Directors
and Senior Management to the Board for approval

•

determining and approving the remuneration of the new Executive Director and other
Senior Management appointments

•

reviewing remuneration competitiveness against comparable companies’ market benchmark

•

reviewing the Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference

No Director takes part in any discussion about his or her own remuneration. Full details
of remuneration of the Directors and the Senior Management are provided in Note 9 to the
financial statements.
Risk Committee
The Risk Committee comprises three members as set out in the table above. The primary duties
of the Risk Committee include:
•

conducting regular review of risk factors in the Company’s business, including but not
limited to customer credit and aircraft asset and portfolio risks, cashflow, liquidity, hedging
and funding risks and procurement and technical risks, as well as enterprise risk matters

•

regularly reviewing with management new and emerging risks and providing guidance on
measures to be taken to mitigate these risks

•

reviewing the adequacy of departmental resources, and policies and procedures, to mitigate
current and potential future risks

•

providing regular reports to the Board on the foregoing

•

approving other matters delegated to it by the Board
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The Risk Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31 December 2019 and its main
work included the following:
•

quarterly review of the overall risk status of the Company, including portfolio credit
quality and collections status, liability risk management, geo-political risk factors, risk
factors impacting the commercial aviation industry generally, and enterprise risk matters

•

quarterly status review of technical and procurement risk factors

•

review of corporate tax, insurance and vendor risk management matters

•

review of key risk indicators for inclusion in the scorecard relating to the Company’s long
term incentive plan

Strategy and Budget Committee
The Strategy and Budget Committee comprises six members, as set out in the table above. The
primary duties of the Strategy and Budget Committee include:
•

guiding management in the preparation of the Company’s medium to long-term strategic
plan for approval by the Board

•

reviewing the process for formulating the Company’s strategy to ensure that it takes into
account a range of alternatives

•

reviewing the annual budget prior to Board approval and monitoring performance against
budgeted targets

•

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s business plan and financial budget

•

setting corporate targets

The Strategy and Budget Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31 December
2019 and its main work included the following:
•

considering and recommending to the Board for approval the final dividend for full-year
2018

•

considering and recommending to the Board for approval the interim dividend for the
six-month period ending 30 June 2019
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•

reviewing and reporting to the Board on developments in market conditions and
opportunities relevant to the Company’s business, including developments in the lease
placement and purchase-leaseback markets and developments relating to the procurement
of aircraft

•

reviewing and recommending to the Board for approval the 2020 budget and the 2020
Corporate Scorecard

•

reviewing and recommending to the Board for approval the Company’s 2019 Corporate
Scorecard result and certain metrics for the Company’s short term and long term incentive
plans

•

reviewing and reporting to the Board on preliminary work on the Company’s next five-year
plan

Management structure
The Company also has a clear governance framework for managing the day-to-day business
which includes the following management committees:
•

The Management Committee has decision-making authority, delegated from the Board,
to approve transactions that meet certain criteria, including leases and lease extensions,
purchase and leasebacks, sales, loan and bond financings, hedging, aircraft specification
changes and other procurement matters and general administrative matters. The committee
is chaired by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. The six members of the
Senior Management team and the Chief Risk Officer are members of the committee.

•

The Risk Management Committee provides an ongoing and forward-looking review
of risk factors impacting both parts of the Company’s balance sheet, asset/credit risk
and liability risk matters. The committee also reviews changes in the external operating
environment and the portfolio impact of implementing revenue plans. The committee is
chaired by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.

•

The Operations Committee brings together the main business functions involved in
executing the Company’s aircraft acquisition, leasing and sales transactions and is involved
in day-to-day management of the owned and managed aircraft portfolio, including the
heads of the legal and transaction management, risk, technical, portfolio management,
procurement, airline leasing and sales and aircraft sales departments. The committee is
chaired by the Chief Operating Officer.
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•

The Finance Committee monitors and coordinates issues between the heads of the finance,
tax, risk, aircraft sales and treasury departments, including funding requirements, risk
issues that may affect collections, aircraft sales and budgeting. The committee is chaired
by the Deputy Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer.

•

The Investment Committee reviews the overall investment and divestment environment.
The committee is chaired by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.

•

The Revenue Committee provides guidance and planning for new lease and sales
activities, and provides direction to the customer-facing airline leasing and sales and
aircraft sales team for prospective new transactions. Approval of the Revenue Committee
is typically obtained for proposals falling outside certain parameters. The committee is
chaired by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.

•

The Funding Committee discusses debt markets and funding requirements for the
Company. The committee is chaired by the Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer.

•

The Internal Control Committee monitors compliance with internal processes and
procedures and provides direction for any needed improvements thereto. The committee
is responsible for oversight of the Company’s fraud risk management, anti-bribery and
sanctions policies and also evaluates new regulatory or other compliance issues affecting
the Company’s business. The committee is chaired by the General Counsel.

•

The Disclosure Committee monitors and approve all disclosures made on the Stock
Exchange according to the Listing Rules. The committee is responsible for oversight of
the Company’s disclosure and the Company’s inside information related policies and
procedure. The committee is chaired by the Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer.

Further underpinning the Company’s overall risk management approach are specific policies
and procedures for each department within the Company, together with clear written delegations
of authority to specified heads of department, each of which are reviewed, revised and
re-approved, as appropriate, on a regular basis.
D&O liability insurance policy
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the benefit of Directors and officers
against liability which may lawfully be insured by the Company.
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Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company based in Singapore and
is appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the
Board’s processes and communications among Board members, with Shareholders and with
management. The Company Secretary attended sufficient professional training for the year
ended 31 December 2019 to update her skills and knowledge.
Directors’ securities transactions
The Company has established and implemented the Directors’/Chief Executive Officer’s Dealing
Policy (the Dealing Policy) to govern the Directors’ dealings in securities of the Company.
Terms of the Dealing Policy are not less exacting than the mandatory standards set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the Model Code).
Upon specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they complied with the
Dealing Policy during the year ended 31 December 2019.
External auditor and auditor’s remuneration
Independence of the Company’s external auditor is very important to Shareholders, the Board
and the Audit Committee. The auditor confirms annually to the Audit Committee that they
are independent accountants based on Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants Code of
Professional Conduct and Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities and that they are not aware
of any matters which could be reasonably thought to bear on their independence. The Audit
Committee will assess the independence of the auditor at least annually.
The Board and the Audit Committee are satisfied with the independence, objectivity
and effectiveness of Ernst & Young LLP (EY), the Company’s external auditor, and the
effectiveness of its audit procedures. Upon the recommendation of the Audit committee, the
Board has proposed that EY be re-appointed as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming
AGM. Subject to Shareholders’ authorisation, the Board has authorised the Audit Committee to
determine the remuneration of EY.
For 2019, the total fees charged by EY and its affiliates were US$0.80 million, of which
US$0.38 million was for audit services, US$0.13 million was for audit related services mainly
relating to the Company’s issuance of notes under its Global Medium Term Note Program
and US$0.29 million was for non-audit related services mainly relating to tax compliance
and advisory services. Apart from audit services, EY was appointed to provide audit related
services and non-audit related services to the Group in relation to matters closely associated
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with the audit or where EY’s understanding of the Group’s business was beneficial in improving
efficiency and effectiveness. The percentage of fee ratio between audit related services and
non-audit related services versus total fees charged was 53.0%, while the percentage of fee ratio
between non-audit related services versus total fees charged was 36.6%.
The Audit Committee reviewed the fees paid to EY in 2019 for the purposes of Section 206(1A)
of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, and is satisfied that the non-audit services
(comprising audit related and non-audit related services) provided by EY in 2019 did not affect
the independence of EY in carrying out their audit services provided to the Group.
Investor relations
The Board and Senior Management recognise their responsibility to represent the interests of
all stakeholders. Frequent and regular communication with our stakeholders is a high priority of
the Company.
The methods used to communicate with Shareholders include the following:
•

the Head of Investor Relations makes himself available for regular meetings with major
Shareholders, investors and analysts. During the year ended 31 December 2019, he and
members of Senior Management have participated in numerous meetings, calls and
conferences, in Hong Kong and overseas, with Shareholders, investors and analysts

•

the Company’s website includes electronic copies of financial reports, call transcripts,
audio webcasts of analyst presentations, presentation slides, latest news, public
announcements and general information about the Company

•

publication of interim and annual reports

•

publication of press releases and announcements

•

the annual general meeting of the Company

Putting forward enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by post or email to
information@bocaviation.com, timothy.ross@bocaviation.com or kelly.kang@bocaviation.com.
The relevant contact details are set out in the Investors section of the Company’s website.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
The Directors are pleased to present this statement and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2019. In our opinion:
(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position
of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and the financial performance,
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; and
(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.
Principal activities
The principal activities of the Company, which are conducted in Singapore, are the leasing of
aircraft, management of aircraft leases and other related activities. The Company’s subsidiaries,
which are listed in Note 33 to the financial statements, are also primarily engaged in the leasing
of aircraft and other related activities.
Business review
Please refer to “ Chairman ’s Statement ”, “ Chief Executive ’s Comments ”, “ Business and
Financial Review”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report”
and “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” sections for a review of the Company’s
business for the year ended 31 December 2019.
All references above or herein to other sections of this announcement form part of this
statement.
Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held on 27 May 2020.
Results
The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the financial
position of the Group and the Company at that date are set out in the financial statements in the
Appendix A to this announcement.
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Dividend policy
The Company’s dividend policy is to distribute up to 35% of net profit after tax for a full
financial year. The Board has absolute discretion as to whether to declare any dividend for any
year, and if it decides to declare a dividend, how much to declare.
Dividends
The Board has recommended a final dividend of US$0.2153 per Share for the year ended 31
December 2019, amounting to approximately US$149.4 million, subject to the approval of
Shareholders at the AGM. If approved, the final dividend will be paid on 12 June 2020 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on the record
date, being 4 June 2020. The final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong Dollar, converted from
US Dollar at the prevailing market rate at least one week before the dividend payment date.
Together with the interim dividend of US$0.1388 per Share declared in August 2019, the
total dividend payout for the year ended 31 December 2019 would be US$0.3541 per Share,
representing a total distribution to Shareholders of approximately US$245.7 million.
Closure of register of members – Annual General Meeting
The register of members of the Company will be closed, for the purpose of determining
Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, from 22 May 2020 to 27 May 2020
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant Share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen ’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 21 May 2020.
Closure of register of members – Final dividend
The register of members of the Company will be closed, for the purpose of determining
Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend, from 2 June 2020 to 4 June 2020
(both days inclusive), during which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify
for entitlement to the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant Share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrars, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 1 June 2020.
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Financial summary
The Shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since 1 June 2016. A five year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 91 of this
announcement.
Plant and equipment
Details of plant and equipment of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are set out in Note 12 to
the financial statements.
Pre-emptive rights
Article 8(A) of the Constitution provides that, subject to any direction to the contrary that may
be given by the Company in general meeting, all new Shares shall, before issue, be offered to
such persons who as at the date of the offer are entitled to receive notices from the Company
of general meetings in proportion, as nearly as the circumstances admit, to the number of the
existing Shares to which they are entitled. Save for the foregoing, there is no provision for
pre-emptive rights under the Company’s constitution or the laws of the Republic of Singapore
applicable to Singapore companies generally which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
Donations
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company donated a total of US$14,000, and
employees donated more than US$4,000, for charitable purposes, to the organisations identified
in “Our Performance Review” on page 84. We did not make any donation of a political nature.
Share capital
Details of the Shares issued by the Company are set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.
There was no movement in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2019. Save for the purchase of 1,119,200 Shares at a total consideration of
approximately HK$73.4 million under the RSU Plan by the independent trustee (Computershare
Hong Kong Trustees), which are held on trust in accordance with the rules of the RSU Plan,
there was no purchase, sale or redemption of Shares by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
Public float
Based on information that is publicly available and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company maintained the prescribed public float of more than 25% of the total issued share
capital required under the Listing Rules from 1 January 2019 to the date of this announcement.
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Bank loans, debentures issued and other borrowings
Details of the Company’s bank loans, debentures issued and other borrowings are set out in
Notes 21 and 31 to the financial statements.
Distributable reserves
The distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2019, calculated according to the
Companies Act (Cap. 50 of the laws of Singapore), amounted to approximately US$1.9 billion
and are set out as retained earnings in the Company’s statement of financial position in the
financial statements.
Contingent liabilities
Other than corporate guarantees for certain loans extended to the Company’s subsidiary
companies by the banks and for obligations under certain lease agreements entered into by the
subsidiary companies as set out in Note 37 to the financial statements, the Company had no
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019.
Directors
A list of Directors in office at the date of this statement is set out on page 46 of this
announcement.
The changes in Board composition, and the biographical details of the Directors and their terms
of office are set out on pages 28 to 32 and 40 to 41 of this announcement.
In accordance with Article 90 of the Constitution, Mr. Li Mang, Mdm. Zhu Lin, Dr. Dai
Deming and Mr. Antony Tyler will retire at the forthcoming AGM. In addition, Mdm. Zhang
Xiaolu will hold office until the forthcoming AGM pursuant to Article 97 of the Constitution.
Each of the above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer himself or herself for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM.
Directors’ service contracts
No Director standing for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing company within one year
without payment of compensation other than the normal statutory compensation.
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Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions ” in this statement,
none of the Directors or entities connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party subsisted during or at the end of the year.
During the year ended 31 December 2019 and as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors
has interests in any business apart from the Company’s business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business.
The Constitution requires each Director to observe the provisions of the Singapore Companies
Act in relation to the disclosure of his interest in transactions or proposed transactions with
the Company or of any office held or property possessed by him which might create duties or
interests in conflict with his duties or interests as a Director. The Constitution further provides
that a Director shall not vote in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other proposal in
which he or any of his close associates has any personal material interest, directly or indirectly,
except in certain prescribed circumstances. Please refer to the Constitution available at the
Company’s website at www.bocaviation.com for further details.
At no time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company, its holding companies, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements whose objects are, or
one of whose objects is to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, except for the RSU
Plan which is applicable to all employees including the Executive Directors as described below.
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
The following is a general description of the emolument policy of the Company and the basis of
determining the emoluments payable to the Directors.
The remuneration of Directors is recommended to the Company’s Shareholders by the Board,
which receives recommendations from the Remuneration Committee. The remuneration
of Directors must be approved by general resolution at the annual general meeting of the
Shareholders of the Company. All of the Independent Non-executive Directors received
directors ’ fees. The Executive Directors and the Non-executive Directors (other than
Independent Non-executive Directors) are not entitled to receive any director’s fees.
Under the Company ’s compensation arrangements, the Executive Directors and Senior
Management receive cash compensation in the form of salaries as well as annual bonuses that
are subject to annual performance targets and other benefits. The Executive Directors and
Senior Management may also be remunerated under the RSU Plan described below.
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and a summary of the remuneration of the five
highest paid individuals and Senior Management by band for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in Note 9 to the financial statements.
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Restricted Share Unit Long Term Incentive Plan
The Company adopted the Restricted Share Unit Long Term Incentive Plan on 18 December
2017. The purpose of the RSU Plan is to attract skilled and experienced management and
professional employees, to motivate and reward them to maximise profit and long term
investment returns for Shareholders by providing them with the opportunity to acquire
equity interests in the Company, thereby aligning the respective interests of employees and
Shareholders.
Eligible participants of the RSU Plan are selected employees (including Executive Directors)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. An independent trustee (Computershare Hong Kong
Trustees Limited) purchases Shares of the Company from the market and holds such Shares on
trust in accordance with the rules of the RSU Plan. The RSU Plan will not involve any issue of
new Shares by the Company.
The RSU Plan is a discretionary scheme, and does not constitute a share option scheme or an
arrangement analogous to a share option scheme for the purposes of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. For more information on the RSU Plan, please refer to the Company ’s announcement
dated 31 January 2018 on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company granted awards under the RSU Plan on
3 May 2019 as set out below:
Number
of Shares
underlying
the RSUs
granted

Approximate
percentage of
the total
issued share
capital (%)

RSU Participants

Position

Mr. Robert James MARTIN
Mr. WANG Jian
Certain directors of subsidiaries of
the Company
Employees of the Group other
than Executive Directors and
Subsidiary Directors

Executive Director
Executive Director#

173,335
49,755

0.02
0.01

Subsidiary Directors

339,746

0.05

–

590,859

0.09

1,153,695

0.17

Total
#

At the time of grant. Mr. Wang Jian retired on 31 December 2019.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the RSU Plan and the fulfilment of all conditions to the
vesting of the awards, the Shares underlying each RSU award will vest in favour of the relevant
RSU Participants (as set out in the table above) in accordance with the RSU Plan. For more
information on the grant of awards under the RSU Plan on 3 May 2019, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 3 May 2019 on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s Interests in Shares and Debentures
As at 31 December 2019, interests of the Directors or the Chief Executive Officer or their
respective associates in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO and section 164
of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2019 were as follows:
Long position (ordinary Shares)
Number of
underlying Approximate
Shares held percentage of
under equity
total issued
derivatives share capital
(Note)
(%)

Name of Director
Mr. Robert James MARTIN
Mr. WANG Jian#
#

372,708
84,645

0.05
0.01

As at 31 December 2019. Mr. Wang Jian retired on 31 December 2019.

Note: These represent the number of the RSUs which were granted to the Directors. Please see
“Restricted Share Unit Long Term Incentive Plan ” above for details.

Mr. Sun Yu has a personal interest in 10,000 H shares of Bank of China Limited, which is a
controlling shareholder of the Company, representing approximately 0.0000001% of the total
issued H share capital of Bank of China Limited.
None of the Directors or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company or their respective
associates had any short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
and section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2019.

– 61 –

Substantial Shareholders
The register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO recorded that, as at
31 December 2019, the following parties had the following interests (as defined in the SFO) in
the Company set opposite their respective names:

Name of Shareholder

Capacity/Nature
of interest

Approximate
percentage of
Number and total issued
class of share capital
Shares held
(%)

Central Huijin Investment Limited Interest of controlled
corporation (L)

485,807,334
(Ordinary)

70

BOC

Interest of controlled
corporation (L)

485,807,334
(Ordinary)

70

BOCGI

Interest of controlled
corporation (L)

485,807,334
(Ordinary)

70

Sky Splendor Limited

Beneficial owner (L)

485,807,334
(Ordinary)

70

Pandanus Associates Inc.

Interest of controlled
corporation (L)

34,717,000
(Ordinary)

5

Pandanus Partners L.P.

Interest of controlled
corporation (L)

34,717,000
(Ordinary)

5

FIL Limited

Interest of controlled
corporation (L)

34,717,000
(Ordinary)

5

Notes:
1.

BOCGI holds the entire issued share capital of Sky Splendor Limited. Accordingly, BOCGI is
deemed to have the same interests in the Company as Sky Splendor Limited for the purpose of the
SFO. Sky Splendor Limited directly holds 485,807,334 Shares.

2.

BOC holds the entire issued share capital of BOCGI, which in turn holds the entire issued share
capital of Sky Splendor Limited. Accordingly, BOC is deemed to have the same interests in the
Company as BOCGI and Sky Splendor Limited for the purpose of the SFO. Sky Splendor Limited
directly holds 485,807,334 Shares.

3.

Central Huijin Investment Limited holds the controlling stake in the equity capital of BOC.
Accordingly, for the purpose of the SFO, Central Huijin Investment Limited is deemed to have the
same interest in the Company as BOC.

4.

Pandanus Partners L.P. controls more than one-third of voting rights in FIL Limited. Accordingly,
for the purpose of the SFO, Pandanus Partners L.P. is deemed to have the same interest in the
Company as FIL Limited, which has an interest in 34,717,000 Shares.

5.

Pandanus Associates Inc. holds the entire issued share capital of Pandanus Partners L.P.
Accordingly, for the purpose of the SFO, Pandanus Associates Inc. is deemed to have the same
interest in the Company as Pandanus Partners L.P.

All the interests stated above represented long positions. Save as disclosed above, as at 31
December 2019, so far as the Directors are aware, no other persons or corporations had 5% or
more interests or short positions in Shares and underlying shares of the Company which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under section 336 of the SFO. Subsequent
to 31 December 2019, so far as the Directors are aware, FIL Limited, Pandanus Partners L.P.
and Pandanus Associates Inc. no longer had 5% or more interests in the shares of the Company.
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Management contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2019.
Permitted indemnity
Pursuant to the Constitution, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company
against all liabilities incurred by him/her to the extent permitted by the Companies Act (Cap.
50 of Singapore). The Company has maintained insurance for the benefit of Directors against
liability which may lawfully be insured by the Company.
Share option scheme
The Company has not adopted a share option scheme.
Equity-linked agreements
Save for the RSU Plan, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2019 or subsisted as at 31 December 2019.
Shares under option
No options over unissued Shares of the Company or its subsidiaries were granted by the
Company or its subsidiaries, or exercised, during the year ended 31 December 2019 or subsisted
as at 31 December 2019.
Major customers
In the year of 2019, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the
total of lease rental income of the Group.
Major suppliers
The largest suppliers of the Group in terms of capital expenditure are Airbus and Boeing which
are aircraft suppliers. Aircraft purchases from Airbus and Boeing accounted for approximately
97% of total capital expenditure (excluding purchase and leaseback transactions) in 2019.
Together with three other suppliers, the total purchases from the five largest suppliers of the
Group accounted for approximately 98% of total capital expenditure of the Group (excluding
purchase and leaseback transactions).
The five largest suppliers to the Group are independent third parties and, to the best knowledge
and belief of the Directors, none of the Directors or their close associates or any Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors beneficially own more than 5% of the Shares) had any
interest in any of the five largest suppliers in 2019 (to the extent applicable to such suppliers).
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Continuing connected transactions
The following transactions constituted continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2019:

A.

Bank deposits
1.

Bank deposits with the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group)
The Group had bank deposit accounts with the Singapore and Tianjin branches of
BOC in the ordinary and usual course of its business and on normal commercial terms.
The Company entered into a framework agreement with BOC (the BOC Deposit
Framework Agreement) on 12 May 2016 to govern all existing and future bank
deposits with the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) with effect
from the Listing Date.
The maximum daily balance of deposit placed by the Group with the BOC Group
(other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) (including interest accrued thereon) for
the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately US$113 million and it had not
exceeded the applicable cap during the year ended 31 December 2019.

2.

Bank deposits with the BOCHK Holdings Group
The Group had bank deposit accounts with BOCHK in the ordinary and usual
course of its business and on normal commercial terms. The Company entered into
a framework agreement with BOCHK Holdings (the BOCHK Deposit Framework
Agreement) on 12 May 2016 to govern all existing and future bank deposits with the
BOCHK Holdings Group with effect from the Listing Date.
The maximum daily balance of deposits placed by the Group with the BOCHK
Holdings Group (including interest accrued thereon) for the year ended 31 December
2019 was US$209 million and it had not exceeded the applicable cap during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Other terms
The BOC Deposit Framework Agreement and the BOCHK Deposit Framework Agreement
provide that all deposits of funds with the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings
Group) or the BOCHK Holdings Group, as the case may be, must be (i) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group and the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK
Holdings Group) or the BOCHK Holdings Group, as the case may be, (ii) on an arm’s
length basis, (iii) on normal commercial terms and terms which are no less favourable than
(a) those available to the Group from independent third parties and (b) those offered by the
BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) or the BOCHK Holdings Group, as
the case may be, to independent third parties for similar or comparable deposits and (iv) in
compliance with, amongst other things, the Listing Rules and applicable laws.
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Each of the BOC Deposit Framework Agreement and the BOCHK Deposit Framework
Agreement expires on 31 December 2021 and is automatically renewable for successive
periods of three years thereafter, subject to compliance with the then applicable provisions
of the Listing Rules, unless terminated earlier by not less than six months’ prior written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the BOC Deposit Framework
Agreement or the BOCHK Deposit Framework Agreement, as the case may be.

B.

Secured loans and other banking services
1.

Secured loans and other banking services from the BOC Group (other than the
BOCHK Holdings Group)
The Group did not enter into any secured loans with the BOC Group (other than the
BOCHK Holdings Group) during the year ended 31 December 2019 and no secured
loans with BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) were outstanding as
at 31 December 2019.
The BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) may in the future provide
services as facility agent, arranger and/or security trustee in respect of any credit
facilities provided by the BOC Group (including the BOCHK Holdings Group) to the
Group (the Other Banking Services).
The Company entered into a framework agreement with BOC (the BOC Loan
Framework Agreement) on 12 May 2016 to govern all existing and future secured
loans from the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) and the provision
of the Other Banking Services with effect from the Listing Date.
The aggregate of the outstanding principal amount of the secured loans from the BOC
Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) and the fees paid for the provision
of the Other Banking Services by the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings
Group) for the year ended 31 December 2019 was nil and it had not exceeded the cap
of US$500 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

2.

Secured loans and other banking services from the BOCHK Holdings Group
The Group did not enter into any secured loans with BOCHK during the year ended
31 December 2019 and no secured loans with BOCHK were outstanding as at 31
December 2019.
BOCHK had provided services as facility agent, arranger and security trustee in
respect of the loans provided by various branches of BOC to the Group (the Other
Banking Services).
The Company entered into a framework agreement with BOCHK Holdings (the
BOCHK Loan Framework Agreement) on 12 May 2016 to govern all existing and
future secured loans from the BOCHK Holdings Group and the provision of the Other
Banking Services with effect from the Listing Date.
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The aggregate of the outstanding principal amount of the secured loans from the
BOCHK Holdings Group and the fees paid for the provision of the Other Banking
Services by the BOCHK Holdings Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
nil and it had not exceeded the cap of US$500 million for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Other terms
The BOC Loan Framework Agreement and the BOCHK Loan Framework Agreement
provide that all loans from the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) or
the BOCHK Holdings Group, as the case may be, for which security over the assets of the
Group is provided must be (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and
the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) or the BOCHK Holdings Group,
as the case may be, (ii) on an arm’s length basis, (iii) on normal commercial terms and
terms which are no less favourable than (a) those available to the Group from independent
third parties and (b) those offered to independent third parties by the BOC Group (other
than the BOCHK Holdings Group) or the BOCHK Holdings Group, as the case may be, for
similar or comparable loans and (iv) in compliance with, amongst other things, the Listing
Rules and applicable laws.
The BOC Loan Framework Agreement and the BOCHK Loan Framework Agreement
provide that the relevant Other Banking Services provided must be (i) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group and the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK
Holdings Group) or the BOCHK Holdings Group, as the case may be, (ii) on an arm’s
length basis, (iii) on normal commercial terms and terms which are no less favourable than
(a) those available to the Group from independent third parties and (b) those charged by
the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings Group) or the BOCHK Holdings Group,
as the case may be, to independent third parties for similar or comparable services and (iv)
in compliance with, amongst other things, the Listing Rules and applicable laws.
The BOC Loan Framework Agreement and the BOCHK Loan Framework Agreement also
provide that all existing and future secured loan agreements (including in relation to the
relevant Other Banking Services) which may from time to time be entered into between
members of the Group and members of the BOC Group (other than the BOCHK Holdings
Group) or the BOCHK Holdings Group, as the case may be, may be for a term of up to
10 years. The Company considers that it is normal business practice for aircraft financing
agreements to be for a term of 10 years and the Company’s secured loans obtained from
other third party financial institutions are typically for a term of seven to 12 years.
Each of the BOC Loan Framework Agreement and the BOCHK Loan Framework
Agreement expires on 31 December 2025 and is automatically renewable for successive
periods of ten years thereafter, subject to compliance with the then applicable provisions of
the Listing Rules, unless terminated earlier by not less than six months’ prior written notice
or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the BOC Loan Framework Agreement or the
BOCHK Loan Framework Agreement, as the case may be.
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C.

Annual review
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the continuing connected transactions set out
above have been reviewed by the Independent Non-Executive Directors, who confirmed
that the continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
In accordance with paragraphs 14A.56 and 14A.71(6) (b) of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Company’s continuing connected
transactions. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and
conclusions in respect of the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
nothing has come to their attention that cause them to believe that the continuing connected
transactions:
(i)

have not been approved by the Board;

(ii) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group
as stated in this announcement;
(iii) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the continuing connected transactions; and
(iv) have exceeded their respective annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December
2019 set out in the prospectus or previous announcements of the Company.
In accordance with paragraph 14A.57 of the Listing Rules, a copy of the auditor’s letter will
be provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange at least 10 business days before the bulk
printing of the Annual Report.
The Company has complied with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the connected transactions and continuing connected transactions to which any Group
member was a party during the year ended 31 December 2019. Please refer to Note 35 to the
financial statements for a summary of the related party transactions entered into by the members
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019. Other than those transactions disclosed
in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” above, none of these transactions
constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.
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Debentures issued
In 2019, the Company issued the following debentures to raise funds to fund capital expenditure
and our general corporate expenses:
Class
Senior
Senior
Senior
Senior
Senior

Amount issued
Unsecured
Unsecured
Unsecured
Unsecured
Unsecured

Notes
Notes
Notes
Notes
Notes

US$500,000,000
HK$450,000,000
US$750,000,000
A$200,000,000
US$650,000,000

Term
5 years
7 years
5.5 years
10 years
10 years

Please refer to Note 21 to the financial statements for details of debentures.
Review by the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Company and discussed auditing, internal controls and financial reporting
matters. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as the Company’s
auditor will be proposed for approval at the AGM.
On behalf of the Board
BOC Aviation Limited
SUN Yu
Robert James MARTIN
Chairman
Executive Director
Singapore, 11 March 2020
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
This Environmental, Social and Governance Report for 2019 reports to Shareholders and other
stakeholders the steps we are taking to achieve a more sustainable business model, contribute
to a more sustainable environment and continue to build our strong governance culture. We
prepare this report annually as required under the Listing Rules.
BOC Aviation is a world-class aircraft operating lessor with a portfolio of young, fuel-efficient
aircraft leased to a diversified global customer base of 93 airlines in 41 countries and regions.
As at 31 December 2019, all of our 166 aircraft on order comprised latest technology aircraft
which, in the case of the new technology narrow body aircraft, are at least 20%1 more fuel
efficient than those that they are replacing. The weighted average age of our owned aircraft
portfolio was 3.1 years at 31 December 2019, one of the youngest in the aircraft operating lease
industry.
In 2019, we complied with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to our business in all
material respects and there were no material breaches or violations by us of applicable laws
or regulations that would have a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition
taken as a whole.
Governance
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting. The Board
is responsible for evaluating and determining the Company’s ESG-related risks, and ensuring
that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place.
Please refer to pages 35 to 54 under the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this
annual report for details of the corporate governance policy and practices of the Company and
our internal governance framework.
Our environmental commitments to address climate-change
BOC Aviation commits to promoting efficient use of resources and reducing waste. Our efforts
are reflected in our sustainable business model and our electronic communications efforts.
We are a core part of the supply chain in the aviation industry and own one of the youngest and
most fuel-efficient aircraft portfolios. We provide our customers with operating leased aircraft
that deliver from our orderbook as well as capital to finance their own orders via purchase and
leaseback (PLB) transactions. While we do not operate the aircraft that we own and cannot
directly control the greenhouse gas emissions of aircraft operated by our airline customers,
our business model of investing in and providing fleet solutions to our customers to finance
young and fuel efficient aircraft contributes to reduced global carbon emissions and addresses
climate-change issues.
Many of BOC Aviation’s customers are members of IATA and are dedicated to the industry’s
environmental targets. BOC Aviation is a strategic partner in IATA and supports its work on
environmental and other issues. By working with all stakeholders to address issues in climate

1

Source: Airbus’s and Boeing’s websites.
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change, IATA has adopted a four-pillar action plan1 that comprises improved technology
including the deployment of sustainable low-carbon fuels, more efficient aircraft operations,
improved infrastructure including air traffic management systems, and a harmonized marketbased measure to address any remaining emissions gap.
In addition, in 2016, the International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) implemented a
Carbon Offsetting and Reducing Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA), the world’s first
global carbon offsetting scheme, addressing the industry’s commitment to carbon neutral growth
from 2020. Airlines are required to monitor and report fuel emissions from 2019 as guided by
CORSIA. From 2021, airlines will be required under CORSIA to purchase carbon offsets to
compensate any increase in CO2 emissions that are above 2020 levels. ICAO estimates that
CORSIA will help to mitigate more than 2.5 billion tonnes of CO2 and generate at least US$40
billion in climate finance between 2021 and 2035.
Separately the Aviation Working Group (AWG), of which BOC Aviation is a member,
established a taskforce to assess and address environmental issues related to aviation
financing and leasing. The AWG has also developed a statement of principles on the impact
of environmental regulations and supports global initiatives to substantially lower and offset
carbon emissions, with the support extended to ICAO’s CORSIA. The AWG is a non-profit
legal entity that comprises major aviation manufacturers, leasing companies and financial
institutions that contribute to the development of policies, laws and regulations to facilitate
advanced international aviation financing and leasing, including environmental impacts.2
BOC Aviation is committed to supporting the aviation industry to reduce global carbon
emissions by building a more efficient fleet to address climate changes. In 2019, we added
US$3.3 billion of latest technology aircraft to our balance sheet, including our first Airbus
A330NEO aircraft, and sold US$0.7 billion of older aircraft models. As at 31 December 2019,
all of the aircraft in our orderbook are latest technology aircraft.
Aircraft Type
Airbus A320CEO family
Airbus A320NEO family
Airbus A330CEO family
Airbus A330NEO family
Airbus A350 family
Boeing 737NG family
Boeing 737 MAX family
Boeing 777-300ER
Boeing 777-300
Boeing 787 family
Freighters
Total

1
2
3

Owned
Aircraft
116
50
12
2
9
88
6
18
0
11
5
317

Managed
Aircraft
15
0
3
0
0
15
0
4
1
1
1
40

Aircraft
on Order3
0
67
0
6
0
0
87
3
0
3
0
166

Total
131
117
15
8
9
103
93
25
1
15
6
523

IATA (https://www.iata.org/en/policy/environment/climate-change/)
Source: http://www.awg.aero/project/environmental/
Includes all commitments to purchase aircraft including those where an airline customer has the
right to acquire the relevant aircraft on delivery.
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In addition, we promote a sustainable environment by using electronic communication to
distribute corporate communications to our Shareholders who have consented not to receive
printed materials. We have used electronic communication for all interim and annual reports
and all other Shareholder communications since the Listing Date. In addition to saving costs,
reducing waste and increasing efficiency, using electronic communication is also a way to
reduce deforestation and carbon emissions. We intend to continue our electronic communication
in the future. Our employees also use video conferencing facilities, including in our discussions
with investors, regularly to avoid unnecessary travel.
Our employees travel on commercial flights. We have taken a strong stand against the use
of private jets in our travel policy due to their excessive carbon footprint relative to using
commercial flights, with no employee travel permitted on private jets for Company business.
Our employees are primarily based in Singapore and operate from rented office space where
resource consumption is low and is not tracked under our rental agreements. Due to the nature
of our industry and business operations, most of the Environmental KPIs1 proposed by the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange are irrelevant to our business operations, other than those that
apply to reporting power and paper consumption. As more than 80% of our employees are
based in Singapore, we have presented the relevant figures for the Singapore office only. These
are tabulated in the table below along with the Group’s total assets at year-end to demonstrate
the Company’s power and paper consumption in the context of the growth in the underlying
business.
Our power and paper consumption declined 14% and 27%, respectively, compared to 2018
as we focussed on reducing our environmental footprint, including launching a ‘GoPaperless’
initiative to digitalize our forms and workflows. As compared to 2016, when we issued our
initial ESG report, the Company’s power consumption per US$1 million of total assets had
more than halved by 2019. The total amount of paper recycled was, however, inevitably lower
in 2019 due to the lower paper consumption.
Category
Power
Office paper
Paper recycled
Total assets

Unit
kWh
tonnes
120L bins
US$ million

2019
233,823
3.0
69
19,764

2018
272,116
4.1
108
18,256

2017
354,239
3.6
58
16,040

Resource metrics have improved significantly when measured against the scale of our business.
Power consumption per US$1 million invested in total assets fell 21% relative to 2018, while
paper consumed per employee declined by nearly one third.
1

HKEX Listing Rules and Guidance: Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide
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Unit consumption metrics
25

0.03

20
0.02

15
10

0.01

5
0

0.00

2017

2018

Power/total assets (kWh/US$ mn), LHS

2019
Paper/employee (tonnes/employee), RHS

While we do not operate any of the aircraft that we own, we may be subject to and required to
comply with applicable aircraft-related environmental laws and regulations should we repossess
any aircraft for the duration of the period that they are off-lease. From 1 January 2019, under
CORSIA, all airlines operating international flights except for some exempt from offsetting
requirements are required to monitor their fuel consumption emissions and report them to their
national authorities. We may benefit from the implementation of CORSIA as airline customers
may demand for more fuel efficient latest technology aircraft. We are not aware of any changes
in environmental regulations that could potentially impact our operations. The Group does not
own or use any corporate aircraft.
Human resources policies and practices
As a global aircraft leasing company with offices in five countries, we are able to attract
a diverse workforce and provide our global talent pool with opportunities to leverage a
cross-cultural working environment. There are currently 20 nationalities employed by BOC
Aviation. We offer competitive salaries and provide benefits to our employees including
retirement, health, life, disability and accident insurance coverage. We enter into individual
employment contracts with our employees to cover matters such as wages, employee benefits,
confidentiality and grounds for termination.
We set targets for employees based on their position and periodically assess their performance.
The results of such assessments are used in their salary reviews, bonus awards and promotion
appraisals. The employee remuneration package generally comprises a basic salary and a
discretionary bonus element. In 2019, our employee bonus grants were made under two
incentive plans, which were settled in cash and implemented as follows: (i) our short term
incentive plan, under the terms of which a bonus was paid to employees when certain key
performance indicator targets for each year were met, and (ii) our long term incentive plan,
under the terms of which a bonus was paid to selected employees based on the achievement
of certain key performance targets including the Group’s return on equity, net profit after tax,
collection rate and average fleet age at the end of a pre-determined period.
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None of our employees are represented by a union or collective bargaining agreement. We
believe that we have good employment relationships with our employees.
We have a diverse workforce, 68% of which is below the age of 46, with an almost equal
balance of male and female employees that has remained relatively consistent over the review
period.
Total workforce by age group
% of workforce
2018
24
45
24
7
100

2017
22
49
23
6
100

% of workforce
2019
2018
51
50
49
50
100
100

2017
52
48
100

2019
24
44
26
6
100

Below 35
35-45
46-55
Above 55
Total
Total workforce by gender

Female
Male
Total

At BOC Aviation, women accounted for 20% of the Management team1 and around 50% of
the total workforce, as at 31 December 2019. In the last three years, female representation on
our management team has consistently averaged approximately 22%. With the arrival of Mdm.
Zhang Xiaolu on 1 January 2020, 17% of Senior Management will be female.

1

The Management team comprises Senior Management and Heads of Department.
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As a company headquartered in Singapore, most of our employees are based in Singapore, with
UK and Ireland being the other major employment bases.
Total workforce by geography
% of workforce
2019
2018
Singapore
(Headquarters)
China
Ireland
UK
USA
Total

82
3
6
7
2
100

82
2
5
9
2
100

2017
85
2
3
8
2
100

The success of our business is substantially attributable to the contributions of our employees.
These individuals have the ability to successfully execute our business strategy and many
of them have extensive international experience in the aviation industry. Our future success
depends significantly on the continued services of our employees and our ability to develop and
nurture our employees to continue to contribute to the success of the Company.
All new employees receive a tailored induction briefing upon their arrival. We also provide
internal and external training to our employees throughout the year based on the respective
business needs.
The Company places great emphasis on talent development and conducted an average of
nearly 16 hours of training per employee in 2019, approximately 40% higher than 2018. This
represented a record of more than 2,700 hours in external and internal training sessions to
enhance our employees’ competencies and business knowledge. We also held one group-wide
company offsite to communicate our business strategy to all employees and to provide
Company-wide training. Additionally there was increased focus on performance coaching during
the year, with the identification of leader-coaches. These employees will drive the coaching
agenda of the Company, ensuring development and sustained improvement in employee job
performance going forward.
The Company advocates continuous professional development. In 2019, we sponsored three
employees to pursue diplomas in Accountancy and/or Commerce. Monthly “Lunch & Learn”
sessions were conducted to inspire free exchange of ideas, knowledge-sharing on an informal
platform, and to promote greater interaction amongst employees from various departments.
We are also increasing our use of technology to facilitate sharing among our global offices,
with training sessions now being recorded on video and being made available online to our
colleagues in other offices.
Female employees received an average training hours of nearly 17 hours each in 2019, which is
18% higher than male employees, and 58% higher than 2018.
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Average training hours by gender
Average
training
hours per
employee
16.7
14.2
15.5

Gender
Female
Male

Total
number
of training
sessions
169
126
295

% of total
training
hours
55
45
100

Training featured across all employee categories, with substantial training hours committed to
developing employees who are not in management roles.
Average training hours by employee category

Category
Management
Other employees

Average
training
hours per
employee

Total
number
of training
sessions

13.3

43
252

15.8
15.5

295

% of total
training
hours
12
88
100

Average employee turnover
The average employee turnover rate was around 8% in 2019, in line with the average employee
turnover rate in the last three years.
Succession planning
The Company actively plans for succession for Senior Management and other key roles in the
Company, as featured across the changes on the Senior Management team announced in 2019.
We welcomed Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu and Mr. Deng Lei, who succeeded Mr. Wang Jian and
Mr. Gao Jinyue, respectively, due to retirement. Additionally, Mr. Steven Townend, currently
serving as the Company’s Chief Commercial Officer (Europe, Americas and Africa), has been
appointed Deputy Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer with effect from 1 October
2020. Mr. Phang Thim Fatt will step down as Deputy Managing Director and Chief Financial
Officer on 30 September 2020 and will retire in Q4 2020.
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Board diversity
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy and considers a number of factors when
deciding on appointments to the Board and the continuation of those appointments. These
include gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, geographical location,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service, regulatory requirements and the
legitimate interests of the Company’s principal Shareholders. Please refer to pages 38 to 39 of
this announcement of more information.
Nomination policy
The Company adopted a Board nomination policy which sets out the criteria and process in
the nomination and appointment of Directors, so as to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business, and
that all appointments are fair, considered and transparent, that there is a formal procedure
for appointments and that succession to the Board is orderly. Please refer to page 39 of this
announcement of more information.
Labour standards
We are aware of the provisions of the United Nations Framework and Guiding Principles on
Business and Human Rights and its potential implications for our business. We prohibit the
employment of child, forced or compulsory labour in any of our operations. In 2019, we have
not identified any operation or supplier as having significant risks of child labour, young
workers exposed to hazardous works, or forced or compulsory labour.
The Group is subject to local health and safety requirements. The Group has internal policies
and systems in place designed with a view to ensuring compliance with such requirements.
We are committed to creating a safe workplace and have emergency evacuation procedures
in place for all our offices. All employees participate in the office building’s annual fire drill
exercise where relevant and in addition to that, we have four employees in our Singapore,
London and Dublin offices who have been trained in first aid. Plans are underway to initiate
a first aid programme in our Tianjin office. In 2019, we engaged external medical teams to
administer onsite influenza vaccinations for all employees globally.
To keep our workplace and employees safe in particular in disasters, we conduct a disaster
recovery exercise at least once a year where employees are accounted for, trained and briefed
on the necessary actions to take in an emergency. At the same time, systems at a disaster
recovery site are tested to ensure that there is no disruption to the business operations in order
to minimise inconvenience to the employees and stakeholders.
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The Directors believe that in the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has been in
compliance with:
•

all general employment related requirements

•

all local health and safety requirements

In 2019, there were no material violations of employment-related law or health and safety laws,
and we received no complaints of any such violations and there were no material accidents
relating to health and work safety in the course of our business operations.
Supply chain management
The Company has developed a global network of suppliers to support the Company ’s business
and to diversify and manage any potential geographical, environmental and social risks that we
face.
As a global aircraft operating leasing company focused on commercial airlines that operate
aircraft for more than 100 passengers, BOC Aviation relies mainly on Airbus and Boeing for
its aircraft, and GE, CFM, Pratt & Whitney and Rolls Royce for the aircraft engines powering
the aircraft types we order. The other key original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) that
BOC Aviation does business with include aerospace support services providers such as BE
Aerospace, Rockwell Collins, Honeywell, and Zodiac.
The Company also engages third-party suppliers on an as-required basis including (1)
maintenance, repair and overhaul (MRO) services providers, (2) parts and material suppliers
and (3) specialist service suppliers who provide services such as engineering design and ferry
flight operation. We have built an extensive global network with various types of third-party
service providers. These service providers offer us access to services that are either not practical
for an aircraft operating leasing company to maintain or that supplement the resources of our
own technical team. As at the end of 2019, our key suppliers of goods and services and those
with which we have significant multi-year agreements were located as follows:

Supplier location
OEM
MRO
Parts
Services/others
Total

Americas
15
6
1
0
22
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Europe
19
11
2
4
36

AsiaPacific
6
11
0
1
18

Rest of
the world
0
1
0
0
1

Compliance
The Company is firmly committed to a culture of transparency and compliance and we conduct
our business affairs with honesty and integrity. One of our core values is our reputation for
integrity and professionalism. We have policies and procedures against illegal and unethical
behaviour including bribery, fraud, extortion and money laundering.
We take a holistic approach to manage risks in relation to any illegal or unethical business
behaviour. To this end, each new hire is given a handbook to promote familiarity with the
corporate governance of the Company. In addition, the Company has a code of conduct that
specifies the expectations of the Company, and sets important guidelines to ensure that all
employees understand, the rules regarding transparent, ethical, professional behaviour. Every
new hire is given a formal induction to ensure they are aware of these policies and these values
are reiterated to all employees regularly. Every employee certifies annually that they have read,
that they understand and that they will abide by the Company’s code of conduct. All relevant
policies and procedures are published on the Company’s intranet for employees’ reference.
Our employees are made aware of anti-money laundering/counter-financing of terrorism risks as
well as our commitment to data protection. Each year, all employees are required to complete
an online compliance training programme with results reported to the ICC, which is responsible
for the oversight of the Company’s fraud risk management, anti-bribery and sanction policies.
The Corporate Compliance Officer will ensure that all employees complete fraud and ethics
awareness training and will report to the ICC periodically.
We encourage transparency by providing a method for employees to report suspicious activity
through a whistleblower web portal, and we have a clear non-retaliation policy, as described
below and establishing our whistleblower and non-retaliation policies. The ICC, chaired by
the General Counsel, is responsible for oversight of the Group’s fraud risk management,
anti-bribery and sanctions policies and also evaluates new regulatory or other compliance issues
affecting the Group’s business. The Committee typically meets on a monthly basis.
Anti-bribery
We are committed to conducting our business with high standards of honesty and integrity. We
have an anti-bribery policy which provides guidance to all directors, management, employees
and consultants of the Company in conducting our business legally and ethically. No employee
of the Group or Director may offer or promise gifts, gratuities or anything of value to an officer,
director, employee, agent or attorney of a third party with the intent to influence or reward
that person in connection with any business or transaction (proposed or actual) of that third
party. All employees or Directors must never accept gifts or other benefits from anyone if this
could reasonably be perceived as affecting his or her business judgment or decision. Giving or
receiving cash or other payments is also not permitted.
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The laws most applicable to employees and directors will be those in effect where the Group
has offices:
•

The Prevention of Corruption Act (Singapore)

•

The UK Bribery Act of 2010

•

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

•

The Prevention of Corruption (Amendment) Act (Ireland)

•

Criminal Law of the PRC Chapter VIII Graft and Bribery (China)

However it is also necessary to remain equally attentive to compliance with local corruption
laws anywhere our business operates.
We recognise that violations of anti-bribery laws and regulations are serious matters that
may result in significant criminal and/or civil penalties for the Company, as well as for those
individuals involved. Failure to comply with all applicable Singapore and foreign laws and
regulations, anti-bribery policy, or the HR Code of Professional Conduct may constitute grounds
for termination of employees involved or other disciplinary action taken against them.
We have a dedicated Corporate Compliance Officer in-house to enforce the anti-bribery policy,
and our General Counsel is responsible for the overall oversight as Chairperson of the ICC. In
2019, there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices brought against the Company or its
employees.
Trade sanctions
The scope of our international operations may require us in certain situations to comply with
trade and economic sanctions and other restrictions imposed by the United States, the European
Union, Singapore, China and other governments or organisations. The U.S. Departments
of Justice, Commerce, State and Treasury and other federal agencies and authorities have a
broad range of civil and criminal penalties they may seek to impose against corporations and
individuals for violations of economic sanctions laws, export control laws, the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act, and other federal statutes and regulations, including those established by the
Office of Foreign Assets Control. In addition, the UK Bribery Act of 2010 prohibits both
domestic and international bribery, as well as bribery in both private and public sectors. Under
these and other laws and regulations, various government agencies may require export licences,
may seek to impose modifications to business practices, including cessation of business
activities in sanctioned countries or with sanctioned persons or entities, and modifications
to compliance programs, which may increase compliance costs, and may subject us to fines,
penalties and other sanctions. A violation of these laws or regulations could adversely impact
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We have implemented and maintained policies and procedures that are designed to monitor and
ensure compliance with international sanctions and other applicable laws and regulations. For
example, our aircraft lease agreements allow us to terminate the lease if it becomes unlawful
to continue to lease the aircraft to the lessee, such as in the case of sanctions being imposed
that prohibit dealings with the lessee. If a lessee were to become subject to such sanctions
before delivery or during the term of an operating lease, we would seek to exercise our rights
to terminate the relevant lease, following which we would seek to re-lease the relevant aircraft
to an alternative customer. However, in our Company’s 26-year history, we have never had to
terminate an aircraft lease for such a reason.
We have undertaken to the Stock Exchange that (i) we will not use funds raised through the
Stock Exchange, (a) to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly, any projects or businesses in
Sanctioned Countries or with persons located in other countries who are subject to sanctions or
(b) to pay any damages for terminating or transferring contracts relating to Sanctioned Countries
or persons subject to sanctions (if any), to the extent that the Company is party to such contracts
in the future (whether by reason of a change in sanctions law or otherwise), (ii) we will not
enter into any transaction that, at the time of entry into such transaction, is prohibited by
applicable sanctions law; and (iii) if we believe that the transactions we have entered into will
put us and our investors and Shareholders at the risk of violating sanctions, we will disclose
on the Stock Exchange’s website, on our website, and in our annual and interim reports our
efforts in monitoring our business exposure to sanctions risk, the status of future business, if
any, in Sanctioned Countries and our business intention relating to such Sanctioned Countries.
If we are in breach of such undertaking to the Stock Exchange, we risk the possible delisting of
the Shares from the Stock Exchange. During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no
material violation of sanctions related laws or regulations and we received no complaints of any
sanction related laws or regulations.
Anti-money laundering
We have an anti-money laundering (AML) policy that is reviewed annually prohibiting and
actively pursuing the prevention of money laundering and any activity that facilitates money
laundering or the funding of terrorist, criminal or other illegal activities. We are committed to
AML compliance in accordance with applicable laws and require our employees to adhere to
these standards in preventing any occurrence of money laundering activities in the course of its
business. BOC Aviation will take measures to prevent the Company and its employees being
exposed to money laundering, to identify areas in which money laundering may occur and to
comply with legal and regulatory requirements, especially in the process for reporting actual
or suspected money laundering cases. It is the responsibility of every employee to be vigilant
and act promptly in all suspected cases. We therefore strive to have a clear understanding of
all prospective customers before entering into any contractual relationship in order to avoid
exposure to any customer who would use the Company resources for illegal or fraudulent
purposes.
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Our risk managers conduct “ know your customer ” (KYC) assessments of potential
counterparties, including prospective lessees and aircraft buyers as part of our transaction due
diligence, to identify potential risks related to money-laundering, fraud, corruption, terrorist
financing and breach of international sanctions. These assessments are conducted using public
data sources, information provided by prospective counterparties and specialist software
applications. Periodic screening of existing lessees is conducted as part of our annual review
process. Implementation of our KYC policy is an essential part of effective risk management
practice that contributes to improving the risk profile of our portfolio, as well as protecting our
integrity by ensuring that we transact with reputable counterparties maintaining high ethical
standards. We are cognizant that KYC is a continuous process as changes may occur after a
transaction has commenced. All AML concerns raised by employees and the outcome of any
investigation shall be reported to the ICC.
Our employees are required to comply with the highest standards of ethical behaviour in their
internal and external-facing activities as set out in our code of professional conduct, deed
of undertaking and staff handbook. The Human Resources Department will seek to build
AML awareness within BOC Aviation by providing employees with internal and/or external
training from AML experts in order to further equip and train employees on AML matters, and
incorporating appropriate training into new employee introduction programmes.
Whistleblowing
We have a whistleblower policy, detailed in the Fraud Risk Management policy and under
the overall purview of the Board with responsibilities delegated to the Risk Committee, to
encourage and enable the reporting of any improper, illegal or criminal activities by our
employees. All reports made by whistleblowers are kept under strict confidentiality, to the
extent permitted by law, and any whistleblower making a report in good faith is protected from
reprisal. We have a 24-hour whistleblower web portal for employees and counterparties to
report concerns about bribery and corruption. The service is managed by a third party provider
independent of BOC Aviation.
Whistleblower allegations shall be directed to the Corporate Compliance Officer and/or the
Head of Human Resources, who will refer such complaints to an investigation panel comprising
the General Counsel, the Head of Internal Audit and the Head of Human Resources. As a
general principle, where a director or employee is the subject of an investigation, that director
or employee shall not be involved in the conduct of that investigation. Accordingly, if a case
should arise which is not appropriate for senior management to handle, the Chairman of the
Board of Directors may at any point decide to delegate authority to the Audit Committee to
arrange the conduct of an investigation directly.
Personal data privacy
We comply with the Personal Data Protection Act in Singapore and any other relevant personal
data protection legislation in jurisdictions where our employees and our operations are based.
The Group has not received any material fines, penalties or complaints associated with the
breach of any personal data privacy laws or regulations since the commencement of the Group’s
operations.
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Product responsibility
We observe and comply with relevant laws and regulatory requirements relating to health
and safety, advertising labelling and privacy matters relating to services provided. The Group
has not received any material fines, penalties or complaints associated with the breach of
any products or services related laws or regulations since the commencement of the Group’s
operation.
Investment in the community
We participate in various trade, business and industry associations to contribute to the growth
and governance of the aviation leasing industry. We also made donations to various non-profit
organisations for humanitarian and charitable purposes. We do not provide any donation of a
political nature.
We support aviation-based organisations that provide humanitarian services. One such
organisation is the aviation industry charity Airlink, which BOC Aviation supports on an
annual basis. Airlink was founded in 2010 as a rapid-response humanitarian relief organisation
that links airlines with prequalified non-profit organisations. Please visit the homepage of
Airlink at www.airlinkflight.org for more information. In 2019, the Bahamas was struck by
Hurricane Dorian, the most intense tropical cyclone on record and the worst natural disaster
in the country’s history. BOC Aviation donated US$10,000 to Airlink’s efforts in supporting
the victims of Hurricane Dorian. We also helped to spearhead a donation drive to rally support
amongst industry counterparts in Asia, which was achieved through email, LinkedIn postings,
and promoting Airlink’s efforts at industry conferences and public speaking platforms. In early
2020, we have again supported Airlink’s aid programme, this time with the goal of supporting
the fight against COVID-19.
BOC Aviation expanded our Corporate Social Responsibility activities in 2019 so that we
could have a direct impact on the communities around us in our offices around the world. For
example:
•

The BOC Aviation Singapore team partnered with Waterways Singapore in November 2019
to help clean up the waterways along the Kallang and Singapore River. In total, the team
picked up 54kg worth of waste from the waterways in one short afternoon. The initiative
was continued from 2018 and well-supported by colleagues, who were also encouraged
to involve their children in contributing to Singapore’s environmental cleaning efforts.
Please visit the homepage of Waterways Watch Society http://www.wws.org.sg for more
information.
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•

Earlier in the year, the Singapore team also organised a food donation drive and packing
session with Food From The Heart (FFTH) in May 2019, a non-profit charity that reaches
out to homes through its food distribution programme in Singapore. In total, BOC Aviation
donated S$3,500 worth of food items to FFTH as part of our food donation drive. Please
visit the homepage of FFTH https://www.foodfromtheheart.sg/ for more information.

•

The BOC Aviation London team spent a day in August 2019 cleaning up and weeding out
the gardens at the RNOH Stanmore Hospital in Greater London (an NHS hospital) so that
patients recovering from spinal injuries are able to enjoy the hospital’s lush greenery.

•

The BOC Aviation Dublin team spent a day in July 2019 painting and refreshing the
shelters for Aoibhneas, Dublin, a refuge from domestic violence for women and children.
Please visit the homepage of Aoibhneas http://www.aoibhneas.ie/for more information.

We also continued as a proud sponsor of the International Society of Transport Aircraft Trading
(ISTAT) Charity Day at the Paris Air Show 2019. We hosted beneficiaries and their families at
the ISTAT Charity Day at the ISTAT Chalet on the last day of the Farnborough Air Show and
presented them with our corporate memorabilia as gifts.
At the regional level, we support The Arab Air Carriers Organisation (AACO) through the
sponsorship of seven scholarships per year for AACO-member airlines. Airlines get to use
these scholarships where participants can enrol at regional training centres to learn the skills
and knowledge needed to specialize in their desired field. This platform provides an additional
training option for airline personnel within the Middle Eastern region, and demonstrates our
continued commitment to developing talent and human capital in the thriving region. More
information on AACO can be found at https://aaco.org/home.
In addition, we contributed S$5,000 as a donation to the Singapore Community Chest when
we participated in CAAS Aviation Community Charity Dinner 2019 Event. Donations went to
support more than 80 beneficiaries in Singapore, with more details available at www.comchest.sg.
Contact for the ESG report
Stakeholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Company by post or email to
information@bocaviation.com. The relevant contact details are set out in the Investors section
of the Company’s website.

– 83 –

OUR PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
Environment
For Singapore office only
Total power consumption (kWh)
Power consumption per US$1 million of total assets
invested (kWh)
Total paper consumption (tonnes)
Paper consumption per employee (tonnes)

2019
233,823

2018
272,116

2017
354,239

11.8
3.0
0.017

14.9
4.1
0.024

22.1
3.6
0.024

2019
16
8.1

2018
11
5.0

2017
12
9.9

0

0

0

2019
51
20
20

2018
50
22
20

2017
52
25
18

2019
0
0

2018
0
0

2017
0
0

2019
√
√
√
√

2018
√

2017
√

√

√

√

√

√
√
√
√

√
√

People
Average training per employee (hours)
Turnover rate (%)
Number of employees represented by a union or
collective bargaining agreement
Diversity & equal opportunity
Proportion of females in the workforce (%)
Proportion of females in the management team (%)
Number of nationalities
Compliance
Number of violation of applicable laws
Number of workplace accidents
Social/Community
Organisations supported
Airlink
Aoibhneas Dublin
Food From The Heart
International Society of Transport Aircraft
Trading (ISTAT)
Orbis
RNOH Stanmore Hospital NHS Trust
Singapore Community Chest
The Arab Air Carriers Organisation (AACO)
The Sovereign Art Foundation
Waterways Singapore
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√
√
√
√

Compliance with the HKEX ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 of the HKEX Listing
Rules)1

Disclosure/Key
performance indicators

Relevant section/
page number/
remarks where applicable

General disclosure:

•

Our environmental commitments to
address climate change p.69-p.72

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and •
respective emission data

Our environmental commitments to
address climate change p.69-p.72

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in •
total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)
•

Our environmental commitments to
address climate change p.69-p.72

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced •
(in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste •
produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

A. Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and nonhazardous waste
Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx,
and other pollutants regulated under
national laws and regulations. Greenhouse
gases include carbon dioxide, methane,
nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons,
perfluorocarbons and sulphur
hexafluoride. Hazardous wastes are those
defined by national regulations

1

Our performance overview p.84

Source: Hong Kong Stock Exchange (https://en-rules.hkex.com.hk/sites/default/files/net_file_store/
new_rulebooks/h/k/HKEX4476_3841_VER10.pdf)
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Relevant section/
page number/
remarks where applicable

Disclosure/Key
performance indicators

Aspect A2:
Use of Resources

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to •
mitigate emissions and results achieved

Our environmental commitments to
address climate change p.69-p.72

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous •
and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
reduction initiatives and results achieved

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

General disclosure:

•

Unit consumption metrics p.72

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy •
consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’ 000s) and •
intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)

Unit consumption metrics p.72

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total •
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use •
efficiency initiatives and results achieved
•

Unit consumption metrics p.72

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is •
any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and
results achieved

Not applicable as we operate from
rented office space where most resource
consumption is low and not tracked as
part of our rental agreements

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used •
for finished products (in tonnes) and,
if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

General disclosure:

Our environmental commitments to
address climate change p.69-p.72

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials
Note: Resources may be used in
production, in storage, transportation, in
buildings, electronic equipment etc.

Aspect A3:
The Environment and
Natural Resources

•

Policies on minimising the issuer ’ s
significant impact on the environment and •
natural resources
•
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant •
impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them
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Our performance overview p.84

Our performance overview p.84

Unit consumption metrics p.72
Our performance overview p.84
Our environmental commitments to
address climate change p.69-p.72

Disclosure/Key
performance indicators

Relevant section/
page number/
remarks where applicable

General disclosure:

•

Human Resources Policies and
Practices p.72-p.75

•

Human Resources Policies and
Practices p.72-p.75

•

Disclosure is not mandatory

B. Social
Aspect B1: Employment

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender,
employment type, age group and
geographical region
Recommended disclosure:

Aspect B2: Health
and Safety

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by •
gender, age group and geographical region

Our performance overview p.84

General disclosure:

•

Human Resources Policies and
Practices p.72-p.75

•

Our performance overview p.84

•

Our performance overview p.84

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related
fatalities
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury
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Disclosure/Key
performance indicators

Relevant section/
page number/
remarks where applicable

Recommended disclosure:

•

Disclosure is not mandatory

•

Human Resources Policies and Practices
p.72-p.75

•

Human Resources Policies and Practices
p.72-p.75

•

Human Resources Policies and Practices
p.72-p.75

•

Labour standards p.76-p.77

•

Labour standards p.76-p.77

•

Disclosure is not mandatory

•

Supply chain management p.77

•

Supply chain management p.77

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational
health and safety measures adopted, how
they are implemented and monitored
Aspect B3: Development
and Training

General disclosure:
Policies on improving employees’
knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training
activities
Note: Training refers to vocational
training. It may include internal and
external courses paid by the employer
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees
trained by gender and employee category
(e.g. senior management, middle
management)
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B3.2 The average training hours
completed per employee by gender and
employee category

Aspect B4:
Labour Standards

General disclosure:
Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced
labour
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to
review employment practices to avoid
child and forced labour
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to
eliminate such practices when discovered

Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply
Chain Management

General disclosure:
Policies on managing environmental and
social risks of the supply chain
Recommended disclosure:
K P I B5.1 N u m b e r o f s u p p l i e r s b y
geographical region
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Disclosure/Key
performance indicators

Relevant section/
page number/
remarks where applicable

Recommended disclosure:

•

Disclosure is not mandatory

•

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

•

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

•

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

•

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

•

Not applicable to our business as we
do not manufacture any product

•

Personal data privacy p.81

K P I B5.2 D e s c r i p t i o n o f p r a c t i c e s
relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored
Aspect B6: Product
Responsibility

General disclosure:
Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and
methods of redress
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold
or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service
related complaints received and how they
are dealt with
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating
to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance
process and recall procedures
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data
protection and privacy policies, how they
are implemented and monitored
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Relevant section/
page number/
remarks where applicable

Disclosure/Key
performance indicators
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption General disclosure:

•

Compliance p.78

Information on:

•

Anti-bribery p.78-p.79

(a) the policies; and

•

Trade sanctions p.79-p.80

(b) compliance with relevant laws and •
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

Anti-money laundering p.80-p.81

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering
Recommended disclosure:

•

Anti-bribery p.78-p.79

•

Whisteblowing p.81

•

Investment in the community p.82-p.83.

•

Investment in the community p.82-p.83

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of
the cases
Recommended disclosure:
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive
measures and whistle-blowing procedures,
how they are implemented and monitored
Community
Aspect B8: Community
Investment

General disclosure:
Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests
Recommended disclosure:

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. •
education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport)

Our performance overview p.84

Recommended disclosure:

Investment in the community p.82-p.83

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g.
money or time) to the focus area
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•

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
The financial highlights of the Group for the financial years 2015 to 2019 are summarised
below:
2019
US$ ’m

2018
US$ ’m

2017
US$ ’m

2016
US$ ’m

2015
US$ ’m

Statement of Profit or Loss
Revenues and other income
Costs and expenses
Profit before income tax
Net profit after income tax

1,976
(1,201)
775
702

1,726
(1,040)
685
620

1,401
(850)
551
587

1,193
(719)
474
418

1,091
(690)
401
343

Statement of Financial Position
Cash and short-term deposits
Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

287
739
19,025
19,764

243
257
17,999
18,256

305
572
15,468
16,040

558
820
12,625
13,445

507
754
11,720
12,474

Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

2,141
13,043
15,184

1,709
12,349
14,057

1,724
10,497
12,221

1,190
8,873
10,063

1,215
8,819
10,034

4,581

4,199

3,819

3,382

2,440

1.01
6.60
2.9

0.89
6.05
3.0

0.85
5.50
2.9

0.60
4.87
2.6

0.58
4.14
3.7

Net assets
Financial ratios
Earnings per share (US$)1
Net assets per share (US$)2
Gearing (times)3

1

2

3

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit after tax by total number of shares outstanding
at 31 December of the relevant year. Number of shares outstanding at 31 December 2016 to 31
December 2019 was 694,010,334 and at 31 December 2015 was 589,908,834.
Net assets per share is calculated by dividing net assets by total number of shares outstanding at 31
December of the relevant year. Number of shares outstanding at 31 December 2016 to 31 December
2019 was 694,010,334 and at 31 December 2015 was 589,908,834.
Gearing is calculated by dividing gross debt by total equity of the relevant year.
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2588
2588.HK
2588 HK

DEFINITIONS
In this announcement, the following expressions have the meanings set out below unless the
context requires otherwise:
Terms

Meanings

“AGM”

The annual general meeting of the Company to be held for
the purpose of, among others, approving the audited financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The
meeting will be held on 27 May 2020

“Airbus”

Airbus S.A.S., a societe par actions simplifiee duly created and
existing under French law

“Annual Report”

The annual report of the Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2019 which contains, among others, the audited
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2019 and the Directors’ Statement

“Board”

The board of Directors of the Company

“Board Committees”

The five sub-committees of the Board comprising the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Strategy and Budget Committee and the Risk
Committee

“BOC” or “Bank of China”

Bank of China Limited (中國銀行股份有限公司), a joint stock
limited company incorporated in the PRC on 26 August 2004, the
H-share and A-shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, respectively and the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company

“BOC Group”

BOC and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group)

“BOCGI”

Bank of China Group Investment Limited (中銀集團投資有限公
司), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
on 11 December 1984, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of BOC
and a controlling shareholder of the Company

“BOCHK”

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability on 16 October 1964, and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the BOCHK Holdings
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“BOCHK Holdings”

BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited (中銀香港（控股）有限公
司), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
on 12 September 2001, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and a subsidiary of BOC

“BOCHK Holdings Group”

BOCHK Holdings and its subsidiaries

“Boeing”

The Boeing Company, a corporation organised and existing under
the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, U.S.A.,
and its affiliates

“Constitution”

The constitution of the Company approved on 12 May 2016 which
became effective on the Listing Date

“Company” or
“BOC Aviation”

BOC Aviation Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of
Singapore with limited liability and listed on the Stock Exchange
which, together with its subsidiaries, is engaged in aircraft
leasing, aircraft purchase and sale and related business

“Corporate
Governance Code”

Appendix 14 Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report to the Listing Rules

“Dealing Policy”

The Directors’/Chief Executive Officer’s Dealing Policy adopted
by the Board on 12 May 2016

“Director(s)”

The director(s) of the Company

“Group”

The Company together with its subsidiaries

“HKD”, “HK$” or
“HK Dollar”

The lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong”

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China

“Hong Kong Share
Registrar”

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

“IPO”

The initial public offering of the Company the details of which
can be found in the prospectus of the Company dated 19 May
2016
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“Listing Date”

1 June 2016, being the date on which the Shares of the Company
are first listed for trading on the Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules”

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Model Code”

The Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

“NBV”

Net book value

“PLB”

Purchase and leaseback of aircraft

“PDP”

Pre-delivery payment for aircraft

“RSU Plan”

The BOC Aviation Limited Restricted Share Unit Long Term
Incentive Plan, which was adopted by the Company in December
2017

“Senior Management”

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, Deputy
Managing Director, Deputy Managing Director and Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Commercial Officer (Europe, Americas
and Africa), Chief Commercial Officer (Asia Pacific and the
Middle East) and Chief Operating Officer

“SFC”

The Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

“SFO”

The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), as amended or supplemented from time to time

“Shareholder”

A holder of Shares

“Shares”

Ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company

“Stock Exchange”

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“USD”, “US$” or
“US Dollar”

The lawful currency of the United States of America

“USD LIBOR”

The interest rate calculated by reference to the London interbank
rate for unsecured funds denominated in US Dollar
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PUBLICATION OF FINAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT, ANNUAL REPORT
AND AGM
This final results announcement is published on the websites of the Company at
www.bocaviation.com and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk.
The AGM is scheduled to be held on 27 May 2020. The notice of the AGM and the 2019
Annual Report, including our audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, will be dispatched and made available to the Shareholders in due course.
By order of the Board
BOC Aviation Limited
Zhang Yanqiu Juliana
Company Secretary
Hong Kong, 11 March 2020

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises Mr. Sun Yu as Chairman and
Non-executive Director, Mdm. Zhang Xiaolu and Mr. Robert James Martin as Executive
Directors, Mr. Li Mang, Mr. Liu Chenggang, Mr. Wang Zhiheng and Mdm. Zhu Lin as
Non-executive Directors and Dr. Dai Deming, Mr. Fu Shula, Mr. Antony Nigel Tyler and Dr.
Yeung Yin Bernard as Independent Non-executive Directors.
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BOC AVIATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of BOC Aviation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary companies (collectively, the “Group”)
and the statement of financial position of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

1. Opinion of the directors
In the opinion of the directors,
(i)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the
Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and the financial performance, changes in equity and
cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

2. Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows:
Sun Yu
Zhang Xiaolu
Robert James Martin
Li Mang
Liu Chenggang
Wang Zhiheng
Zhu Lin
Dai Deming
Fu Shula
Antony Nigel Tyler
Yeung Yin Bernard

Chairman
Vice-Chairman and Deputy Managing Director (appointed on 1 January 2020)
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director

3. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures
Except for the “Restricted Share Unit Long Term Incentive Plan” disclosed in section 4 below, neither at
the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose
objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares, options and debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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4. Restricted Share Unit Long Term Incentive Plan
The Company adopted the Restricted Share Unit Long Term Incentive Plan (the “RSU Plan”) on 18
December 2017. The purpose of the RSU Plan is to attract skilled and experienced management and
professional staff, to motivate and reward them to maximise profit and long-term investment returns for
shareholders by providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests in the Company, thereby
aligning the interests of employees with shareholders.
Eligible participants of the RSU Plan are selected employees (including executive directors) of the
Company or any of its subsidiary companies. An independent trustee purchases shares of the Company
from the market and holds such shares on trust in accordance with the rules of the RSU Plan. The RSU
Plan does not involve any issue of new shares by the Company.

5. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures
The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register
required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, interests in shares of
the Company or of related companies as stated below:
Restricted share units granted by the Company but not yet vested:

Name of director
Robert James Martin
Wang Jian1
1

At the beginning of
financial year or
date of
appointment

At the end of
financial year

199,373
34,890

372,708
84,645

Retired as a director on 31 December 2019

Chairman Sun Yu has an interest in 10,000 H shares of Bank of China Limited, its intermediate holding
company, as at the date of appointment as a director of the Company and as at the end of financial year.
Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had
interests in shares of the Company or of related companies either at the beginning of the financial year, or
date of appointment if appointed during the financial year, or at the end of the financial year.
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6. Audit Committee
The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this statement are as follows:
Dai Deming
Antony Nigel Tyler
Fu Shula
Liu Chenggang
Zhu Lin

Chairman, Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director

The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s statutory financial statements, and the Independent Auditor’s
Report thereon, with the auditor.
The Audit Committee may examine any aspect of the Group’s financial affairs it deems appropriate and
also reviews the Group’s internal controls over its internal and external exposures to risks including
operational, credit, market, legal and regulatory risks. It will keep under review the Group’s system of
accounting and internal financial controls, for which the directors are responsible.
The Audit Committee has full access to, and the co-operation of, the Group’s management and has full
discretion to invite any director or executive officer to its meetings. The Deputy Managing Director and
Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Accounting Officer and the Head of Internal Audit will normally attend
meetings and the auditor will have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has
reasonable resources available to enable it to discharge its functions properly and may require the
Company to appoint third parties to undertake independent audits of specific areas as it deems
appropriate.
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7. Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP has expressed its willingness to accept reappointment as auditor. The appointment is
subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Sun Yu
Director

Robert James Martin
Director

Singapore
11 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BOC AVIATION LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of BOC Aviation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary
companies (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and
the Company as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial
position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 (the “Act”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and of the consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on
that date.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and
Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and
Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Singapore and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BOC AVIATION LIMITED

Key Audit Matters (continued)
Carrying value of property, plant and equipment - aircraft
The carrying value of aircraft in property, plant and equipment was significant to the audit because the aircraft
carrying value (including aircraft classified as held for sale) of US$16,760 million as at the end of the reporting
period was material to the financial statements, representing approximately 85% of the Group’s total assets.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, no impairment loss was recorded on aircraft.
As disclosed in Note 3.1(a) to the financial statements, the Group follows the guidance provided by IAS
36/SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets in determining whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
on an aircraft. Management exercises significant judgement in determining whether there is any indication that
any aircraft may have been impaired. This exercise involves management to consider both internal and
external sources of information which include but are not limited to: observable indications that the value of
aircraft has declined during the period significantly more than would be expected as a result of the passage of
time or normal use; aircraft valuation reports provided by external appraisers; significant adverse changes in
the expected usage of the aircraft, technological or aviation environment that have taken place or will take
place in the near future; significant increase in market interest rates; evidence of obsolescence or physical
damage of the aircraft; and worse than expected economic performance of the aircraft. We reviewed
management’s assessment of whether indicators of impairment were present and assessed the
reasonableness of significant judgements used in this review.
In addition, our audit procedures included, amongst others:
•
•
•
•
•

Validating the information used in assessing the financial profitability of individual aircraft by
considering the recoverability of lease rental and comparing lease rental revenue to depreciation and
costs of financing for that aircraft;
Validating the utilisation of aircraft;
Assessing management’s judgement on economic and technological relevance of aircraft and engine
models in the current aviation demand and supply dynamics;
Evaluating the competence and objectivity of the experts employed in the Group’s methodology to
assess whether the value of aircraft has declined significantly; and
Performing sensitivity analyses on aircraft which were not identified as having indicators of impairment
but have a higher risk of impairment due to lower excess when compared to their appraised values,
higher age of aircraft or the existence of operational circumstances.

Furthermore, we assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding the impairment of aircraft, which
are disclosed in Notes 3.1 and 12 to the financial statements.
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Other Information
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Act, IFRSs and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of
assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BOC AVIATION LIMITED

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
•

Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal controls.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during
our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BOC AVIATION LIMITED

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditor have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tan Seng Choon.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
11 March 2020
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Group
Note

2019

2018

US$'000

US$'000

1,704,280
99,225

1,542,539
80,753

134,287
38,160

90,822
11,485

1,975,952

1,725,599

609,664
427,991
24,711
206
79,824
5,671
24,748
28,211

542,834
353,035
23,186
194
91,543
5,384
–
24,198

Revenues
42(a)
4

Lease rental income
Interest and fee income
Other income:
Net gain on sale of aircraft
Others

5

Costs and expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Finance expenses
Amortisation of deferred debt issue costs
Amortisation of lease transaction closing costs
Staff costs
Marketing and travelling expenses
Impairment losses on financial assets
Other operating expenses

12
6
7
8
14
10

(1,201,026)
Profit before income tax
11

Income tax expense
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company

(1,040,374)

774,926

685,225

(72,667)

(64,786)

702,259

620,439

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company:
Basic earnings per share (US$)

41

1.01

0.89

Diluted earnings per share (US$)

41

1.01

0.89

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.
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Group
Note

Profit for the year

2019

2018

US$'000

US$'000

702,259

620,439

(104,520)

(10,718)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to statement of
profit or loss
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges,
net of tax
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges reclassified to profit
or loss, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

29
29

2,433
600,172

(9,022)
600,699

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.
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Group
Note

2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

12

19,002,975
1,536
1,850
–
169
18,625

17,973,481
1,286
14,379
909
146
9,291

19,025,155

17,999,492

523
18,232
2,534
106,432
202,935
84,191
324,426

2,593
7,075
2,451
1,629
152,936
90,047
–

739,273

256,731

19,764,428

18,256,223

55,409
206,298
62,397
431
1,715,233
1,981
34,375
64,766

1,536
156,923
63,569
599
1,438,258
–
47,623
–

2,140,890

1,708,508

Net current liabilities

(1,401,617)

(1,451,777)

Total assets less current liabilities

17,623,538

16,547,715

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Lease transaction closing costs
Derivative financial instruments
Trade receivables
Deferred income tax assets
Other non-current assets

13
14
26

Current assets
Derivative financial instruments
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Other receivables
Short-term deposits
Cash and bank balances
Assets held for sale

13
14
15
16
17
18

Total assets
Current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Income tax payables
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities
Security deposits
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale

13
19
20
21
22
24
18
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Group
Note

2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

13
21
22
24
20
25
26
27

167,086
11,590,702
8,587
250,691
55,709
592,549
334,345
42,955

122,212
10,840,469
–
221,529
60,445
732,133
304,800
67,101

13,042,624

12,348,689

15,183,514

14,057,197

4,580,914

4,199,026

1,157,791
3,515,584
262
8,021
(100,744)

1,157,791
3,037,898
63
1,931
1,343

4,580,914

4,199,026

19,764,428

18,256,223

Non-current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities
Security deposits
Deferred income
Maintenance reserves
Deferred income tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital
Retained earnings
Statutory reserves
Share-based compensation reserves
Hedging reserves

28

29

Total equity
Total
, equity and liabilities

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.
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Note

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

Non-current assets
11,855,841
812
1,850
–
1,424,590
747,227
15,975

10,335,964
711
14,379
909
1,029,400
747,427
8,195

14,046,295

12,136,985

523
12,501
1,598
221,759
31,730
30,766
197,937

2,593
838
1,593
49,051
105,929
13,331
–

496,814

173,335

14,543,109

12,310,320

55,409
146,778
45,182
1,271,859
11,647
1,359
105,614
30,667

1,536
106,106
42,366
439,644
16,505
–
108,027
–

1,668,515

714,184

Net current liabilities

(1,171,701)

(540,849)

Total assets less current liabilities

12,874,594

Property, plant and equipment
Lease transaction closing costs
Derivative financial instruments
Trade receivables
Amounts due from subsidiary companies
Investments in subsidiary companies
Other non-current assets

12
13
14
32
33

Current assets
Derivative financial instruments
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Other receivables
Short-term deposits
Cash and bank balances
Assets held for sale

13
14
15
16
17
18

Total assets
Current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Deferred income
Loans and borrowings
Security deposits
Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities to subsidiary companies
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale

13
19
20
21
24
22
31
18
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Note

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

Non-current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Loans and borrowings
Security deposits
Deferred income
Maintenance reserves
Deferred income tax liabilities
Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities to subsidiary companies
Other non-current liabilities

13
21
24
20
25
26
22
31
27

Total liabilities
Net assets

167,086
8,735,749
152,858
33,860
273,529
120,337
6,560
317,234
34,888

122,212
7,662,543
125,861
30,060
319,801
93,065
–
443,790
56,975

9,842,101

8,854,307

11,510,616

9,568,491

3,032,493

2,741,829

1,157,791
1,923,011
6,851
(55,160)

1,157,791
1,591,555
1,657
(9,174)

3,032,493

2,741,829

14,543,109

12,310,320

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital
Retained earnings
Share-based compensation reserves
Hedging reserves

28

29

Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Note
At 1 January 2018
Profit for the year
Transfers to statutory reserves
Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Transactions with owners of
the Company:
Dividends
Share-based compensation

29

34

At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019
Profit for the year
Transfers to statutory reserves
Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Transactions with owners of
the Company:
Dividends
Share-based compensation
At 31 December 2019
*

Share
capital
US$'000
1,157,791

2,639,874

9

–

–
–

620,439
(54)

–
54

–
–

–
–

3,818,757
620,439
–

–

–

–

(19,740)

(19,740)

–

620,385

54

–

(19,740)

600,699

–
–

(222,361)
–

–
–

–
1,931

–
–

63

1,931

1,343

4,199,026

–
199

–
–

–
–

702,259
–

–
–

34

21,083

Total
equity
US$'000

–

1,157,791

29

Attributable to owners of the Company
Share-based
Retained
Statutory compensation Hedging
reserves
earnings
reserves*
reserves
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000

3,037,898
702,259
(199)

(222,361)
1,931

–

–

–

–

(102,087)

(102,087)

–

702,060

199

–

(102,087)

600,172

–
–

(224,374)
–

–
–

–
6,090

262

8,021

1,157,791

3,515,584

–
–
(100,744)

(224,374)
6,090
4,580,914

In accordance with statutory requirements in China and France, each subsidiary company in these countries is required to make
appropriation of a certain percentage of its annual profit after tax to a statutory reserve until a statutory limit is reached.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Group
Note

2019

2018

US$'000

US$'000

774,926

685,225

609,664
–
24,711
206
(99,225)
(134,287)
427,991
24,748
6,090
–

542,834
62
23,186
194
(80,753)
(90,822)
353,035
–
1,931
(47)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment written off
Amortisation of deferred debt issue costs
Amortisation of lease transaction closing costs
Interest and fee income
Net gain on sale of aircraft
Finance expenses
Impairment losses on financial assets
Share-based compensation
Maintenance reserves written off

12
7
4
5
6
14
8
25

Operating profit before working capital changes

1,634,824
(151,867)
1,509
56,517
(1,172)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables
Increase in payables
Increase in maintenance reserves
Decrease in deferred income
Cash generated from operations

1,539,811
39,760
(546)
(32,913)
99,253

Security deposits received, net
Lease transaction closing costs paid
Income tax paid, net
Interest and fee income received
Net cash flows from operating activities

1,434,845
16,557
11,457
181,959
(3,082)
1,641,736
55,842
(431)
(55,929)
81,454

1,645,365

1,722,672

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

(3,197,250)
1,265,693

(4,143,287)
1,421,651

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(1,931,557)

(2,721,636)

Cash flows from investing activities:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Group
Note

2019

2018

US$'000

US$'000

3,067,962
(1,231,308)

2,140,000
(1,247,380)

(799,000)
(1,955)
(442,665)
(38,325)
(224,374)
3,672
(18,885)

644,000
–
(361,330)
(16,275)
(222,361)
50,424
(7,228)

Net cash flows from financing activities

315,122

979,850

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

28,930
222,733

(19,114)
241,847

251,663

222,733

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayment of loans and borrowings
(Decrease)/increase in borrowings from revolving credit
facilities, net
Repayment of lease liabilities
Finance expenses paid
Debt issue costs paid
Dividends paid
Decrease in cash and bank balances - encumbered
Increase in cash and bank balances - encumbered

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

34

30

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

1.

Corporate information
BOC Aviation Limited (the “Company”) is a public company limited by shares and is listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company’s majority shareholder is Sky
Splendor Limited, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Its shareholder is Bank of China Group
Investment Limited, incorporated in Hong Kong and owned by Bank of China Limited, incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). Bank of China Limited is majority owned by Central Huijin
Investment Limited (“Central Huijin”), which is incorporated in the PRC. Central Huijin is a wholly
owned subsidiary of China Investment Corporation (“CIC”), which is a wholly state-owned company in
the PRC.
The registered address of the Company is 8 Shenton Way, #18-01, Singapore 068811.
The principal activities of the Company, which are conducted in Singapore, are the leasing of aircraft,
management of aircraft leases and other related activities. The subsidiary companies are primarily
engaged in the leasing of aircraft and other related activities as disclosed in Note 33.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of presentation and preparation
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s and the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by US$1,401.6 million (2018: US$1,451.8 million) and US$1,171.7 million (2018: US$540.8 million),
respectively. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the
management is reasonably confident that the Group will have sufficient resources including committed
rental cash flows and unutilised committed banking facilities for it to pay its debts as and when they
fall due.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and are also prepared
in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”) as issued by
the Singapore Accounting Standards Council.
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention, except as disclosed in
the accounting policies and explanatory notes below. The financial statements are presented in the
Group’s functional currency, United States Dollar (“US$” or “US Dollar”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (US$'000), except when otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS and SFRS(I) requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where estimates and assumptions are significant to the financial
statements are disclosed in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the
current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective
for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The adoption of these standards did
not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of the Group and the Company.
The Group adopted IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16 Leases on 1 January 2019. The nature of the changes in this
financial reporting standard is described below:
IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16 Leases
IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16 requires a lessee to recognise leases on the balance sheet but provides
exemptions for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a
lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (“lease liability”) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (“right-of-use asset”). The
lessee will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.
As the Group is primarily a lessor engaging in leasing aircraft, the adoption of this standard did not
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. This standard affects
the accounting for leases of office and facilities spaces where the Group is a lessee. The Group has
adopted this standard using the modified retrospective approach at the date of initial application, 1
January 2019. The Group has chosen on a lease-by-lease basis, to measure the right-of-use asset at
an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid lease payments relating
to that lease recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before 1 January 2019.
In addition, the Group elected the following practical expedients:
∗

not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of initial application and to
apply this standard to all contracts that were previously identified as leases

∗

to apply the exemption not to recognise right-of-use asset and lease liabilities to leases for which
the lease term ends within 12 months from 1 January 2019 and for leases of low-value assets

∗

to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics

Accordingly, for leases of office and facilities spaces previously classified as operating leases, the
Group and the Company recognised the right-of-use assets classified in property, plant and equipment
of US$9.9 million and US$9.2 million, respectively, and total lease liabilities of US$9.9 million and
US$9.2 million, respectively. No changes were made to the opening retained earnings on 1 January
2019.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2

Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)
IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16 Leases (cont’d)
The following table presents the reconciliation of lease liabilities as of 1 January 2019:
Group
US$'000
Minimum lease payments under operating leases as
of 31 December 2018
Recognition exemption for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets
Effect from discounting at the incremental borrowing rate as of 1
January 2019
Contracts reassessed as service agreements
Adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension options
Liabilities recognised based on the initial application of
IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16 as of 1 January 2019

7,393

Company
US$'000

6,582

(135)

(41)

(344)
(923)
3,908

(316)
(923)
3,896

9,899

9,198

The Group’s and the Company’s average incremental borrowing rate for the lease liabilities initially
recognised as of 1 January 2019 was 3.33% per annum.
The Group has not adopted the following new or amended standards which are relevant to the Group
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Standards

Applicable for
financial year
beginning
on or after

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS/SFRS(I)
Standards

1 January 2020

Amendments to IAS 1/SFRS(I) 1-1 and IAS 8/SFRS(I) 1-8: Definition of Material

1 January 2020

Amendments to IFRS 9/SFRS(I) 9, IAS 39/SFRS(I) 1-39 and IFRS 7/SFRS(I) 7:
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

1 January 2020

Based on a preliminary assessment using currently available information, the Group does not expect
the adoption of the above standards to have a material impact on the financial statements in the period
of initial application. These preliminary assessments may be subject to changes arising from ongoing
analyses when the Group adopts the standards. The Group plans to adopt the above standards on
the effective date.
2.3

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiary companies as at 31 December 2019. The financial statements of the subsidiary companies
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting
date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)
All significant balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intragroup transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.
Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

2.4

Functional and foreign currency
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”).
(b) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured at exchange rates approximating those ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of each year. Exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

2.5

Property, plant and equipment
(a) Aircraft
Purchased aircraft on operating lease to airline customers are included under property, plant and
equipment and initially recorded at cost. Such costs include borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the aircraft prior to delivery. Subsequent to recognition, aircraft
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Modifications
and all other costs associated with placing the aircraft in service are capitalised. The cost of aircraft
is stated net of manufacturers’ credits. Expenditure for additions and improvements is capitalised.
Expenditure for maintenance and repairs, unless drawn from maintenance reserves, is charged to
profit or loss.
The carrying values of aircraft are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
(b) Aircraft pre-delivery payments
Pre-delivery payments are recognised under property, plant and equipment when payments are
made for aircraft under construction.
(c) Other plant and equipment
Other plant and equipment comprises office renovations, furniture, fittings and office equipment
and are initially recognised at cost. Subsequent to recognition, these assets are stated at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Cost comprises purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use.
Expenditure for additions and improvements is capitalised. Expenditure for maintenance and
repairs is charged to profit or loss.
(d) Right-of-use assets
In accordance with IFRS 16/SFRS (I) 16 Leases, at the commencement date of the lease, the
Group and the Company recognise right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received.
The right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. Refer to Note 2.8 for the accounting policy.
(e) Depreciation
Aircraft are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 25 years with 15% residual value at the end
of the 25th year for the first 12 years. The remaining value at the end of the 12th year is depreciated
using a straight-line basis over the remaining 13 years with no residual value.
Depreciation on other plant and equipment are calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The estimated useful lives of these property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Office renovations
Furniture, fittings and office equipment
Office and facilities spaces

- 3 to 5 years
- 1 to 3 years
- 1 to 5 years

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.
The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end and
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate, to ensure that the amount, method and period of
depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of
the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
(f) Disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.6

Assets held for sale
Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair value
less costs to sell. Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the sale is highly
probable. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated.

2.7

Lease transaction closing costs
Upfront legal fees and all other initial direct costs incurred in procuring the lease for the aircraft are
capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over the related lease period in profit or loss.
Where the lease agreement is terminated or novated prior to its expiry date, the remaining lease
transaction closing costs will be written off to profit or loss.

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use and is determined for an individual asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value
less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment
loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.9

Subsidiary companies
A subsidiary company is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. In structured entities, the ability
to control does not come from holding the majority of voting shares, but rather from contractual
agreements. Entities are consolidated from the time that the ability to control begins and cease to be
consolidated when the ability to control ends.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are accounted
for at cost less impairment losses.

2.10

Financial instruments
(a) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date which
is the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Subsequent measurement
(i)

Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii)

Investments in other financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10

Financial instruments (cont’d)
(a) Financial assets (cont’d)
Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset
has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income for financial assets is recognised in profit or
loss.
(b) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition.
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities not
at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
(i)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value. Financial
liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in
the near term.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii)

Other financial liabilities
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or
loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and
through the amortisation process.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10

Financial instruments (cont’d)
(b) Financial liabilities (cont’d)
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition
of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or
loss.
(c) Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statement
of financial position, when and only when, there is a currently enforceable legal right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.11

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all financial assets not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
Loss allowances of the Group are measured on either of the following bases:
-

12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is
less than 12 months); or

-

Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.

(a) Simplified approach
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. The
simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.11

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
(b) General approach
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial assets not held
at fair value through profit or loss. Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs at initial recognition.
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking information.
If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the
financial instruments improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.
For the purpose of recognition of an allowance for ECL, the Group considers a financial asset to be in
default:

2.12

-

when the lessee does not pay the amounts due under its lease agreements to the Group in
excess of the security deposit or the value of the collateral; or

-

in the case where the financial asset is not secured, when the financial asset is more than 90
days past due.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as cross-currency interest rate swap, interest
rate swap and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency
and interest rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair values
on the date on which derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair
value. Derivative financial instruments are carried as assets when the fair values are positive and as
liabilities when the fair values are negative.
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair values on derivative financial instruments that do not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in profit or loss.
The fair values of cross-currency interest rate swap, interest rate swap and foreign exchange forward
contracts are determined by marked-to-market values provided by counterparties which approximate
fair value.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (cont’d)
The Group applies hedge accounting for certain hedging relationships which qualify for hedge
accounting.
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:
(a) Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair values of a recognised asset
or liability that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss; and
(b) Cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction and could affect profit or loss.
At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective
and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will
assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged
item’s fair values or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly
effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing
basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the years for which they
were designated.
Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:
(a) Fair value hedges
For fair value hedges, the carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted for gains and losses
attributable to the risk being hedged, the derivative is remeasured at fair value and gains and
losses from the derivative and the hedged item are recognised in profit or loss.
For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the adjustment to carrying value
is amortised through profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge using the effective interest
rate method.
(b) Cash flow hedges
For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is
recognised in hedging reserve, while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts recognised in hedging reserve are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged
transaction affects profit or loss, such as when hedged financial income or financial expense is
recognised or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a
non-financial asset or liability, the amounts recognised in hedging reserve are transferred to the
initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (cont’d)
(b) Cash flow hedges (cont’d)
If the hedged future cashflows are no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in
hedging reserve are transferred to profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked,
amounts previously recognised in hedging reserve remain in other comprehensive income until
the future cashflows occur.

2.13

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, fixed deposits, and short-term, highly liquid
investments with maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.14

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each year and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it
is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation,
the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance
cost.

2.15

Maintenance reserves
The cost of aircraft maintenance, repairs, overhauls and compliance with return conditions for aircraft
on operating lease are paid for by the lessee. For major airframe, engine and other maintenance
events, the lessee will be required to make a maintenance contribution payment to the lessor. Certain
lease agreements require the lessee to make the maintenance contribution payments on a monthly
basis while other leases require the lessee to make the maintenance contribution payment in the form
of a return compensation payment at the end of the lease. Upon receipt by the Group, these monthly
and end of lease maintenance payments are accounted for as maintenance reserve liabilities because
the Group generally reimburses the lessee or a subsequent lessee out of the payments the Group
received when the Group is satisfied that the qualifying major maintenance event has been performed.
Upon expiry of a lease, any shortfall that is identified in the maintenance reserve liabilities for an aircraft
as compared to the expected future reimbursement obligations to a lessee, or any surplus, will be
charged or released to profit or loss. Upon sale of an aircraft, the maintenance reserve liability for that
aircraft which is not transferred to the buyer will be released to profit or loss.
If a lease requires the lessee to pay return compensation payments at the end of the lease, the lessee
may also be required to secure all or a portion of that obligation by a cash deposit or letter of credit. In
some cases, the monthly maintenance payments or end of lease return compensation payments may
be replaced by commitments from a third party, typically the original equipment manufacturer or an
affiliate, which is providing flight hour-based support to the lessee.

A30

BOC AVIATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.16

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use is in progress,
and the expenditure of the asset and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised
until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use. The Group borrows to finance
certain aircraft pre-delivery payments for aircraft under construction. The interest incurred on
borrowings directly attributable to the acquisition of the aircraft under construction is capitalised and
included in the cost of the aircraft, except for the interest incurred for aircraft pre-delivery payments
arising from lease commitment or advances of pre-delivery payments on which the Group earns
income. Capitalisation of interest is suspended during extended periods in which active development
of a qualifying asset is suspended and ceases when the aircraft is delivered. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period they occur.

2.17

Debt issue costs
Debt issue costs are costs incurred in connection with obtaining financing. These costs comprise
primarily front-end fees, agency fees and legal fees.
On initial recognition of a financial liability, debt issue costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial liability are included in the initial measurement of that liability. These costs
are amortised over the related life of the debt using the effective interest method and written off upon
prepayment of the financial liability, except for those debt issue costs relating to credit facilities which
remain available for re-drawing after prepayment.

2.18

Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade and other payables including payables to related parties, which are normally settled
within 30-day credit terms, are initially carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be
paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Group and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

2.19

Employee benefits
(a) Short term employee benefits
All short term employee benefits, including accumulated compensated absences, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the employees render their services to the Group.
(b) Short term incentive plan
The short term incentive plan bonus is payable to employees of the Group when certain key
performance targets for each year are met and payment is to be made over a period. The bonus
is accrued and recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the employees render their
services to the Group. Any over or under provision will be recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.19

Employee benefits (cont’d)
(c) Long term incentive plan
Selected employees of the Group are eligible to participate in the long term incentive plan, which
comprises a cash portion and the RSU Plan. Cash amounts are payable to the participants based
on the achievement of certain key performance targets at the end of a pre-determined period. The
cash amount is accrued and recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the participants
render their services to the Group. Any over or under provision will be recognised in profit or loss.
Payment of accrued cash amounts will be made over a period after each pre-determined period.
With respect to the RSU Plan, a cash amount which is determined based on the achievement of
certain key performance targets of the Group for a financial year will be paid to an independent
trustee in the following year to purchase shares of the Company in the secondary market. These
shares and any accrued dividends will be held on trust for the participants during the vesting
period. The cost of these equity-settled share-based compensation transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of RSU at grant date. This cost is recognised in the profit
or loss over the vesting period (from the date of grant to the date the shares are vested) or the
period of service of the employee who has retired, whichever is shorter. The vesting period is
typically over a period of approximately three years.
(d) Employers’ defined contributions
As required by law, the Group makes contributions to Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) in
Singapore, National Insurance and Pension in United Kingdom, Pay Related Social Insurance in
Ireland, Federal Insurance Contributions in United States of America and Social Insurance in
China. These contributions are recognised as compensation expenses in the period in which the
employees render their services to the Group.

2.20

Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
(a) Where the Group or the Company is the lessor
Leases where the Group or the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income. The accounting policy for rental income is set out
in Note 2.21. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership of the leased asset, are recognised at the inception of the lease term at
the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Lease receipts are apportioned between the finance income and reduction of the leased asset so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the asset. Finance income
are charged directly to profit or loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.20

Leases (cont’d)
(b) Where the Group or the Company is the lessee
The Group or the Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases,
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group or the Company
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right
to use the underlying assets.
(i)

Right-of-use assets
Refer to Note 2.5 (d) and (e) for the accounting policies.

(ii)

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group or the Company recognises lease liabilities
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group or the Company uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount
of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payment.

(iii)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group or the Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to
leases that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.21

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A
performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue
recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation. Revenue is recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be
reliably measured.
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable,
excluding discounts, rebates, and sales taxes or duties.
(a) Lease rental income
Lease rental income is recognised over the lease term as and when rentals become receivable
under the provisions of the lease agreements.
Operating leases with stepped rentals are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
initial lease, assuming no renewals.
(b) Fee income from aircraft pre-delivery payments
Fee income from aircraft pre-delivery payments are recognised as revenue over time following the
timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation.
(c) Remarketing and lease management fees
Remarketing and lease management fees are recognised as revenue at a point in time or over
time following the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation.
(d) Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Company’s right to receive payment is
established.
(e) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
(f) Other income
Other income are recognised based on contractual agreements with the relevant parties.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.22

Taxes
(a) Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
each year, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.
Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to
items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate.
(b) Deferred income tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of each
year between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:
(i) Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
(ii) In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary
companies, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:
(i) where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and
(ii) in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary
companies, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each year and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each year and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.22

Taxes (cont’d)
(b) Deferred income tax (cont’d)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each year.
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss.
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination
is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set
off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same tax authority.

2.23

Contingencies
A contingent liability is:
(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group; or
(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation; or
(ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group.
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statement of financial position of the Group,
except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and
which the fair values can be reliably determined.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.24

Related parties
A related party is defined as follows:
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and the Company if
that person:
(i)

has control or joint control over the Company;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of
the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:
(i)

the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary company and fellow subsidiary company is related to the others);

(ii)

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii)

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the Company;

(vi)

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); or

(vii)

a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each year. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

3.1

Judgements made in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements which have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
(a) Carrying value of aircraft
The Group follows the guidance provided by IAS 36/SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets in
determining whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss on an aircraft. Management
exercises significant judgement in determining whether there is any indication that any aircraft may
have been impaired. This exercise involves management consideration of both internal and
external sources of information which include but are not limited to: observable indications that the
value of aircraft has declined during the period significantly more than would be expected as a
result of the passage of time or normal use; significant adverse changes in the expected usage of
the aircraft, technological or aviation environment that have taken place or will take place in the
near future; significant increase in market interest rates; evidence of obsolescence or physical
damage of the aircraft; and worse than expected economic performance of the aircraft. Analysis
of impairment loss provision is disclosed in Note 12 in the financial statements.
(b) Maintenance of aircraft by lessees
Maintenance, repairs and overhaul of the aircraft placed on operating leases are provided by and
paid for by the lessees. Certain lease agreements require the lessees to make monthly or end of
lease maintenance contributions to the Group which can subsequently be drawn on for certain
maintenance events carried out. Management has made a judgement based on payment records
that as at period end, the lessees are able to fulfil their obligations as stipulated in the lease
agreements.
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.1

Judgements made in applying accounting policies (cont’d)
(c) Impairment of financial assets
The Group follows the guidance of IFRS 9/SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments in determining when
a financial asset is impaired and this requires judgement on the correlation between historical
observed default rates and ECLs.
(d) Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair values of financial instruments recorded in the statement of financial position cannot
be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of valuation models by counterparties. The valuation of financial instruments is
described in more detail in Note 38.
(e) Classification of leases
(i) Operating lease – As lessor
The Group’s aircraft portfolio is on lease with various airlines. The Group has determined that
it retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these aircraft which are leased out
on operating leases.
(ii) Finance lease – As lessor
The Group has entered into aircraft leases whereby the Group has determined that the lessee
has assumed all risks and rewards of ownership. Accordingly, the Group has recorded the
transactions as sales of aircraft and finance lease receivables on the statement of financial
position.
(f) Deferred income taxes
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiary companies, except to the extent that the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The Company is subject to Singapore tax on all of its
foreign pre-tax earnings when earnings are effectively repatriated unless tax exemption is
applicable. Management judgement is required to determine that the undistributed profits of the
subsidiary companies will not be distributed and remitted into Singapore in the foreseeable future.
The Company provides for taxes on the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiary companies
except to the extent that such earnings are invested outside Singapore and likely to remain
invested outside Singapore in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences arising from potential Singapore tax exposure on undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiary companies and overseas unremitted income as at 31 December 2019 was US$1,178.8
million (2018: US$1,172.0 million) for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unabsorbed capital allowances and unutilised tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future business planning decisions.
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.1

Judgements made in applying accounting policies (cont’d)
(f) Deferred income taxes (cont’d)
In January 2017, the Company was awarded the Aircraft Leasing Scheme (“ALS”) Incentive for
five years from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2022 at a concessionary income tax rate of 5%, subject to
meeting certain conditions. Management is reasonably confident that the conditions of the award
will be met.
While the concessionary income tax rates under the ALS have been streamlined to 8% for
approvals on or after 1 April 2017, the Singapore Government further amended the Income Tax
Act in October 2018 for existing ALS recipients to apply the tax rate under their existing award up
till 31 December 2027 on qualifying income from leasing of aircraft or aircraft engines acquired
during their existing award tenure. The Company has exercised judgement in determining the
timing in which the existing portfolio of aircraft are expected to be sold. Consequently, the deferred
tax liability arising from the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of the aircraft and
their tax written down values is computed based on the tax rate applicable in those years.
Details have been disclosed in Note 11 and Note 26.
(g) Assets held for sale
An asset is classified as held for sale when the asset is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary and the sale is highly probable.
Management judgement is required to assess whether the asset meets the conditions to be
classified as assets held for sale and details have been disclosed in Note 18.

3.2

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of each year are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions
about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
(a) Depreciation of aircraft and estimation of residual values
Aircraft are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 25 years with 15% residual value at the end
of the 25th year for the first 12 years. The remaining value at the end of the 12th year is depreciated
using a straight-line basis over the remaining 13 years with no residual value. Management
estimates the useful life to be 25 years based on the common life expectancies applied in the
aircraft leasing industry.
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the
economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets. Therefore, in these circumstances,
future depreciation charges could be revised. A one-year decrease in the expected useful lives of
these assets from management’s estimates would result in an increase in annual depreciation
charges of US$26.7 million (2018: US$23.7 million). Such a decrease in the useful lives of the
Group’s aircraft could affect the Group’s annual profit before tax in future.
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3.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.2

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
(b) Fair values
Fair values of the derivative financial instruments have been determined by marked-to-market
values provided by counterparties as disclosed in Note 13.
Fair values of other financial instruments have been disclosed in Note 38.
(c) Income taxes and deferred income taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Estimation is involved in
determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
Details have been disclosed in Note 11 and Note 26.
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4.

Interest and fee income
Group
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
Interest income from short-term deposits and bank balances
Fee income from aircraft pre-delivery payments
Lease management fee income
Remarketing fee income
Others

5.

4,984
85,960
3,556
1,500
3,225

3,668
66,209
3,392
5,574
1,910

99,225

80,753

Net gain on sale of aircraft

Note

Proceeds from sale of aircraft
Maintenance reserves released
Security deposits released
Net book value of aircraft classified as:
Property, plant and equipment
Assets held for sale
Expenses
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Group
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

25

915,708
142,160
15,157

18

(300,602)
(630,138)
(7,998)

(695,779)
(518,236)
(2,690)

134,287

90,822

1,304,906
2,621
–
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6.

Finance expenses
Group
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
Interest expense and other charges on:
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities*

427,669
322

352,804
231

427,991

353,035

* Interest expense on lease liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRS 16/ SFRS(I) 16 Leases.

7.

Amortisation of deferred debt issue costs

Note

Arising from:
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities

8.

21

Group
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

24,711
–

23,007
179

24,711

23,186

Staff costs
Group
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
Salaries, bonuses and other staff costs
Employers’ defined contributions
Share-based compensation
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71,242
2,492
6,090

86,274
3,338
1,931

79,824

91,543
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8.

Staff costs (cont’d)
Share-based compensation (equity-settled)
The Group has in place a Restricted Share Unit Long Term Incentive Plan for certain employees. The
Restricted Share Units (“RSU”) granted in a financial year will vest in the third year from the year of
grant.
RSUs granted by the Group but not yet vested:
2019

Year of grant
2018
2019

Fair value
at grant date
HK$ per
share
46.61
65.64

Fair value
at grant date
US$
equivalent
per share
5.94
8.36

At
1 January

Granted
during the
period

Forfeited
during the
period

1,273,080
–

–
1,153,695

(25,651)
–

1,247,429
1,153,695

1,273,080

1,153,695

(25,651)

2,401,124

At
1 January

Granted
during the
period

Forfeited
during the
period

–

1,299,300

(26,220)

At
31 December

2018

Year of grant
2018

Fair value
at grant date
HK$ per
share
46.61

Fair value
at grant date
US$
equivalent
per share
5.94

At
31 December
1,273,080

The fair value of RSU at grant date was determined by the average market price at which the shares
of the Company were purchased by an independent trustee in the secondary market.
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9.

Emoluments of directors, five highest paid individuals and senior management
(a) Emoluments paid to directors of the Company during the year
Salaries,
allowances
Employers’
and other Discretionary
defined
benefits
bonus
contributions

Fees

Total

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

Chairman, Non-executive
director1
Sun Yu2

–

–

–

–

–

Executive directors
Wang Jian (ViceChairman)3
Robert James Martin

–
–

550
1,067

926
7,767

–
4

1,476
8,838

140
60
60
45

39
17
17
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

179
77
77
45

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

305

1,690

8,693

4

10,692

2019

Independent nonexecutive directors
Antony Nigel Tyler
Dai Deming
Fu Shula
Yeung Yin Bernard
Non-executive directors1
Li Mang
Liu Chenggang
Wang Zhiheng4
Zhu Lin
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9.

Emoluments of directors, five highest paid individuals and senior management (cont’d)
(a) Emoluments paid to directors of the Company during the year (cont’d)

Salaries,
allowances
Employers’
and other Discretionary
defined
benefits
bonus
contributions

Fees

Total

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

Chairman, Non-executive
director1
Sun Yu2

–

–

–

–

–

Executive directors
Wang Jian (ViceChairman)3
Robert James Martin

–
–

536
1,059

385
6,420

–
4

921
7,483

140
60
60
45

40
17
17
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

180
77
77
45

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

305

1,669

6,805

4

8,783

2018

Independent nonexecutive directors
Antony Nigel Tyler
Dai Deming
Fu Shula
Yeung Yin Bernard
Non-executive directors1
Li Mang
Liu Chenggang
Wang Zhiheng4
Zhu Lin

1

2
3
4

In 2018 and 2019, the non-executive Chairman and non-executive directors (other than independent non-executive
directors) were not entitled to any emoluments under their respective engagement letters
Appointed on 27 February 2019
Retired on 31 December 2019
Appointed on 22 October 2018
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Emoluments of directors, five highest paid individuals and senior management (cont’d)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
In the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include one (2018: one) executive director whose emoluments are reflected
in Note 9(a).
The emoluments paid to the remaining four (2018: four) individuals during the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

Salaries, allowances and other benefits
Discretionary bonus
Employers’ defined contributions

2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

2,403
9,498
413

2,414
7,839
376

12,314

10,629

The number of such individuals whose emoluments paid during the year ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 fell within the following bands:

HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000
HK$18,000,001 to HK$18,500,000
HK$19,000,001 to HK$19,500,000
HK$23,000,001 to HK$23,500,000
HK$25,000,001 to HK$25,500,000
HK$27,500,001 to HK$28,000,000

2019

2018

–
1
–
–
2
1

1
–
1
1
1
–

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no directors or any of the five highest paid
individuals received any emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group as compensation for loss of office.
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Emoluments of directors, five highest paid individuals and senior management (cont’d)
(c) Senior management’s emoluments
The number of senior management whose emoluments paid during the year ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 fell within the following bands:

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000
HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17,000,000
HK$19,000,001 to HK$19,500,000
HK$23,000,001 to HK$23,500,000
HK$25,000,001 to HK$25,500,000
HK$27,500,001 to HK$28,000,000
HK$58,500,001 to HK$59,000,000
HK$69,000,001 to HK$69,500,000

10.

2019

2018

1
–
–
1
1
–
–
2
1
–
1

–
1
1
–
–
1
1
1
–
1
–

Other operating expenses
Group

General office expenses
Operating lease expenses
Technical services expenses
Professional fees
Auditors’ remuneration
Net foreign exchange losses1
Other taxes and expenses

2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

5,119
472
9,825
3,674
396
470
8,255

4,895
2,250
3,867
5,189
393
413
7,191

28,211

24,198

Technical services expenses include net provisions for repair, maintenance, transition and
repossession costs of aircraft.
1

Included foreign exchange gain of US$7.3 million (2018: US$12.5 million) in revaluation of financial liabilities which was offset
by fair value loss of US$7.3 million (2018: US$12.5 million) in derivative financial instruments.
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Income tax expense
The major components of income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are:
Group
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
Current income tax
Singapore
Foreign
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years

(28)
32,681
222

(40)
56,377
(7)

32,875

56,330

33,650
11,182
(5,040)

21,207
(11,930)
(821)

39,792

8,456

72,667

64,786

Deferred income tax
Singapore
Foreign
Over provision in respect of prior years

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable
corporate tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:
Group
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
Profit before income tax

774,926

685,225

Tax at the Singapore tax rate of 17% (2018:17%)
Adjustments:
Different tax rates in foreign jurisdictions
Effects of Aircraft Leasing Scheme incentive on the Company’s
results
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Others
Over provision in respect of prior years, net

131,737

116,488

12,656

17,726

(69,710)
(892)
3,327
367
(4,818)

(72,172)
(388)
3,329
631
(828)

72,667

64,786
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12.

Property, plant and equipment

Group
Cost:
At 1 January 2018
Additions
Disposals/reductions
Transfers
Transfer to assets held for sale
Adjustments

Aircraft
US$'000

Aircraft
pre-delivery
payments
US$'000

Office
renovations
US$'000

Furniture,
fittings and
office
equipment
US$'000

15,041,583
1,698,738
(915,731)
1,345,149
(407,639)
1,992

2,004,277
2,471,401
(116,745)
(1,345,149)
–
(85)

1,603
547
(257)
–
–
–

11,383
1,846
(46)
–
–
–

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
Adoption of IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16
Additions
Disposals/reductions
Transfers
Transfer to assets held for sale
Adjustments

16,764,092
–
2,173,757
(407,217)
1,167,922
(1,206,620)
(2,824)

3,013,699
–
1,059,072
(349,985)
(1,167,922)
–
–

1,893
–
104
–
–
–
(107)

13,183
–
2,142
(180)
–
–
–

–
9,899
2,278
(16)
–
–
–

At 31 December 2019

18,489,110

2,554,864

1,890

15,145

12,161
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Right-of-use
asset
US$'000
–
–
–
–
–
–

Total
US$'000
17,058,846
4,172,532
(1,032,779)
–
(407,639)
1,907
19,792,867
9,899
3,237,353
(757,398)
–
(1,206,620)
(2,931)
21,073,170
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12.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Aircraft
US$'000

Aircraft
pre-delivery
payments
US$'000

Group
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
At 1 January 2018
Charge for the year
Disposals
Transfer to assets held for sale

1,613,609
540,701
(219,952)
(127,938)

–
–
–
–

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
Charge for the year
Disposals
Transfer to assets held for sale

1,806,420
605,689
(106,615)
(252,056)

At 31 December 2019

Office
renovations
US$'000

Furniture,
fittings
and office
equipment
US$'000

Right-of-use
asset
US$'000

Total
US$'000

1,060
208
(195)

10,014
1,925
(46)
–

–
–
–
–

1,624,683
542,834
(220,193)
(127,938)

–
–
–
–

1,073
304
–
–

11,893
1,801
(180)
–

–
1,870
(4)
–

1,819,386
609,664
(106,799)
(252,056)

2,053,438

–

1,377

13,514

1,866

2,070,195

Net book value:
At 31 December 2018

14,957,672

3,013,699

820

1,290

–

17,973,481

At 31 December 2019

16,435,672

2,554,864

513

1,631

10,295

19,002,975

A51

–

BOC AVIATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

12.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Company
Cost:
At 1 January 2018
Additions
Disposals/reductions
Transfer to assets held for sale
Adjustments

Aircraft
US$'000

Furniture,
Aircraft
fittings and Right-of-use Right-of-use
pre-delivery
Office
asset
asset
office
payments renovations equipment
(Aircraft)
(Others)
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000

9,607,755
1,940,905
(654,439)
(73,000)
(2,718)

129,941
387,141
–
–
(85)

1,146
547
(25)
–
–

11,144
1,647
(42)
–
–

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 10,818,503
Adoption of IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16
(1,491,988)
Additions
2,158,483
Disposals/reductions
(161,226)
Transfer
406,033
Transfer to assets held for sale
(635,077)
Adjustments
(24)

516,997
–
480,527
(62,816)
(406,033)
–
–

1,668
–
–
–
–
–
(107)

12,749
–
1,918
(180)
–
–
99

528,675

1,561

14,586

At 31 December 2019

11,094,704
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–
–
–
–
–

Total
US$'000

–
–
–
–
–

9,749,986
2,330,240
(654,506)
(73,000)
(2,803)

–
1,491,988
–
–
–
–
(825)

–
9,198
–
–
–
–
–

11,349,917
9,198
2,640,928
(224,222)
–
(635,077)
(857)

1,491,163

9,198

13,139,887

BOC AVIATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

12.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Company
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
At 1 January 2018
Charge for the year
Disposals
Transfer to assets held for sale

Aircraft
US$'000

Furniture,
Aircraft
fittings and Right-of-use Right-of-use
pre-delivery
Office
asset
asset
office
payments renovations equipment
(Aircraft)
(Others)
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000
US$'000

Total
US$'000

839,373
347,565
(162,951)
(22,507)

–
–
–
–

882
109
(24)
–

9,806
1,740
(40)
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

850,061
349,414
(163,015)
(22,507)

1,001,480
(264,285)
352,109
(24,862)
(111,424)

–
–
–
–
–

967
–
243
–
–

11,506
–
1,735
(180)
–

–
264,285
50,964
–
–

–
–
1,508
–
–

1,013,953
–
406,559
(25,042)
(111,424)

953,018

–

1,210

13,061

315,249

1,508

1,284,046

Net book value:
At 31 December 2018

9,817,023

516,997

701

1,243

–

–

10,335,964

At 31 December 2019

10,141,686

528,675

351

1,525

1,175,914

7,690

11,855,841

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
Adoption of IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16
Charge for the year
Disposals
Transfer to assets held for sale
At 31 December 2019
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12.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
(a) Impairment of assets
As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, there was no impairment loss on the Group’s
and the Company’s property, plant and equipment.
Movement of accumulated impairment loss provision:
Group
2019
US$'000
At 1 January
Utilised

–
–

At 31 December

–

2018
US$'000
4,700
(4,700)
–

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
–
–
–

4,700
(4,700)
–

(b) Right-of-use assets
The Group and the Company have lease contracts for its office and facilities spaces. The
Company also has lease contracts for aircraft as a lessee with its subsidiary companies.
The Group and the Company have certain leases that either have lease terms of 12 months or
less or are of low value. The Group and the Company apply the exemption under IFRS 16/SFRS(I)
16 Leases not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for these leases.
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
(c) Reconciliation of capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment to net cash flows
used in investing activities
Extract from Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Group
2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

(3,197,250)
1,265,693

(4,143,287)
1,421,651

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(1,931,557)

(2,721,636)

Additions of aircraft
Additions of aircraft pre-delivery payments
Additions of other property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of aircraft
Refunds from airlines for aircraft pre-delivery payments upon
delivery of aircraft
Adjustments for capitalised borrowing costs

(2,173,757)
(1,059,072)
(2,246)
915,708

(1,698,738)
(2,471,401)
(2,393)
1,304,906

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(1,931,557)

Cash flows from investing activities:

349,985
37,825

116,745
29,245
(2,721,636)

(d) Assets pledged as security
The net book value of aircraft and aircraft held for sale (Note 18) owned by the Group and the
Company, including aircraft held under lease arrangements (Note 31), that have been charged for
loan facilities granted (Note 21 and Note 31) by way of mortgages and/or by way of a pledge by
the Company of all its benefits in respect of its entire shareholding in certain subsidiary companies
which hold title to such aircraft (Note 33) amounted to US$2,915.3 million (2018: US$3,258.5
million) and US$1,832.4 million (2018: US$1,977.7 million), respectively.
(e) Capitalisation of borrowing costs
The borrowing costs capitalised as cost of aircraft by the Group and the Company amounted to
US$37.8 million (2018: US$29.2 million) and US$4.7 million (2018: nil). The rate used to determine
the amount of borrowing costs for capitalisation ranged from 2.5% to 3.6% (2018: 2.4% to 3.2%)
per annum.
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13.

Derivative financial instruments
Group and Company
2019
Outstanding
notional
amounts
US$'000

2018

Assets
US$'000

Liabilities
US$'000

Outstanding
notional
amounts
US$'000

–
523

(55,215)
(194)

–
600,000

523

(55,409)

182
1,668

(58,886)
(108,200)

1,850

(167,086)

Assets
US$'000

Liabilities
US$'000

–
2,593

–
(1,536)

2,593

(1,536)

2,859
11,520

(99,733)
(22,479)

14,379

(122,212)

Current:
Cross-currency
interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps

379,788
280,000

Non-current:
Cross-currency
interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps

693,194
3,615,000

875,019
2,890,000

The fair values of interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps as shown above are
determined with reference to marked-to-market values provided by counterparties.
Hedge accounting has been applied for interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps
that are assessed by the Group to be highly effective hedges.
The Group determines the economic relationship between the loans and borrowings and the
derivatives by matching the critical terms of the hedging instruments with the terms of the hedged
items. The hedge ratio (the ratio between the notional amount of the derivative financial instrument to
the amount of the loans and borrowings being hedged) is determined to be 1:1. There were no
expected sources of ineffectiveness on the Group’s hedges as the critical terms of the derivatives
match exactly with the terms of the hedged items.
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13.

Derivative financial instruments (cont’d)
The following hedging instruments used by the Group and the Company are shown as derivative
financial instruments in the statement of financial position:
Outstanding
notional
Assets/
amounts (Liabilities)
US$'000
US$'000

Hedge rates
USD interest rates
Foreign
(p.a.)
currency rates

Maturity
(Year)

2019
Group and Company
Fair value hedge
Cross-currency interest rate
swaps1

(82,664)

6-month LIBOR +
Margin ranging from
1.70% to 1.96%

US$1 : AUD1.06
to AUD1.08

2020 to 2021

(19,244)

6-month LIBOR +
Margin ranging from
0.64% to 2.28%

US$1 : CNY6.04
to CNY6.57

2020 to 2024

200,000

(194)

6-month LIBOR +
Margin ranging from
1.28% to 1.38%

–

2020

140,590

(3,151)

3.43%

US$1 : AUD1.42

2029

40,000

(4,137)

2.95%

US$1 : CNY6.25

2020

- Hong Kong Dollar

159,837

(4,926)

3.72% to 4.13%

- Singapore Dollar

108,883

- Australian Dollar

- Chinese Yuan
Interest rate swaps

373,493

250,179
2

- United States Dollar
Cash flow hedge
Cross-currency interest rate
swaps3
- Australian Dollar
- Chinese Yuan

203

US$1 : HK$7.81 to
US$1 : HK$7.84

2026 to 2027

4.00%

US$1 : SGD1.33

2025

1.975% to 4.242%

–

2020 to 2025

4

Interest rate swaps
- United States Dollar

3,695,000

(106,009)
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Derivative financial instruments (cont’d)
Outstanding
notional
Assets/
amounts (Liabilities)
US$'000
US$'000

Hedge rates
USD interest rates
Foreign
(p.a.)
currency rates

Maturity
(Year)

2018
Group and Company
Fair value hedge
Cross-currency interest rate
swaps1

(81,001)

6-month LIBOR +
Margin ranging from
1.70% to 1.96%

US$1 : AUD1.06
to AUD 1.08

2020 to 2021

(15,154)

6-month LIBOR +
Margin ranging from
0.64% to 2.28%

US$1 : CNY6.04
to CNY 6.57

2020 to 2024

500,000

(4,806)

6-month LIBOR +
Margin ranging from
1.283% to 2.05%

–

2019 to 2020

40,000

(2,846)

2.95%

US$1 : CNY6.25

2020

- Hong Kong Dollar

102,464

(732)

3.72%

US$1 : HK$7.81

2027

- Singapore Dollar

108,883

2,859

4.00%

US$1 : SGD1.33

2025

(5,096)

1.975% to 4.242%

–

2019 to 2025

- Australian Dollar

- Chinese Yuan

373,493

250,179

Interest rate swaps2

- United States Dollar
Cash flow hedge
Cross-currency interest rate
swaps3
- Chinese Yuan

Interest rate swaps4
- United States Dollar

2,990,000

1

The Group uses these cross-currency interest rate swaps to hedge against the exposure to exchange
rates and interest rates arising from the Group’s non-US Dollar loans and borrowings which are
liabilities designated as hedged items in fair value hedge. Under these cross-currency interest rate
swaps, the Group receives non-US Dollar principal and fixed interest and pays US Dollar principal
and floating interest pegged to US Dollar LIBOR. These hedges are classified as fair value hedges
and the fair value changes of these cross-currency interest rate swaps are recognised in profit or
loss.

2

The Group uses these interest rate swaps to hedge against the exposure to interest rates arising
from the Group’s US Dollar loans and borrowings which are liabilities designated as hedged items in
fair value hedge. Under these interest rate swaps, the Group receives fixed interest and pays floating
interest pegged to US Dollar LIBOR. These hedges are classified as fair value hedges and the fair
value changes of these interest rate swaps are recognised in profit or loss.
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13.

14.

Derivative financial instruments (cont’d)
3

The Group uses these cross-currency interest rate swaps to hedge against (i) the exposure to
exchange rates of loans and borrowings issued in non-US Dollar currencies (fair value hedge) and
(ii) the exposure to variability in cash flows for the related loans and borrowings (cash flow hedge).
Under these cross-currency interest rate swaps, the Group receives non-US Dollar principal and
fixed interest, and pays US Dollar principal and fixed interest. The cross-currency interest rate swaps
are bifurcated into two portions. The portion of the fair value change attributable to changes in the
exchange rate are recognised in profit or loss, and the remaining portion attributable to cash flow
variability is recognised in hedging reserve.

4

The Group uses these interest rate swaps to hedge against the exposure to variability in cash flows
from the related loans and borrowings which are pegged to US Dollar LIBOR. Under these interest
rate swaps, the Group receives floating interest pegged to US Dollar LIBOR and pays fixed interest.
These hedges are classified as cash flow hedges and the fair value changes of these interest rate
swaps are recognised in hedging reserve.

Trade receivables
Group
2019

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

US$'000

2018
US$'000

42,980
–

7,075
909

29,785
–

838
909

42,980

7,984

29,785

1,747

Trade receivables – gross carrying amount
Current
Non-current

Less: Impairment losses charged for the
year

(24,748)

Trade receivables – net of allowance for
impairment losses
Current
Non-current

–

(17,284)

–

18,232

7,984

12,501

1,747

18,232
–

7,075
909

12,501
–

838
909

18,232

7,984

12,501

1,747

Trade receivables are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on
initial recognition and are generally received monthly in advance. Trade receivables are generally
secured by cash security deposits or letters of credit. As at 31 December 2018, included in the current
and non-current portion of trade receivables was an amount of US$4.2 million and US$0.9 million,
respectively, that was contractually deferred by mutual agreement and was interest bearing. None of
the trade receivables as at 31 December 2019 was subject to a deferral arrangement.
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14.

Trade receivables (cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group and the Company recognise an allowance for impairment losses by providing for expected
credit losses when the lessee does not pay the amounts due under its lease agreements in excess of
the security deposit or the value of the collateral.
As at 31 December 2019, the aging of the current portion of trade receivables based on the receivables
due date was as follows:
Group

2019

Gross carrying amount
Allowance for impairment
losses

Current

Less
than
30 days
past due

30 to 60
days
past due

61 to 90
days
past due

More
than
90 days
past due

Total

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

109

8,945

7,933

4,946

21,047

42,980

–

(2,590)

(2,696)

(1,583)

(17,879)

(24,748)

Company

Current

Less
than
30 days
past due

30 to 60
days
past due

61 to 90
days
past due

More
than
90 days
past due

Total

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

Gross carrying amount

–

7,017

6,357

4,946

11,465

29,785

Allowance for impairment
losses

–

(2,434)

(2,283)

(1,583)

(10,984)

(17,284)

2019

2018
As at 31 December 2018, none of the Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables was past due or
impaired.
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15.

Other receivables
Group
2019

Deposits
Sundry receivables
Accrued income
Amounts due from subsidiary companies

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

US$'000

2018
US$'000

680
105,212
540
–

596
636
397
–

574
103,742
10,575
106,868

567
242
6,920
41,322

106,432

1,629

221,759

49,051

The sundry receivables of the Group and the Company are non-trade related, unsecured and included
an amount of US$103.2 million (2018: nil) due from a manufacturer which was contractually deferred
by mutual agreement in return for a fee. Subsequent to 31 December 2019, this amount was further
deferred for another year in return for a fee. The balance amounts of sundry receivables of the Group
and the Company are non-interest bearing.
The amounts due from subsidiary companies are non-trade related, unsecured, interest free and are
repayable on demand.

16.

Short-term deposits
Group
Note

Unencumbered

30

2019
US$'000
202,935

2018
US$'000
152,936

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
31,730

105,929

Short-term deposits consist of fixed deposits and investments in money market funds which are placed
for varying periods between one day and three months depending on cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The weighted average effective interest
rate for fixed deposits and money market funds were 2.4% (2018: 2.0%) and 2.2% (2018: 2.2%) per
annum, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019, there were no short-term deposits placed with the intermediate holding
company by the Group (2018: US$45.0 million) and the Company (2018: US$45.0 million). As at 31
December 2019, there were no short-term deposits placed with other related parties by the Group
(2018: US$12.0 million) and the Company (2018: nil).
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17.

Cash and bank balances
Group
Note

Encumbered
Unencumbered

30

2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

2019
US$'000

Company
2018
US$'000

35,463
48,728

20,250
69,797

16,923
13,843

8,313
5,018

84,191

90,047

30,766

13,331

The Group’s and the Company’s encumbered cash and bank balances have been pledged for loan
obligations (Note 21) and contingency provisions under such obligations.
The Group’s and Company’s cash and bank balances included an amount of US$13.4 million
(2018: US$33.8 million) and US$8.8 million (2018: US$0.6 million), respectively, placed in daily sweep
accounts which are available upon demand.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and bank balances included an amount of US$14.1 million
(2018: US$11.4 million) placed with the intermediate holding company.
Cash and bank balances were denominated in US Dollar except for the following:
Group

Australian Dollar
Chinese Yuan
Euro
Hong Kong Dollar
Japanese Yen
Malaysian Ringgit
Sterling Pound
Singapore Dollar

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

87
5,148
1,644
316
981
–
1,154
853

151
7,146
1,666
314
969
93
33
50

–
–
1,033
316
–
–
–
853

–
–
1,064
314
–
–
–
50

10,183

10,422

2,202

1,428
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18.

Assets held for sale and liabilities associated with assets held for sale
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s and Company’s aircraft which met the criteria to be
classified as assets held for sale were as follows:
Group
US$'000

2018
US$'000

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

–
954,564
(630,138)

238,535
279,701
(518,236)

–
523,653
(325,716)

2019
Assets held for sale:
Property, plant and equipment – aircraft
At beginning of year
Additions
Disposals

324,426

At end of year

–

Group
Note
Liabilities associated with assets
held for sale:
Maintenance reserve payables
25
Security deposits

2019

197,937

229,550
50,493
(280,043)
–

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

US$'000

2018
US$'000

58,741
6,025

–
–

26,099
4,568

–
–

64,766

–

30,667

–
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19.

Trade and other payables
Group
2019

Trade payables
Sundry payables
Accrued interest expenses
Accrued maintenance reserve
payables
Accrued technical expenses
Staff costs related accruals
Other accruals and liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiary companies

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

US$'000

2018
US$'000

70
4,603
95,191

258
2,728
76,521

56
2,455
82,952

–
1,380
61,221

37,613
2,673
54,153
11,995
–

7,271
1,926
44,070
24,149
–

11,375
950
44,638
1,742
2,610

738
629
36,440
2,621
3,077

206,298

156,923

146,778

106,106

Trade payables and sundry payables are substantially denominated in US Dollar, non-interest bearing,
current in nature and are normally settled on 30-day credit terms.
The table below summarises the aging of trade payables based on invoice due date:
Group
2019
US$'000
36
34
–
–
–

256
–
–
–
2

23
33
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

70

258

56

–

Current
1 – 30 days
31 – 60 days
61 – 90 days
More than 90 days

20.

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

2018
US$'000

Deferred income
Deferred income (current) relates to advance receipts for lease and other income for which services
have not yet been rendered.
Deferred income (non-current) relates to the difference between the nominal value of the security
deposits (Note 24) and their fair value. The deferred income is charged to profit or loss on a straightline basis over the lease term.
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21.

Loans and borrowings
Group
2019
Current:
Medium term notes
Loans
Medium term notes discount
(net of premium)
Fair value and revaluation
adjustments
Deferred debt issue costs

Non-current:
Medium term notes
Loans
Medium term notes discount
(net of premium)
Fair value and revaluation
adjustments
Deferred debt issue costs

Total loans and borrowings

US$'000

2018
US$'000

1,129,788
650,273

300,000
1,150,566

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
1,129,788
198,865

300,000
142,239

(213)

(241)

(213)

(241)

(55,547)
(9,068)

(1,536)
(10,531)

(55,547)
(1,034)

(1,536)
(818)

1,715,233

1,438,258

1,271,859

439,644

7,833,194
3,900,021

6,865,019
4,160,037

7,833,194
1,007,170

6,865,019
936,035

(19,058)

(9,639)

(19,058)

(9,639)

(53,562)
(69,893)

(106,498)
(68,450)

(53,562)
(31,995)

(106,498)
(22,374)

11,590,702

10,840,469

8,735,749

7,662,543

13,305,935

12,278,727

10,007,608

8,102,187
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21.

Loans and borrowings (cont’d)
The deferred debt issue costs relating to the obtaining of the loans are analysed as follows:
Group
2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
Fully amortised costs written off
Adjustments

162,235
24,695
(15,637)
(4)

158,608
15,403
(11,640)
(136)

37,919
17,496
(1,962)
(4)

32,536
8,061
(2,554)
(124)

At end of year

171,289

162,235

53,449

37,919

83,254
24,711
(15,637)

71,887
23,007
(11,640)

14,727
7,655
(1,962)

10,957
6,324
(2,554)

92,328

83,254

20,420

14,727

At end of year

78,961

78,981

33,029

23,192

Deferred debt issue costs, net
Less: Current portion

78,961
(9,068)

78,981
(10,531)

33,029
(1,034)

23,192
(818)

Non-current portion

69,893

68,450

31,995

22,374

Accumulated amortisation:
At beginning of year
Charge for the year (Note 7)
Fully amortised costs written off
At end of year
Net book value:
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21.

Loans and borrowings (cont’d)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the gross loans and borrowings before adjustments
for deferred debt issue costs, fair value, revaluations and discounts/premiums to medium term notes
at the end of each year for the Group and the Company.
Group
One year
or less

One to two
years

Two to five
years

Over five
years

Total

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

1,129,788

1,185,873

3,788,011

2,859,310

8,962,982

650,273

790,682

3,098,745

10,594

4,550,294

1,780,061

1,976,555

6,886,756

2,869,904

13,513,276

300,000

1,129,788

3,674,174

2,061,057

7,165,019

Loans

1,150,566

828,324

3,155,115

176,598

5,310,603

Total gross loans and
borrowings

1,450,566

1,958,112

6,829,289

2,237,655

12,475,622

2019
Medium term notes
Loans
Total gross loans and
borrowings

2018
Medium term notes

Company
One year
or less
US$'000

One to two
years
US$'000

Two to five
years
US$'000

Over five
years
US$'000

Total
US$'000

1,129,788

1,185,873

3,788,011

2,859,310

8,962,982

198,865

50,552

956,618

–

1,206,035

1,328,653

1,236,425

4,744,629

2,859,310

10,169,017

Medium term notes

300,000

1,129,788

3,674,174

2,061,057

7,165,019

Loans

142,239

438,865

461,264

35,906

1,078,274

Total gross loans and
borrowings

442,239

1,568,653

4,135,438

2,096,963

8,243,293

2019
Medium term notes
Loans
Total gross loans and
borrowings
2018
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21.

Loans and borrowings (cont’d)
As at 31 December 2019, secured loans amounted to US$1,330.3 million (2018: US$1,686.6 million)
and US$476.0 million (2018: US$523.3 million) for the Group and the Company, respectively. These
amounts are secured by the related aircraft (Note 12), certain cash and bank balances and designated
bank accounts (Note 17) and/or a pledge of the shares in certain subsidiary companies (Note 33) that
hold title to aircraft.
In addition, the Company and certain subsidiary companies have provided negative pledges relating
to all of these companies’ assets and revenues (other than any encumbrance in existence at the time
the negative pledge is entered into or created subsequently to secure finance to acquire or re-finance
any aircraft).
(a) Medium term notes
Outstanding notes issued at fixed coupon rate and floating rate denominated in various currencies
issued were:
Group and Company
2019

Fixed Coupon Rate
Currency
(p.a.)
Australian Dollar
3.15% to 5.375%
Chinese Yuan
4.5% to 5.5%
Hong Kong Dollar
3.25% to 3.6%
Singapore Dollar
3.93%
United States Dollar 2.375% to 4.375%

Maturity

Outstanding
amounts

Amounts
swapped to US$
and floating rates

Amounts
swapped to US$
and fixed rates

(Year)

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

2020 to 2029
2020 to 2024
2026 to 2027
2025
2020 to 2029

514,083
290,179
159,837
108,883
6,450,000
7,522,982

373,493
250,179

–
–

140,590
40,000
159,837
108,883

200,000
823,672

449,310

1,440,000

–

1,440,000

8,962,982

823,672

1,889,310

Floating Rate
(p.a.)
3-month LIBOR +
Margin ranging from
United States Dollar
1.05% to 1.30%
2021 to 2025

–

Currency
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21.

Loans and borrowings (cont’d)
(a) Medium term notes (cont’d)
Group and Company
2018

Maturity

Outstanding
amounts

Amounts
swapped to US$
and floating rates

Amounts
swapped to US$
and fixed rates

(Year)

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

373,493
290,179
102,464
108,883
4,850,000
5,725,019

373,493
250,179
–
–
500,000
1,123,672

–
40,000
102,464
108,883
–
251,347

1,440,000

–

1,440,000

7,165,019

1,123,672

1,691,347

Fixed Coupon Rate
Currency
(p.a.)
Australian Dollar
2020 to 2021
5.375%
Chinese Yuan
4.5% to 5.5%
2020 to 2024
Hong Kong Dollar
3.25%
2027
Singapore Dollar
2025
3.93%
United States Dollar 2.375% to 4.375% 2019 to 2027
Floating Rate
(p.a.)
3-month LIBOR +
Margin ranging from
United States Dollar
1.05% to 1.30%
2021 to 2025
Currency

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of US$823.7 million (2018: US$1,123.7 million) in medium
term notes of the Group and the Company has been swapped to floating rate liabilities and US
Dollars (for non-US Dollar denominated notes) via interest rate swap and cross-currency interest
rate swap contracts. The carrying amount of these medium term notes was US$721.2 million
(2018: US$1,021.4 million). These notes are liabilities designated as hedged items in fair value
hedge and classified under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The floating interest rate ranged
from 2.6% to 5.0% (2018: 1.9% to 4.9%) per annum during the year.
Effects of fair value hedges on the notes in 2019 and 2018 were as follows:
Group and Company
2019
Accumulated
amount of fair
Discount and
value and
Outstanding deferred debt
revaluation
amounts
issue costs
adjustments
Fair value hedge
Foreign currency and interest rate risks
- Cross-currency interest rate swaps
- Interest rate swaps

US$'000

US$'000

623,672
200,000
823,672

A69

Carrying
amounts of
liabilities
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(278)
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199,701

(383)

(102,102)

721,187

BOC AVIATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

21.

Loans and borrowings (cont’d)
(a) Medium term notes (cont’d)
Group and Company
2018
Accumulated
amount of fair
Discount and
value and
Outstanding deferred debt
revaluation
amounts
issue costs
adjustments
Fair value hedge
Foreign currency and interest rate risks
- Cross-currency interest rate swaps
- Interest rate swaps

US$'000

Carrying
amounts of
liabilities

US$'000

US$'000

US$'000

623,672
500,000

(532)
(874)

(96,097)
(4,805)

527,043
494,321

1,123,672

(1,406)

(100,902)

1,021,364

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of US$449.3 million (2018: US$251.3 million) in medium
term notes of the Group and the Company which was denominated in non-US Dollar currencies
at fixed rates has been swapped to US Dollars and at fixed rates via cross-currency interest rate
swap contracts to hedge (i) the exposure to exchange rates of loans and borrowings issued in
non-US Dollar currencies (fair value hedge) and (ii) the exposure to variability in cash flows for
the related borrowings (cash flow hedge). The portion of the fair value change attributable to
changes in the exchange rate are recognised in profit or loss, and the remaining portion
attributable to cash flow variability is recognised in hedging reserve. The net fair value loss of
US$11.1 million (31 December 2018: gain of US$2.4 million) on these cross-currency interest
rate swaps was recognised in hedging reserve while the balance amount was recognised in profit
or loss.
As at 31 December 2019, an amount of US$1,440.0 million (2018: US$1,440.0 million) in medium
term notes of the Group and the Company has been swapped to fixed rate liabilities via interest
rate swaps to hedge exposure to variability in cash flows from related loans which are pegged to
US Dollar LIBOR. These hedges are classified as cash flow hedges. The net fair value loss of
US$32.5 million (2018: US$14.9 million) on these financial instruments was recognised in hedging
reserve.
The terms of the above cross-currency interest rate swap and interest rate swap contracts have
been negotiated to match the terms of the notes and accordingly, the hedges are assessed to be
highly effective.
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21.

Loans and borrowings (cont’d)
(b) Loans
Interest on floating rate loans of the Group is set at specified margins above US Dollar LIBOR.
Interest rate for floating rate loans is reset at intervals of up to six months and the weighted
average effective interest rate was 3.4% (2018: 3.1%) per annum. The loans are repayable based
on agreed repayment schedules, until the expiry date of the respective loans. The final maturities
of the loans are between 2020 and 2025 (2018: 2019 and 2025).
As at 31 December 2019, the loan due to the intermediate holding company in the Group and the
Company amounted to US$95.0 million (2018: nil), and the loans due to other related parties for
the Group and the Company amounted to US$761.9 million (2018: US$735.3 million) and
US$127.6 million (2018: nil), respectively.
As at 31 December 2019, loans outstanding amounting to US$2,255 million (2018: US$1,550
million) have been swapped to fixed rate liabilities via interest rate swaps to hedge exposure to
variability in cash flows from related loans which are pegged to US Dollar LIBOR. These hedges
are classified as cash flow hedges. The terms of the interest rate swap contracts have been
negotiated to match the terms of the loans and accordingly, the cash flow hedges were assessed
to be highly effective. The net fair value loss of US$58.5 million (2018: US$7.2 million) was
accounted for in hedging reserve.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group and the Company had unutilised unsecured committed
revolving credit facilities of US$3,655 million (2018: US$2,841 million) and US$2,640 million
(2018: US$2,170 million), respectively. These facilities include a US$2 billion committed revolving
credit facility which is granted by the intermediate holding company and matures in 2022, and an
amount of US$248.0 million (2018: US$118.7 million) in undrawn commitments which are
provided by other related parties as part of committed syndicated revolving credit facilities which
mature between 2021 and 2024.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group and the Company had a committed unutilised unsecured
term loan facility of US$700 million (2018: US$750 million) and US$350 million (2018: nil),
respectively. These facilities include an amount of US$337 million (2018: US$145 million) which
was provided by other related parties.
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22.

Lease liabilities
Group
2019
US$'000

Company
2019
US$'000

At beginning of year
Adoption of IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16
Additions
Disposals
Accretion of interest
Payments
Revaluation adjustments

–
9,899
2,278
(12)
322
(1,955)
36

–
9,198
–
–
287
(1,564)
(2)

At end of year

10,568

7,919

1,981
8,587

1,359
6,560

10,568

7,919

Current
Non-current

The following amounts were recognised in profit or loss:
Group
2019
US$'000
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Expense relating to short-term leases
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets

1,870
322
213
3
2,408

Interest on the leases ranged from 2.8% to 3.4% per annum for the Group and at 3.3% per annum for
the Company.
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23.

Reconciliation of movement of financial liabilities to net cash flows from financing activities
Extracted from Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Group
2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayment of loans and borrowings
(Decrease)/increase in borrowings from revolving credit
facilities, net

3,067,962
(1,231,308)

2,140,000
(1,247,380)

(799,000)

644,000

Repayment of lease liabilities
Finance expenses paid
Debt issue costs paid

(1,955)
(442,665)
(38,325)

–
(361,330)
(16,275)

Cash flows used in other financing activities

554,709
(239,587)

1,159,015
(179,165)

Net cash flows from financing activities

315,122

979,850
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23.

Reconciliation of movement of financial liabilities to net cash flows from financing activities (cont’d)
Non-cash changes

Group

Note

Loans and borrowings
Medium term notes
- current
- non-current
Medium term notes discount (net of premium)
- current
- non-current
Loans
- current
- non-current
Deferred debt issue costs
- current
- non-current

22
Trade and other payables
Accrued interest expenses
19
Total

(300,000)
2,097,963

(54,011)
52,936

–
–

–
–

–
–

1,129,788
(1,129,788)

1,074,241
7,779,632

–
(13,634)

–
–

–
–

–
–

241
4,002

(213)
213

(213)
(19,058)

(1,150,566)
390,257

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

650,273
(650,273)

650,273
3,900,021

–
(24,691)

–
–

–
–

–
–

10,531
14,180

(9,068)
9,068

(9,068)
(69,893)

(1,075)

–

–

28,954

12,278,727

999,329

Amortisation
/accretion
US$'000

2019
US$'000

298,464
6,758,521

(10,531)
(68,450)

Future lease
payments
US$'000

Reclassification
and others
US$'000

2018
US$'000

1,150,566
4,160,037

Lease liabilities
- current
- non-current

Adoption of
IFRS 16
/SFRS(I) 16
US$'000

Cash
flows
US$'000

(241)
(9,639)

21

Fair value and
revaluation
adjustments
US$'000

–

13,305,935

–
–

(1,955)
–

38
(2)

1,641
8,258

353
1,925

322
–

1,582
(1,594)

1,981
8,587

–

(1,955)

36

9,899

2,278

322

(12)

10,568

76,521

(442,665)

84

–

–

461,251

–

95,191

76,521

(442,665)

84

–

–

461,251

–

95,191

554,709

(955)

9,899

2,278

490,527

(12)

12,355,248
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23.

Reconciliation of movement of financial liabilities to net cash flows from financing activities (cont’d)
Non-cash changes

Group

Note

Loans and borrowings
Medium term notes
- current
- non-current
Medium term notes discount (net of premium)
- current
- non-current
Loans
- current
- non-current
Deferred debt issue costs
- current
- non-current

2017
US$'000

Cash
flows
US$'000

454,222
5,363,550

(492,225)
1,740,000

79
(12,334)
975,074
3,988,387
(9,932)
(76,789)
21

10,682,257

Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities
- current
- non-current
Deferred debt issue costs
- current
- non-current

33,526
24,771
(48)
(131)

Trade and other payables
Accrued interest expenses
19
Total

36,467
(45,029)

Amortisation
/accretion
US$'000

–
–

2018
US$'000

300,000
(300,000)

298,464
6,758,521

–
(1,008)

–
–

(975,074)
1,322,216

–
–

–
–

1,150,566
(1,150,566)

–
(15,267)

–
–

9,932
13,075

(10,531)
10,531

1,578,642

(33,526)
(24,771)
–
–

(8,562)

(79)
3,462

Re-classification
US$'000

(241)
241

(241)
(9,639)
1,150,566
4,160,037
(10,531)
(68,450)

26,390

–

12,278,727

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

48
131

–
–

–
–

58,118

(58,297)

–

179

–

–

58,863

(361,330)

91

378,897

–

76,521

58,863

(361,330)

91

378,897

–

76,521

405,466

–

12,355,248

10,799,238
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24.

Security deposits
In addition to the cash security deposits recorded on the statement of financial position, the security
deposits received by the Group and the Company in the form of irrevocable letters of credit amounted
to US$245.1 million (2018: US$139.9 million) and US$77.7 million (2018: US$74.4 million),
respectively.

25.

Maintenance reserves
Group
Note

At beginning of year
Contributions
Utilisation
Transfer to accrued maintenance
reserve payables
Transfer to buyers
Transfer to liabilities associated with
assets held for sale
Transfer to subsidiary companies
Release to profit or loss for excess
written off
Release to profit or loss upon sale of
aircraft
Release to profit or loss upon sale of
aircraft to subsidiary companies

2019
US$'000
732,133
203,954
(82,638)

558,503
232,526
(11,611)

319,801
93,750
(66,804)

245,874
124,164
(6,324)

(31,367)
(28,632)

(6,713)
(37,904)

(10,930)
(11,498)

(270)
(19,466)

(26,099)
–

–
(15,958)

(58,741)
–

18

–
–

–
5

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

2018
US$'000

(47)

(142,160)

At end of year

(2,621)

–
(24,691)

–

–

–

592,549

732,133

273,529

(47)
–
(8,172)
319,801

Letters of credit received by the Group and the Company from certain lessees to cover all or a portion
of their maintenance contribution payment obligations amounted to US$280.2 million (2018: US$220.9
million) and US$124.5 million (2018: US$103.1 million), respectively.

26.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
Group
2019

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

US$'000

2018
US$'000

334,345
(169)

304,800
(146)

120,337
–

93,065
–

334,176

304,654

120,337

93,065

Deferred income tax liabilities, net
Deferred income tax assets, net

Net deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities which arose in different taxable
jurisdictions are grouped separately.
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26.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Breakdown of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as follows:
Group
2019

Gross deferred tax liabilities
Gross deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax liabilities

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

US$'000

2018
US$'000

435,844
(101,668)

399,112
(94,458)

150,873
(30,536)

118,411
(25,346)

334,176

304,654

120,337

93,065

The unrecognised deferred tax liabilities are as disclosed in Note 3.1(f).
Movements in the Group’s and Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as
follows:

Differences in
depreciation
US$'000

Group
Unremitted
overseas
income
Others
US$'000
US$'000

Deferred tax liabilities arising from:
At 1 January 2018
Charged to profit or loss

373,530
17,867

4,291
1,764

At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss

391,397
37,551

6,055
301

At 31 December 2019

428,948

6,356
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26.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Group
Unabsorbed
capital
allowances
and unutilised
tax losses
US$'000

Provisions
US$'000

Others
US$'000

Total
US$'000

Deferred tax assets arising from:
At 1 January 2018
Credited to profit or loss
At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019
Charged to profit or loss
Credited to other comprehensive
income
At 31 December 2019

(74,247)
(9,523)

(6,351)
(1,045)

(1,898)
(1,394)

(82,496)
(11,962)

(83,770)
1,060

(7,396)
769

(3,292)
1,231

(94,458)
3,060

(10,270)

(10,270)

(12,331)

(101,668)

–
(82,710)

Differences in
depreciation
US$'000

–
(6,627)

Company
Unremitted
overseas
income
Others
US$'000
US$'000

Total
US$'000

Deferred tax liabilities arising from:
At 1 January 2018
Charged/(credited) to profit
or loss

93,628

4,291

311

98,230

18,449

1,764

(32)

20,181

At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019
Charged to profit or loss

112,077
31,936

6,055
301

279
225

118,411
32,462

At 31 December 2019

144,013

6,356

504

150,873
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26.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (cont’d)
Company
Unabsorbed
capital
allowances
and unutilised
tax losses
US$'000

Provisions
US$'000

Others
US$'000

Total
US$'000

Deferred tax assets arising from:
At 1 January 2018
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss
At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss
Credited to other comprehensive
income
At 31 December 2019

27.

(21,437)
1,276

(4,095)
(632)

(268)
(190)

(25,800)
454

(20,161)
(2,044)

(4,727)
431

(458)
(56)

(25,346)
(1,669)

(3,521)

(3,521)

(4,035)

(30,536)

–
(22,205)

–
(4,296)

Other non-current liabilities
Included in other non-current liabilities are the non-current portion of bonuses and related employers’
contributions payable and provided for under the staff cash incentive plans. These bonuses are
payable over a 3-year period from the second year after the end of each year.

28.

Share capital
Group and Company
2019
2018
No. of shares
No. of shares
'000
US$'000
'000
US$'000
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
At beginning and end of year

694,010

1,157,791

694,010

1,157,791

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the
Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary shares have
no par value.
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29.

Hedging reserves
Hedging reserves record the portion of the fair value changes on derivative financial instruments
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges that is determined to be an effective hedge.
Group
2019

Interest rate and foreign currency
risk:
At beginning of year
Effective portion of changes in fair value
of cash flow hedges, net of tax:
- Interest rate swaps
- Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Net change in fair value of cash flow
hedges reclassified to profit or loss, net
of tax:
- Interest rate swaps
- Cross-currency interest rate swaps

At end of year

30.

Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000

US$'000

2018
US$'000

1,343

21,083

(9,174)

4,068

(14,871)
4,153
(10,718)

(42,006)
(12,063)
(54,069)

(16,460)
4,153
(12,307)

(7,240)
(1,782)
(9,022)

7,164
919
8,083

847
(1,782)
(935)

(102,087)

(19,740)

(45,986)

(13,242)

(100,744)

1,343

(55,160)

(9,174)

(92,457)
(12,063)
(104,520)

1,514
919
2,433

Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Group

Short-term deposits
Cash and bank balances
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2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

16
17

202,935
48,728

152,936
69,797

251,663

222,733
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31.

Lease liabilities to subsidiary companies
Company
2019

2018

US$'000

US$'000

Lease liabilities to subsidiary companies
Deferred debt issue costs

110,262
(4,648)

112,922
(4,895)

Lease liabilities to subsidiary companies, net

105,614

108,027

Lease liabilities to subsidiary companies
Deferred debt issue costs

330,913
(13,679)

462,980
(19,190)

Lease liabilities to subsidiary companies, net

317,234

443,790

Total lease liabilities to subsidiary companies, net

422,848

551,817

Current:

Non-current:

Company
2019

2018

US$'000

US$'000

551,817
23,427
(152,396)

663,806
22,971
(134,960)

At end of year

422,848

551,817

Current
Non-current

105,614
317,234

108,027
443,790

422,848

551,817

At beginning of year
Accretion of interest
Payments
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31.

Lease liabilities to subsidiary companies (cont’d)
The lease liabilities to subsidiary companies are secured by a charge over leased assets (Note 12).
Interest rates on the leases ranged from 2.2% to 4.0% (2018: 1.5% to 4.1%) per annum.
As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s future minimum lease payments for lease liabilities to
subsidiary companies was US$131.2 million payable within one year, US$434.7 million between one
and five years and US$65.4 million after five years.
The deferred debt issue costs relating to lease liabilities to subsidiary companies are analysed as
follows:
Company
2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

Cost:
At beginning of year
Fully amortised cost written off
Transfers

58,213
(2,971)
–

59,265
(1,230)
178

At end of year

55,242

58,213

At beginning of year
Charge for the year
Fully amortised cost written off
Transfers

34,128
5,758
(2,971)
–

30,156
5,297
(1,230)
(95)

At end of year

36,915

34,128

At end of year

18,327

24,085

Deferred debt issue costs, net
Less: Current portion

18,327
(4,648)

24,085
(4,895)

Non-current portion

13,679

19,190

Accumulated amortisation:

Net book value:
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32.

Amounts due from subsidiary companies
The amounts due from subsidiary companies of US$1,424.6 million (2018: US$1,029.4 million) are
interest bearing, non-trade related and unsecured. The interest rate ranged from 2.6% to 3.4% (2018:
2.5% to 3.2%) per annum.

33.

Investments in subsidiary companies
Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
Equity investments at cost:
At beginning of year
Dissolutions
Redemption of preference shares

747,427
–
(200)

747,428
(1)
–

At end of year

747,227

747,427

A83

BOC AVIATION LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

33.

Investments in subsidiary companies (cont’d)
Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows:
Name

Country of incorporation

Principal activities

Paid up capital as at
31 December 2019

Percentage of equity held
2019
2018
%

%

1

BOC Aviation (UK) Limited

England and Wales

Leasing of aircraft

US$75,000,000

100

100

1

BOC Aviation (Ireland) Limited

Ireland

Leasing of aircraft

US$250,000,000 +€5.08

100

100

1

BOC Aviation Leasing (Tianjin) Limited

People’s Republic of China

Investment holding

US$1,800,000

100

100

1

BOC Aviation (USA) Corporation

United States

Leasing of aircraft

US$186,400,000

100

100

2

BOC Aviation (Bermuda) Limited

Bermuda

Holding of funds

US$12,000

100

100

2

BOCA Leasing (Bermuda) Limited

Bermuda

Dissolved

–

–

100

2

BOC Aviation Capital Limited

Cayman Islands

Financing activities

US$10

100

100

2

BOC Aviation (Cayman) Limited

Cayman Islands

Acquisition of aircraft

US$100

100

100

2

Echo Leasing One Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$100

100

100
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33.

Investments in subsidiary companies (cont’d)

Name

Country of incorporation

Principal activities

Paid up capital as at
31 December 2019

Percentage of equity held
2019

2018

2

Echo Leasing Two Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$100

%
100

%
100

2

Echo Leasing Five Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

100

100

2

Echo Leasing Six Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

100

100

2

Echo Leasing Seven Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

100

100

SALE Cayman (35073) Limited

Cayman Islands

In dissolution process

–

–

100

2,5
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33.

Investments in subsidiary companies (cont’d)
Name

Country of incorporation

Principal activities

Paid up capital as at
31 December 2019

Percentage of equity held
2019

2018
%
100

2,3

Vanda Leasing Seven Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

%
100

2,3

Vanda Leasing Eight Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

100

100

2

Vanda Leasing Nine Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

100

100

2

Vanda Leasing Ten Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

100

100

2

Vanda Leasing Eleven Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

100

100

2

Vanda Leasing Twelve Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$10

100

100

1

BOC Aviation (Labuan) Pte. Ltd.

Malaysia

In dissolution process

US$75,000

100

100
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33.

Investments in subsidiary companies (cont’d)
Name

Country of incorporation

Principal activities

Paid up capital as at
31 December 2019

Percentage of equity held
2019

2018

%

%

Consolidated structured entities*
2,4

Galahad Leasing Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$250

–

–

2,4

Gawain Leasing Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$250

–

–

2,4

Green Knight Leasing Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$250

–

–

2,4

Guinevere Leasing Limited

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$250

–

–

1,4

ARCU Aircraft Holdings Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

Investment holding

US$1

–

–

1,4

Pacific Triangle Holdings Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

Investment holding

US$1

–

–

2,4

Chilli Leasing LLC

United States

Leasing of aircraft

US$1,000

–

–

2,4

Laylya Leasing LLC

United States

Leasing of aircraft

US$1,000

–

–

2,4

Sunshine Aircraft Leasing LLC

United States

Leasing of aircraft

US$1,000

–

–

* The companies are fully consolidated as structured entities of the Company as the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entities and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
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33.

Investments in subsidiary companies (cont’d)
Name

Country of incorporation

Principal activities

Paid up capital as at
31 December 2019

Percentage of equity held
2019

2018

%

%

Held by ARCU Aircraft Holdings Pte. Ltd.:
2,4

ARCU Aircraft Leasing Limited*

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$250

–

–

Held by Pacific Triangle Holdings Pte. Ltd.:
2,4

Pacific Triangle Leasing Limited*

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$250

–

–

2,4

Pacific Triangle Leasing 2 Limited*

Cayman Islands

Leasing of aircraft

US$250

–

–

Held by BOC Aviation (Ireland) Limited:
BOC Aviation (France) SARL

France

Leasing of aircraft

€1,000

100

100

2,3

BOC Aviation (France) 2 SARL

France

Leasing of aircraft

€1,000

100

100

2,3

BOC Aviation (France) 5 SARL

France

Leasing of aircraft

€1,000

100

100

2,3

BOC Aviation (France) 6 SARL

France

Leasing of aircraft

€1,000

100

100

2

BOC Aviation (France) 8 SARL

France

Leasing of aircraft

€1,000

100

100

2

BOC Aviation (France) 9 SARL

France

Leasing of aircraft

€1,000

100

100

2

BOC Aviation (France) 10 SARL

France

Leasing of aircraft

€1,000

100

100

2,3

BOC Aviation (France) 11 SARL

France

Leasing of aircraft

€1,000

100

100

2

* The companies are fully consolidated as structured entities of the Company as the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entities and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
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33.

Investments in subsidiary companies (cont’d)
Name

Country of incorporation

Principal activities

Paid up capital as at
31 December 2019

Percentage of equity held
2019
%

2018
%

Held by BOC Aviation Leasing (Tianjin) Limited:
2

2

2

2

2

博加阿尔法航空租赁（天津）有限公司
(BOCA Alpha Leasing (TJ) Limited)
博加布拉沃航空租赁（天津）有限公司
(BOCA Bravo Leasing (TJ) Limited)
博加查理航空租赁（天津）有限公司
(BOCA Charlie Leasing (TJ) Limited)
博加德达航空租赁（天津）有限公司
(BOCA Delta Leasing (TJ) Limited)
博加易科航空租赁（天津）有限公司
(BOCA Echo Leasing (TJ) Limited)

People’s Republic of China

Leasing of aircraft

CNY100,000

100

100

People’s Republic of China

Leasing of aircraft

CNY100,000

100

100

People’s Republic of China

Leasing of aircraft

CNY100,000

100

100

People’s Republic of China

Leasing of aircraft

CNY100,000

100

–

People’s Republic of China

Leasing of aircraft

CNY100,000

100

–

Aruba

Leasing of aircraft

US$100

100

100

Held by BOC Aviation (USA) Corporation:
2

BOC Aviation (Aruba) A.V.V.

All subsidiary companies, including all consolidated structured entities, are incorporated as limited liability entities.
1
2
3
4
5

Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore or member firms of Ernst & Young.
Not required to be audited by law in its country of incorporation.
The Company has pledged all its benefits in respect of its entire shareholding in these subsidiary companies for loan facilities granted (Note 21).
The shares or membership interest (as applicable) of these companies are pledged for loan facilities granted to certain companies within the Group.
Subsequent to 31 December 2019, this company has completed its dissolution process.
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34.

Dividends
Group and Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
Declared and paid during the year:
Final dividend for 2018: US$0.1845 (2017: US$0.1920)
per share
Interim dividend for 2019: US$0.1388
(2018: US$0.1284) per share

Proposed as at 31 December:
Final dividend for 2019: US$0.2153
(2018: US$0.1845) per share

128,045

133,250

96,329

89,111

224,374

222,361

149,420

128,045

On 11 March 2020, the directors proposed to recommend in the Annual General Meeting on 29 May
2020 a final dividend of US$0.2153 per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounting to approximately US$149.4 million, bringing the total dividend for 2019 to US$245.7 million
(2018: US$217.2 million) or US$0.3541 (2018: US$0.3129) per ordinary share. This proposed final
dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in these financial statements, but will be reflected as an
appropriation of retained earnings for the year ending 31 December 2020.

35.

Related party transactions
The Group is majority owned by Bank of China Limited which is controlled by Central Huijin, a wholly
owned subsidiary of CIC, which is a wholly state-owned company in the PRC. Central Huijin and CIC
have equity interests in certain other entities in the PRC. Bank of China Limited is indirectly subject to
the control of the State Council of the PRC Government through CIC and Central Huijin. The State
Council directly or indirectly controls a significant number of entities through its government authorities,
agencies, affiliates and other state controlled entities.
The Group enters into leasing, purchase and leaseback, borrowings and other transactions with
certain state-owned entities mentioned above in the normal course of business and on commercial
terms.
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35.

Related party transactions (cont’d)
The Group considers only those entities known to the management to be a subsidiary company,
associate or joint venture of Central Huijin to be related parties.
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant
transactions took place between the Group and related parties in the normal course of business and
on commercial terms:
Group
2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

1,753

–

26,222

19,063

Expense
(a) Intermediate holding company:
Interest expense
(b) Other related parties:
Interest expense

Group
2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

10,688
4

8,779
4

10,692

8,783

16,158
417

13,427
376

16,575

13,803

Directors’ and key executives’ remuneration paid during the
year
(a) Directors of the Company:
Salary, fees, bonuses and other costs
CPF and other defined contributions

(b) Key executives (excluding executive directors):
Salary, bonuses and other costs
CPF and other defined contributions

As at 31 December 2019, US$19.2 million (2018: US$20.2 million) of deferred bonuses were payable
to directors of the Company and key executives of the Group.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the share-based compensation expense for directors of
the Company and key executives of the Group amounted to US$1.3 million (2018: US$0.3 million) and
US$1.9 million (2018: US$0.5 million), respectively.
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36.

Commitments
(a) Operating lease commitments
(i) Operating lease commitments - As lessor
Aircraft
The Group and the Company lease its aircraft under operating lease agreements that are noncancellable.
Future net minimum lease receivables under the non-cancellable operating leases as at the
end of each year for existing aircraft are as follows:
Group

Company
2019
2018
US$ million US$ million

2019
US$ million

2018
US$ million

1,740
1,694
1,625
1,592
1,499
5,591

1,604
1,547
1,509
1,420
1,377
5,101

1,160
1,130
1,090
1,075
1,036
4,328

1,004
980
968
909
892
3,745

13,741

12,558

9,819

8,498

Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and three years
Between three and four years
Between four and five years
After five years

Future net minimum lease receivables committed for aircraft yet to be delivered are as follows:
Group
2019
2018
US$ million
US$ million
Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and three years
Between three and four years
Between four and five years
After five years

Company
2019
2018
US$ million US$ million

87
230
242
240
240
1,689

108
199
282
294
292
2,221

40
123
123
123
123
854

2,728

3,396

1,386
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36.

Commitments (cont’d)
(a) Operating lease commitments (cont’d)
(ii) Operating lease commitments - As lessee
The Group leases office and facility spaces under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. With the adoption of IFRS 16/SFRS(I) 16 Leases, the Group has recognised the
lease liabilities representing the present value of the minimum lease payments on the
statement of financial position as disclosed in Note 22. As at 31 December 2018, the future
minimum lease payments for the office leases were US$2.3 million payable within one year
and US$5.1 million between one and five years for the Group and US$1.9 million within one
year and US$4.6 million between one and five years for the Company.
(b) Capital expenditure commitments
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had committed to purchase various aircraft delivering
between 2020 and 2023. The amount of future commitments under purchase agreements,
including assumed escalation to delivery, was US$7,509 million to the end of 2023 (2018:
US$9,217 million to the end of 2021). This includes all commitments to purchase aircraft, including
those where an airline has a right to acquire the relevant aircraft on delivery.
Subsequent to 31 December 2019, the Group was notified by The Boeing Company (“Boeing”) of
the likely delivery schedule for the Group’s 87 Boeing model 737 MAX (“MAX”) aircraft between
2020 and 2023. In addition, (i) on 6 January 2020 the Group entered into a purchase agreement
with Airbus SAS for 20 Airbus A320 NEO family aircraft that are scheduled for delivery in 2023
and 2024 and (ii) on 9 March 2020 the Group entered into an agreement to acquire 22 Boeing
787 aircraft that are scheduled for delivery in 2020 and 2021 and that will be leased to a North
American airline under long term leases.
The MAX remains grounded and Boeing suspended production of the MAX in January 2020, and
it is therefore likely that a material number of the Group’s MAX aircraft currently scheduled for
delivery in 2020 will be delayed or deferred to later years. There is uncertainty surrounding the
timing of re-certification and return to service of the MAX, although all of the Group’s capital
expenditure commitments of US$7,509 million as at 31 December 2019 are presently expected
to be incurred by the end of 2023. As at 11 March 2020, the financial impact on the Group from
the delays caused by the grounding of the MAX cannot be reliably measured and the
management is closely monitoring the situation.

37.

Contingent liabilities
Corporate guarantees for subsidiary companies
The Company has provided corporate guarantees for certain loans extended to its subsidiary
companies by the banks and for obligations under certain lease agreements entered into by the
subsidiary companies. As at 31 December 2019, the corporate guarantees for loans to subsidiary
companies amounted to approximately US$3,344.3 million (2018: US$4,232.3 million).
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38.

Classification of financial instruments and their fair values
The carrying amounts of each category of financial assets and financial liabilities, as defined in IFRS
9/SFRS(I) 9, are disclosed either in the statement of financial position or in the notes to the financial
statements.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade receivables (Note 14), other receivables
(Note 15), short-term deposits (Note 16), cash and bank balances (Note 17), amounts due from
subsidiary companies (Note 32) and other non-current assets.
As at 31 December 2019, the financial assets measured at amortised cost for the Group and the
Company were US$413.4 million (2018: US$254.2 million) and US$1,722.9 million (2018: US$1,201.0
million), respectively.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise liabilities associated with assets held for sale
(Note 18), trade and other payables (Note 19), loans and borrowings (Note 21), lease liabilities (Note
22), security deposits (Note 24), other non-current liabilities (Note 27) and lease liabilities to subsidiary
companies (Note 31).
As at 31 December 2019, the financial liabilities measured at amortised cost for the Group and the
Company were US$13,915.6 million (2018: US$12,770.3 million) and US$10,815.2 million (2018:
US$8,959.5 million), respectively.
(a) Financial instruments carried at fair values
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise derivative financial
instruments (Note 13).
The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are determined by reference to marked-tomarket values provided by counterparties. The fair value measurement of all derivative financial
instruments under the Group are classified under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, for which
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) are included as inputs for the determination of
fair value.
(b) Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair values
Management has determined that except for derivative financial instruments, the carrying amounts
of its current financial assets and liabilities, reasonably approximate their fair values because these
are mostly short-term in nature or are repriced frequently. Amounts due from subsidiary companies
approximate their fair value because these are repriced frequently.
Non-current loans and borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values for those that are at
floating rate and are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the end of each year for the
respective financial year.
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38.

Classification of financial instruments and their fair values (cont’d)
(c) Financial instruments not measured at fair value, for which fair value is disclosed
Set out below is a comparison of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s and
Company’s financial instruments not measured at fair value.
Group and Company
2019
2018
US$'000
US$'000
Medium term notes :
Carrying amounts

6,661,979

4,578,648

Fair values

6,817,043

4,492,516

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value measurements of the above financial instruments were
classified under Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy as these amounts were based on quoted prices,
except for the carrying amount of US$159.5 million (2018: US$102.2 million) with fair value of
US$158.7 million (2018: US$98.5 million) which was classified under Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy as it was determined based on indicative bid price obtained from a counterparty.
39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit
risk and foreign exchange risk. The Group reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks. The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to financial risks and the
objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.
There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.
(a) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Group’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to
interest rate risk arises primarily from its loans and borrowings and lease rental income.
The Group obtains financing through loans and capital market notes. The Group’s objective is to
obtain the most favourable interest rates available on acceptable terms and conditions.
A portion of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are based on floating interest rates pegged
to US Dollar LIBOR and are contractually repriced at intervals of less than 12 months from the end
of each year. Interest rate exposure for the Group arises when the Group collects fixed rate rentals
but pays floating interest rate under its borrowings.
The Group’s policy is to hedge at least 50% of its mismatched interest rate exposure through
appropriate interest rate derivative financial instruments and borrowing fixed rate debts. At the end
of the year, the Group had hedged approximately 90% (2018: 80%) of the Group’s mismatched
interest rate exposure.
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39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(a) Interest rate risk (cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
A sensitivity analysis is performed based on the following assumptions on the outstanding financial
instruments of the Group at the end of the year:
(i) Changes in interest rates affect the interest income or finance expenses of variable interest
financial instruments which include short-term deposits and floating rate loans.
(ii) Changes in interest rates affect the fair values of derivative financial instruments.
(iii) Changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments and other financial assets and
liabilities are estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present values using
appropriate market rates prevailing at the end of the year.
For a more meaningful analysis on the impact of a change in floating interest rates, the sensitivity
analysis includes the effect of such a change on the lease rental income in order to determine the
potential impact on the Group’s net profit after tax.
Under these assumptions, an increase or decrease in US Dollar floating interest rates of 25 basis
points (2018: 25 basis points) with all other variables held constant will have the following effect
on the Group’s profit net of tax and the Group’s hedging reserve in equity. The assumed movement
in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market
environment.
Group

Increase/
(decrease)
on profit net
Basis points
of tax
US$'000

Increase/
(decrease)
on hedging
reserve net
of tax in
equity
US$'000

2019
Increase in interest rate
Decrease in interest rate

+25
-25

34
(34)

25,827
(26,137)

+25
-25

(2,835)
2,835

23,319
(23,630)

2018
Increase in interest rate
Decrease in interest rate
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39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due
to a mismatch of assets and liabilities and/or due to refinancing risk.
The Group’s primary sources of liquidity have principally comprised bank balances, cash
generated by aircraft leasing operations, proceeds from aircraft sales and loans and borrowings.
The Group’s business is capital intensive, requiring significant investments and borrowings in
order to grow and to maintain a young aircraft fleet. The cash flows from operations, particularly
revenues from operating leases of aircraft, have historically provided a significant portion of the
liquidity for these investments.
To ensure that the Group is able to meet its financial obligations, the Group’s policy is to have its
loan repayment spread over substantial periods of up to 12 years, and also to have available
committed credit facilities from banks.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had unutilised unsecured committed revolving credit facilities
of US$3,655 million (2018: US$2,841 million) and a committed unutilised unsecured term loan
facility of US$700 million (2018: US$750 million).
As at 31 December 2019, approximately 13% (2018: 12%) of the Group’s gross debt would have
matured in less than one year.
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39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)
Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
liabilities at the end of the year based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
Group

2019
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Estimated interest and net
swap payments
Lease liabilities
Security deposits
Liabilities associated with
assets held for sale
Other non-current liabilities
Total undiscounted financial
liabilities

One year or
less
US$'000

One to five
years
US$'000

Over five
years
US$'000

Total
US$'000

206,298
1,780,061

–
8,863,311

–
2,869,904

206,298
13,513,276

423,129
2,293
34,375

1,065,008
8,087
41,253

261,121
1,150
265,147

1,749,258
11,530
340,775

64,766
–

–
42,955

–
–

64,766
42,955

2,510,922

10,020,614

3,397,322

15,928,858

156,923
1,450,566

–
8,787,401

–
2,237,655

156,923
12,475,622

411,958
47,623
–

1,049,134
33,534
67,101

217,891
248,440
–

1,678,983
329,597
67,101

2,067,070

9,937,170

2,703,986

14,708,226

2018
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Estimated interest and net
swap payments
Security deposits
Other non-current liabilities
Total undiscounted financial
liabilities
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39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)
Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (cont’d)
Company

2019
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Estimated interest and net swap
payments
Security deposits
Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities to subsidiary
companies
Liabilities associated with assets
held for sale
Other non-current liabilities
Total undiscounted financial
liabilities

One year
or less
US$'000

One to five
years
US$'000

Over five
years
US$'000

Total
US$'000

146,778
1,328,653

–
5,981,054

–
2,859,310

146,778
10,169,017

348,177
11,647
1,602

918,422
24,804
6,287

261,121
161,914
786

1,527,720
198,365
8,675

110,262

320,320

10,593

441,175

30,667
–

–
34,888

–
–

30,667
34,888

1,977,786

7,285,775

3,293,724

12,557,285

106,106
442,239

–
5,704,091

–
2,096,963

106,106
8,243,293

295,341

761,185

209,812

1,266,338

112,922
16,505
–

399,231
25,978
56,975

63,749
129,943
–

575,902
172,426
56,975

973,113

6,947,460

2,500,467

10,421,040

2018
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Estimated interest and net swap
payments
Lease liabilities to subsidiary
companies
Security deposits
Other non-current liabilities
Total undiscounted financial
liabilities
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39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(c) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a
counterparty default on its obligations.
The Group is exposed to credit risk in the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables,
derivative financial instruments, short-term deposits and cash and bank balances. Typically, the
Group’s leasing arrangements require lessees to pay rentals in advance and to provide security
deposits and in certain cases maintenance reserves. However, an early termination of a lease due
to a credit event may expose the Group to consequential economic loss due to lower rentals being
available from replacement lessees and also possible costs associated with repossession, repair
and maintenance and transitioning of the aircraft to a new lessee.
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising credit losses. The
Group undertakes credit appraisals on all potential lessees before entering into new leases and
reviews the credit status of lessees annually. The Group also reviews the credit standing of
vendors where significant and/or long-term procurement contracts are being contemplated.
The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
The Group’s policy is to undertake deposit and derivative transactions with reputable financial
institutions which command an investment grade rating, typically not lower than the equivalent of
S&P Global Ratings credit rating of “A-”.
(i) Exposure to credit risk
At the end of the year, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk was represented by:
-

the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statement of
financial position, including derivatives with positive fair values; and

-

corporate guarantees provided by the Group to the lenders on loans taken up by
subsidiary companies, and also in certain lease agreements entered into by subsidiary
companies.
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39.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
(c) Credit risk (cont’d)
(ii)

Credit risk concentration profile
The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring individual debtor and
regional exposure to its trade receivables, net of allowance for impairment losses, on an
ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables by
debtor’s geographic region based on the jurisdiction of each debtor under the relevant
contracts was as follows:
2019
Asia Pacific (excludes Chinese
Mainland, Hong Kong SAR,
Macau SAR and Taiwan)
Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong
SAR, Macau SAR and Taiwan
Americas
Europe
Middle East and Africa

2018

US$'000

%

US$'000

%

5,014

27.5

3,762

47.1

11,599
460
1,159
–

63.6
2.5
6.4
–

348
–
2,516
1,358

4.4
–
31.5
17.0

18,232

100.0

7,984

100.0

(iii) Financial assets that were neither past due nor impaired
Trade and other receivables that were neither past due nor impaired were either creditworthy
receivables with good payment records with the Group or receivables which were
contractually deferred by mutual agreement or were less than the security deposits held by
the Group. Cash and cash equivalents and derivatives that are neither past due nor impaired
are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high
credit ratings.
(iv)

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in
Note 14.

(d) Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly arising from its borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Group.
All loans and borrowings which are denominated in Australian Dollar, Chinese Yuan, Hong Kong
Dollar and Singapore Dollar are swapped into United States Dollar. Foreign currency exposure
arises as the Group’s revenues and principal assets are denominated in United States Dollar. The
Group primarily utilises cross-currency interest rate swap contracts to hedge its financial liabilities
denominated in Australian Dollar, Chinese Yuan, Hong Kong Dollar and Singapore Dollar.
As a result of the Group’s hedging as described above, a movement in foreign currency exchange
rate is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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40.

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximise shareholder value given an
optimal debt to equity structure.
The Group manages its capital structure through the use of equity and debt after taking into account
its capital expenditure and financing requirements. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may request for additional capital from the shareholders, adjust dividend payments to the
shareholders or return capital to the shareholders.
The Group monitors its gearing, which is gross debt divided by total equity. The Group ensures that it
operates within the gearing covenant in its loan facilities and to maintain its investment grade credit
rating. Gross debt comprises the Group’s loans and borrowings before adjustments for deferred debt
issue costs, fair values, revaluations and discounts/premiums to medium term notes. Total equity
refers to the equity attributable to owners of the Company.
There were no changes made in the objectives, policies and processes during the year ended
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group issued US$2.1 billion (2018: US$1.7 billion) of
notes under the Global Medium Term Note and utilised US$640 million (2018: US$1.4 billion) under
its committed revolving credit facilities as at 31 December 2019. There was no significant change in
the Group’s gearing as set out in the table below.
Group
2019
US$'000

2018
US$'000

Gross debt

13,513,276

12,475,622

Total equity

4,580,914

4,199,026

2.9

3.0

Gearing (times)
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41.

Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the
weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares as at
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.
The following tables reflect the profit and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted
earnings per share:
Group
2019

2018

Earnings
Earnings used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings
per share (profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company) (US$'000)

702,259

620,439

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares of basic and
diluted earnings per share computation ('000)

694,010

694,010

Basic earnings per share (US$)

1.01

0.89

Diluted earnings per share (US$)

1.01

0.89
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42.

Segmental analysis
All revenues are derived from the Group's principal activities of leasing and management of aircraft
leases and other related activities. There is no known seasonality of the Group’s contracted revenues.
The main revenue and assets are analysed by geographical region as follows:
(a) Lease rental income
Lease rental income is derived from leasing of aircraft to various airline customers around the
world. The distribution of lease rental income by geographic region based on the jurisdiction of
each airline customer under the relevant operating lease was as follows:
2019
US$ million
%
Asia Pacific (excludes Chinese Mainland,
Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR and Taiwan)
Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong SAR, Macau
SAR and Taiwan
Americas
Europe
Middle East and Africa

2018
US$ million
%

404

23.7

378

24.5

501
153
457
189

29.4
9.0
26.8
11.1

443
184
379
159

28.7
11.9
24.6
10.3

1,704

100.0

1,543

100.0

Other than the lease rental income attributable to airline customers in Chinese Mainland, Hong
Kong SAR, Macau SAR and Taiwan which accounted for 29.4% of the total lease rental income
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 28.7%), there was no other country concentration
in excess of 10% of the total lease rental income in either 2019 or 2018.
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42.

Segmental analysis (cont’d)
(b) Net book value of aircraft
The distribution of net book value of aircraft (including assets held for sale) by geographic region
based on the jurisdiction of each airline customer under the relevant operating lease was as
follows:
2019
2018
US$ million
%
US$ million
%
Asia Pacific (excludes Chinese Mainland,
Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR and Taiwan)
Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong SAR, Macau
SAR and Taiwan
Americas
Europe
Middle East and Africa

3,858

23.0

3,424

22.9

5,136
1,152
4,534
2,080

30.6
6.9
27.1
12.4

4,685
1,395
3,536
1,918

31.3
9.4
23.6
12.8

16,760

100.0

14,958

100.0

Group
2019
2018
US$ million
US$ million

Represented by:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 12)
Assets held for sale (Note 18)

16,436
324

14,958
–

16,760

14,958

The net book value of aircraft leased to airline customers in Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong SAR,
Macau SAR and Taiwan accounted for 30.6% and in Qatar accounted for 10.4% of the total net
book value as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR and
Taiwan accounted for 31.3%). Other than as disclosed above, there was no other country
concentration in excess of 10% of the total net book value in either 2019 or 2018.

43.

Authorisation of financial statements for issue
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the directors passed on 11 March 2020.
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